
 

 
 

Agenda 

 

Page 1 

Planning Committee 
 

Time and Date 
2.00 pm on Thursday, 23rd May, 2024 
 
Place 
Committee Room 3 - Council House 
 

 

 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   

 
2. Declarations of Interest   

 
3. Members Declarations of Contact on Planning Applications   
 

 Members are reminded that contacts about any planning applications on this 
agenda must, unless reported to this meeting by the Strategic Lead for 
Planning, be declared before the application is considered. 
 

4. Minutes of the Meeting held on 28 March 2024  (Pages 3 - 6) 
 

5. Late Representations   
 

 To be circulated at the meeting. 
 

6. Application PL/2024/0000060/FUL - 37 Daventry Road  (Pages 7 - 16) 
 

 Report of the Strategic Lead for Planning  
 

7. Application PL/2023/0001155/OUTM - Hall Hill Cottage, Fivefield Road  
(Pages 17 - 70) 

 

 Report of the Strategic Lead for Planning  
 

8. Application PL/2023/0002525/FUL - 60 Princess Street  (Pages 71 - 82) 
 

 Report of the Strategic Lead for Planning  
 

9. Application PL/2023/0002524/FUL - 88 Station Street West  (Pages 83 - 96) 
 

 Report of the Strategic Lead for Planning  
 

10. Application PL/2023/0002522/FUL - 12 St Elizabeths Road  (Pages 97 - 
108) 

 

 Report of the Strategic Lead for Planning  
 

Public Document Pack



Page 2 

11. Application PL/2023/0002521/FUL - 14 Eld Road  (Pages 109 - 118) 
 

 Report of the Strategic Lead for Planning  
 

12. Application PL/2024/0000191/FUL - 16 Middlecotes  (Pages 119 - 128) 
 

 Report of the Strategic Lead for Planning  
 

13. Outstanding Issues   
 

 There are no outstanding issues. 
 

14. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as 
matters of urgency because of the special circumstances involved   
 

 

Julie Newman, Director of Law and Governance, Council House, Coventry 
 
Wednesday, 15 May 2024 
 
Note: The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is 
Carolyn Sinclair / Usha Patel carolyn.sinclair@coventry.gov.uk  / 
usha.patel@coventry.gov.uk 
 
 
Membership: Councillors N Akhtar, P Akhtar, R Bailey, J Gardiner, L Harvard (Chair), 
T Jandu, G Lewis, G Lloyd, K Maton, C Miks, D Toulson and D Welsh (By Invitation) 
 

 
Carolyn Sinclair / Usha Patel  
carolyn.sinclair@coventry.gov.uk  / usha.patel@coventry.gov.uk 
 
 



 
– 1 – 

 

Coventry City Council 
Minutes of the Meeting of Planning Committee held at 2.00 pm on Thursday, 28 

March 2024 
 

Present:  

Members: Councillor L Harvard (Chair) 

 Councillor N Akhtar 
Councillor P Akhtar 
Councillor R Bailey 
Councillor J Gardiner 
Councillor T  Khan* 
Councillor G Lloyd 
Councillor K Maton 
Councillor C Miks 
Councillor R Simpson 
 

Other Members: Councillor D Welsh, Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Communities  

 
Employees (by Service Area):  

Planning and Regulation:  
 
 
 
 
Highways and 
Transportation:  
 
Law and Governance:  

L D’Onofrio 
G Goodman 
A Lynch 
 
 
N Bennison 
R Hall 
 
O Aremu 
U Patel 
T Robinson 
C Sinclair  
 

Apologies: Councillor A Kaur  
 

 
Public Business 
 
107. Declarations of Interest  

 
There were no declaration of interest.  
 

108. Members Declarations of Contact on Planning Applications  
 
There were no declarations of contacts. 
 

109. Minutes of the meetings held on 22 February and 29 February 2024  
 
The Minutes of the meetings held on 22 February and 29 February 2024 were 
agreed and signed as true records. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



 

 
– 2 – 

 

 
110. Late Representations  

 
The Committee noted a tabled report which summarised late representations and 
responses on the following:  
 

Application Site Minute 

PL/2023/0001869/FULM Land at Isadora Lea, CV3 1JH 
 

111 

 
111. Application PL/2023/0001869/FULM - Land At Isadora Lea  

 
The Committee considered a report of the Strategic Lead for Planning detailing the 
above application Erection of 93 residential dwellings (Use Class C3), including 
access off Isadora Lea and Marjorie Way, with associated public open space, 
landscaping and supporting infrastructure.  The application was recommended for 
approval.  
 
The Committee considered two petitions objecting to the application bearing 111 
signatures and 117 signatures sponsored by Councillor J McNicholas, an Upper 
Stoke Ward Councillor. Councillor McNicholas, the petition spokespersons and 
two registered speakers attended the meeting and spoke in respect of their 
objections to the application. The applicant’s representative also attended the 
meeting and spoke in support of the application.  
 
The Late Representation report stated that Parks had no objections to the 
application, subject to contribution and summarised a representation received from 
New Century Park Residents’ Association.  In respect of the £300,000 contribution 
towards funding a cycle connection between the site and Allard Way, the 
Committee, in noting that the recommendation was to delegate the grant of 
planning permission subject to the agreement of the contribution amount between 
the Local Planning Authority and the application, agreed that the delegated 
decision be taken following consultation with the Committee Chair.  
 
RESOLVED that the grant of planning permission for Application 
PL/2023/0001869/FULM be delegated to the Strategic Lead for Planning, 
following consultation with the Chair, and subject to conditions and the 
completion of a S106 Legal Agreement to secure the contributions 
summarised in the report. 
 
(Note: Councillor T Khan did not take part in the consideration of or voting 
on this application as he was not present for the whole of the presentation) 
 

112. Application PL/2023/0001437/HHA - 2 Gibbet Hill Road  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Strategic Lead for Planning detailing the 
above application for extensions and alterations to existing dwelling including 
proposed new access. Proposed new garden outbuilding and landscaping works. 
Resubmission of application reference HH/2022/2894 to allow additional 
extensions to the main dwelling including second floor and enlarged outbuilding. 
The application was recommended for approval.  
 

Page 4



 

 
– 3 – 

 

The application had been considered by Planning Committee on 22 February 2024 
where they had resolved to defer the application to undertake a site visit to get a 
better understanding of application proposals in respect of the size of the 
extension to the building and the outbuilding. At the meeting on 29 February 2024 
the Committee resolved that the application be deferred with a request that the 
outbuilding be moved further away from the Spinney. The application now 
presented set the footprint of the outbuilding back from the boundary with the 
Spinney. 
 
Two registered speakers attended the meeting and spoke in respect of their 
objections to the application.  
 
RESOLVED that planning permission be granted for Application 
PL/2023/0001437/HHA, subject to conditions. 
 

113. Application PL/2024/0000172/HHA - 18 Cryfield Heights  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Strategic Lead for Planning detailing the 
above application Rear Outbuilding (retrospective). The application was 
recommended for approval.  
 
RESOLVED that Planning Permission be granted in respect of Application 
PL/2024/0000172/HHA, subject to conditions.  
 

114. Outstanding Issues  
 
There were no outstanding issues. 
 

115. Any other items of public business which the Chair decides to take as 
matters of urgency because of the special circumstances involved  

 
There were no other items of business.  
 
 
 
 

(Meeting closed at 4.45 pm)  

  

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 Planning Committee Report 
Planning Ref:  PL/2024/0000060/FUL 
Site:  37 Daventry Road 
Ward: Cheylesmore 
Proposal: Change of use from C3 dwelling house to C2 residential 

institution with a single storey rear extension 
Case Officer: Grace Goodman 

 
SUMMARY 
The planning application is for a change of use of from a 3 bed dwellinghouse to a 4-
bed residential institution (small children’s care home) with a single storey rear 
extension. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The application has been recommended for approval. The application has received a 
petition objecting to the proposal.  
 
KEY FACTS 
Reason for report to 
committee: 

More than five objections have been received. 

Current use of site: Residential Dwelling  
Proposed use of site: Residential Institution 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
Planning committee are recommended to grant planning permission subject to 
conditions. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 
The proposal is acceptable in principle.  
The proposal will not adversely impact upon the amenity of neighbours. 
The proposal will have an appropriate visual appearance and layout 
The proposal accords with Policies DE1, DS3, H5 and HE2 of the Coventry Local Plan 
2016, together with the aims of the NPPF. 
 
SITE DESCRIPTION 

The application site relates to a 3-bedroom dwellinghouse located to the north side 
of Daventry Road, close to Leamington Road in the Cheylesmore Ward. This 
property and the houses along this road all generally have paved over front gardens 
for use a driveway and can generally fit between 2 to 3 cars side by side.  
 
The area is residential in nature with the nearest designated Local Centre the Daventry 
Road District Centre, a 6-minute walk, with several other amenities and facilities in this 
area. There are good transport links with a number of bus routes nearby. On 
Leamington Road, which is a 5-minute walk away bus stop routes 9, 24, 25 and 25A 
are served along this road. The nearby Quinton Road, Queen Isabels Avenue and 
eastern section of Daventry Road are within a 10-minute walk away and serve bus 
stop routes including 21, 21A, 17 and 17A.  
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



APPLICATION PROPOSAL 
The application seeks planning permission for the change of use of a 3-bedroom 
dwellinghouse (Use Class C3) to a small Children’s care home (Use Class C2) for a 
maximum of 4 children, between the ages of 10 and 17 who would live and socialise 
together, akin to living in a family environment. The children that would be housed 
may have complex needs including learning disabilities such as autism or ADHD. 
 
Within the property it would involve 4 bedrooms being allocated for the children, and 
one bedroom for a permanent live in carer at all times (although this would have a 
changeover of staff on up to 12-hour shift patterns). The home would be staffed 24/7. 
There will be a total of 9 staff, with only 2 members of staff present at any given time 
this could mean 6 people in the property at one time generally. At night one member 
of staff will be in the property. 
 
There would still be a lounge, dining room and kitchen areas, as well as outdoor 
amenity space for the occupiers to use. There would be two shared bathrooms, one 
upstairs, and one downstairs. 
 
Supporting information was sent in by the applicant with a view to address concerns 
from the neighbours. The information stated that the applicant had a meeting with 
Children’s Commissioning team before the application was submitted to find out the 
requirements of the Children’s Commissioning team in order to select the most 
appropriate site.  
 
The applicant’s supporting information advises that the current site was chosen as the 
Children’s Commissioning team require children to be placed in houses that feel like 
family houses and in semi-affluent areas. Furthermore, this location has local 
amenities, shops, schools and parks as well as being located on a semi-busy road 
where coming and goings would not be noticeable compared to a cul-de-sac location 
 
The proposal also includes a single storey rear extension and a new roof over the 
garage. The rear extension will be 3m in depth with a mono pitched roof with a 
maximum height of 3.6m and a height of 2.38m to the eaves.  
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
None 
 
POLICY 
National Policy Guidance 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) December 2023. The NPPF sets out the 
Government’s planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. 
It sets out the Government’s requirements for the planning system only to the extent 
that is relevant, proportionate and necessary to do so.  The NPPF increases the focus 
on achieving high quality design and states that it is “fundamental to what the planning 
and development process should achieve”. 
  
The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 2014, this adds further context to 
the NPPF, and it is intended that the two documents are read together. 
 

Page 8



Local Policy Guidance 
The current local policy is provided within the Coventry Local Plan 2016, which was 
adopted by Coventry City Council on 6th December 2017.  Relevant policies relating 
to this application are: 
Policy DE1 Ensuring High Quality Design; 
Policy DS3: Sustainable Development;  
Policy H5: Managing Existing Housing Stock; 
Policy H8: Care Homes, Supported Housing, Nursing Homes and Older Persons 
Accommodation 
Policy AC1: Accessible Transport Network; 
Policy AC3: Demand Management; 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance/ Documents (SPG/ SPD): 
Householder Design Guide SPD 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
Statutory 
There are no statutory consultees 
 
Non-statutory 
Highways -no objection 
environmental Protection – no objection 
 
Neighbour consultation 
Notification letters were sent out to adjoining neighbouring houses and a site notice 
posted.  
 
A petition and 3 direct objections were received, raising the following points:- 
 

• No Parking - the site has a driveway which can only fit 2 cars, the site is 6 
bedrooms - due to the absence of sustainable travel methods employees, 
residents and visitors will be forced to access the property via vehicular 
means and there is nowhere for them to park. Additionally the property is 
situated on double yellow lines so there is no off road parking 

• Daventry road is a busy and not safe for children 
• Potential increase in anti-social behaviour - such as excessive noise levels 

and disturbances from a 24hr operation (such as staff, visitors and residents 
accessing the facility). Petty crime and drugs / alcohol use. This is a 
residential street and there are safety concerns for the young children living in 
the local area 

• This is a semi-detached property with noise from the residents of number 37 
clearly audible in adjoining properties. 

• A Restrictive Covenant contained in the property deeds that states “no house 

should be used otherwise than a private dwelling house” the proposed change 

of use breaches this restrictive covenant due to this being a private, for-profit 
enterprise. 

Page 9



• Environmental - potential concerns around increased pollutants from a high 
level of additional vehicles. Due to a significant chance that there is medical 
and other hazardous waste storage and disposal it is untenable in an 
enclosed residential environment. 

• Concerns over further use - Once a unit has been designated for C2 usage it 
can easily be transferred to another Use Class including residential care or 
nursing homes.  

Any further comments received will be reported within late representations. 
 
ISSUES AND ASSESSMENT 
The main issues in determining this application are principle of development, impact 
on residential amenity and highway considerations. 
 
Principle of Development 
The National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 11, states that “Plans and 
decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development. For 
Decision Making, this means:- c) approving development proposals that accord with 
an up-to-date development plan without delay; or d) where there are no relevant 
development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for determining 
the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless: (i.) the application of 
policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular importance 
provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or (ii.) any adverse 
impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 
assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole. 
 
Policy H8 states that proposals for care homes, nursing homes and other specialist 
and supported forms of housing for the elderly and those requiring care will be 
encouraged in areas that are accessible by a choice of means of transport and that 
are situated in close proximity to key local services; and proposals should be of a 
high quality and design and be compatible with the character of the surrounding 
area. The proposal is considered to be acceptable in principle and strongly 
supported by all of the criteria provided in Policy H8 for care homes and supported 
housing, given their importance and the great shortage and need for such properties. 
Firstly, the property is situated in an established residential area and a sustainable 
location, well served by a choice of transport such as the range of bus routes which 
are accessible within a short walk. Also, the Daventry Road Designated Local Centre 
is accessible by a 6- minute walk from the property where there are a number of 
facilities and amenities. Within this distance there are also a range of other facilities. 
 
Furthermore, the property is suitable and appropriate in its type and scale for what is 
proposed here – a small residential property for a proportionately small number of 
children, in a typical residential area; as close to a normal home as is possible for 
them 
 
The application site is in a residential area where it is considered sustainable, 
acceptable and common to extend homes. However, it is important to ensure that 
extensions are in keeping with the design and character of the existing house and of 
the surrounding area and there will be no harmful impact on residential amenity. 

Page 10



Materials, colours, textures and local distinctiveness should all be considered within 
the context of the local area in order to ensure a high-quality urban environment, in 
accordance with policies DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan and the Householder Design 
Guide SPD, unless relevant planning considerations indicate otherwise, including 
whether or not a proposal will cause: 
• Loss of light; 
• Overlooking and loss of privacy; 
• Over‐development of a site; 
• Visual intrusion; and 
• Impact on the street scene and character of the area 
 
Impact on residential amenity 
Policies DE1 and H5 seek to ensure that developments are designed  to minimise any 
detrimental impact to the amenity of neighbouring occupiers, or indeed future 
occupiers of the site. There is also deemed to be ample storage for refuse bins and 
cycle storage within the curtilage of the site. 
 
Comments have been made about the potential disturbance and antisocial behaviour 
surrounding the property, the Council cannot confirm if this is the case. In any case if 
it were, it would be expected that a use of this nature with regulated and vetted staff 
living there who are looking after the children at all times, would likely be more 
controlled than checks that can usually be made on any other typical residential owner 
or occupier. Whilst there may be slightly more comings and goings from the property 
than of a typical 3 bed house, this is not considered to be significant and certainly not 
enough to warrant refusal of the application. 
 
To reduce any potential impacts upon noise the proposals include installation of noise 
insulation internally on the wall adjoining the other semi-detached property. 
 
The proposed rear extension is 3m in depth However, the Householder Design 
Guidance states the depth of the extension should not exceed a projection of 4m along 
the boundary or impinge an imaginary 45-degree line taken from the centre of the 
neighbour’s closest habitable rear facing window (whichever gives the greater depth). 
The proposed extension accords with this and therefore, the extension is not 
considered to adversely impact upon the neighbours 
 
Highways 
Policy AC2 of the adopted Local Plan requires development proposals to not have a 
detrimental impact upon the road network, and where any impact is identified, suitable 
and proportionate mitigation should be sought within any planning approval. Policy 
AC3 requires development proposals to meet the council's adopted parking standards 
for cars and bicycles as set out in Appendix 5 of the Coventry Connected SPD.   
 
The driveway will allow up to 3 spaces for cars. It can be confirmed that the parking 
requirements for this proposal is calculated by the following from Appendix 5 Car and 
Cycle Parking Standards: 1 per 4 bed spaces + 1 per 2 staff members (FTE).  
 
Overall, the comings and goings will be no more than a typical family dwelling of this 
size, which could often house 2 or more adults (all of which could have cars), plus 

Page 11



children, and also any number of people visiting by car for any length of time. 
Therefore, in reality, it’s quite possible that less comings and goings would be likely to 
occur than a normal dwelling. Highways have also not objected to the proposal. 
 
Therefore, the proposal will not result in an unacceptable impact on the surrounding 
highway network from the perspective of the level of traffic being generated, the 
capacity of the highway, or road safety and is therefore considered to be acceptable 
in highway terms. 
 
Equality implications: 
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 created the public sector equality duty. Section 
149 states: -  
 
(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need 
to:  
a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act;  
b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it;  
c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it.  
 
Officers have taken this into account and given due regard to this statutory duty, and 
the matters specified in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 in the determination of 
this application.  
 
There are no known equality implications arising directly from this development. 
 
CONCLUSION 
The proposed development is considered to be acceptable in principle and will not 
result in any significant impact upon neighbour amenity or highway safety subject to 
relevant conditions. The reason for Coventry City Council recommending the 
granting of planning permission is because the development is in accordance with: 
Policies DS3, H8, DE1, AC1 and AC3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016, together with 
the aims of the NPPF. 
 

CONDITIONS / REASON FOR REFUSAL 

1. The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years 
from the date of this decision. 

Reason 
To conform with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(as amended) 
  

Page 12



  

 

2. 

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans:  

Floor Plans and Elevations DWG VD24675 A_01 
Site Location Plans DWG VD24675 A_02 Rev01 

Reason For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
  

3. The development hereby permitted shall be occupied by no more than 
four permanent residents at any time.  

Reason 

To ensure that the development is not used in an over-intensive manner, 
prejudicial to or likely to cause nuisance to occupiers of nearby 
properties in accordance with Policies DE1, H3 and H5 of the Coventry 
Local Plan 2016. 
  

4. 
The change of use hereby permitted shall not be occupied unless and 
until cycle parking facilities have been provided in full accordance with 
the approved details. Thereafter those facilities shall remain available for 
use at all times and shall not be removed or altered in any way. 

Reason 

In the interests of encouraging the use of alternative modes of transport 
with the aim of creating a more sustainable city in accordance with 
Policies DS3, AC3 and AC4 of the Coventry Local 2016. 
  

5. 

The residential accommodation hereby permitted shall not be occupied 
unless and until the bin storage areas have been provided in full 
accordance with the details shown on the approved plans and thereafter, 
they shall remain available for use at all times and shall not be removed 
or altered in any way.  

Reason 

In the interests of the amenities of the future occupants of the residential 
accommodation in accordance with Policy DE1 of the Coventry Local 
Plan 2016.  
  

6. 
Other than where specified on the approved plans, no facing and roofing 
materials shall be used other than materials similar in appearance to 
those used predominantly in the construction of the exterior of the 
existing building. 

Reason 

To ensure that the proposed development has a satisfactory external 
appearance in the interests of the visual amenities of the area in 
accordance with Policy DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



GSPublisherVersion 0.4.100.58

DAVENTRY ROAD

LB

BE
NE

DI
CT

IN
E 

RO
AD

82.9m

51

39

74

84

37

DAVENTRY ROAD
27

LB

82.9m

39

74

3.000

9.036

5.500

2.400

37

Proposed Single

Storey Exte
nsion

Car Parking

Space for

Staff

Existing Bin Storage

C
ycle Parking

Area for 5 C
ycles

Paved Su
rfa

ce

Car Parking

Space for

Staff

13

DAVENTRY ROAD

THE M
ONK'S CROFT12

19

27

LB

98

BE
NE

DI
CT

IN
E 

RO
AD

10
4

82.9m

1

89

51

39

91

74

84

433225
433225

433250
433250

433275
433275

433300
433300

433325
433325

277300 277300

277325 277325

277350 277350

277375 277375

277400 277400

277425 277425

metres

0 10 20

433223

277298

433223

277429

433336

277429

433336

277298

SP3377 SP3377

SP3377SP3377

MapServe

37

Notes

As Shown  @ A1

Drawing Status

Dwg Name

Location and Site
Plans

Dwg Scale

37 Daventry Road
COVENTRY
CV3 5DJ

Job Title

This drawing is copyright protected and may not be reproduced in any form or by any
means for any purpose without written permission of Volta Designs.

Prelim
ina

ry O
nly

Proposed Change
of Use

N
N

N

Building Regulations
All work is to comply with the relevant Building
Regulations and all statutory notices are to be
given to the Building Control department at the
local authority at the appropriate stages. All
contractors are to visit site to acquaint
themselves with the layout and access to the site
prior to tendering. If an approved inspector is
used then the AI must notify the local authority
that the building regulations will be carried out
under the initial notice procedure. AI to be given
notice of statutory inspections to allow inspection
at appropriate stages.

Materials, goods and workmanship
Goods, materials and workmanship are to be of
the best quality of their respective kinds and
those for which there are a British Standard or
Code of Practice are to conform thereto unless
otherwise stated. Descriptions of goods, materials
and workmanship given in any one trade are to
apply throughout this Specification unless
otherwise stated. All workmanship shall be
carried out in accordance with current Building
Regulations. All materials shall be used and fixed
strictly in accordance with manufacturer's
instructions, unless specified otherwise. All
commodities to be new and left in perfect
condition on completion and when
incorporated into the works.

Discrepancies
Any discrepancy, discovered by the Contractor,
between the structural drawings and
specification or between the
drawings/specification and the site, must be
brought to the notice of the Architect for
clarification and instruction immediately any
such discrepancy becomes apparent.

Defects in existing work
Any defect not already identified in the existing
work or structure to remain must be reported
immediately to the Architect by the Contractor
for instruction before proceeding with any work
which may:

cover up or otherwise hinder access to the
defective construction, or
be rendered abortive by the carrying out of
remedial works.

Generally
Please note that these construction notes are to
be read in conjunction with the detailed
drawings that accompany the works, including
those of the Structural Engineer. These notes and
drawings are solely for the purposes of Building
Regulation approval and do not set out the
minimum standards of good practice to be
complied with by the contractor. It is assumed
that the minimum standards and manufactures
installation guidance are known and will be
complied with by a competent contractor.
Finishes and materials to be in accordance with
planning conditions.

Health & Safety
The Contractor shall ensure that all safety, health
and welfare measures required under or by virtue
of the provision of any enactment or regulations
or the working rules of any industry are complied
with. In carrying out the works the contractor
shall at all times comply with the requirements of
the Construction (Design and Management)
Regulations 2015, this will include taking on
Clients duties, unless Client appoints separate
Principal Designer. Where necessary notifications
to be served to HSE and appropriate
Construction manuals produced.

The Party Wall etc. act 1996
Where building near or working on the party walls
or party fence walls it may be necessary to serve
notice on the adjoining owners under The Party
Wall etc. Act 1996. Professional advice should be
sought before commencing building works to
determine whether the act would apply and if so
the correct action to be taken.

Demolition
Isolate all services affected by new works.
Provide temporary supports to existing structure
as necessary. Where existing services run through
or under foundations provisions should be made
for suitable ducts or lintels.

Existing Structure
Existing foundations and structure to be exposed
in order to determine adequacy to take
additional loadings. Exposed structure to be
inspected by either Structural Engineer or
Building Control to satisfy that existing structure is
suitable. If found to be unsuitable Structural
Engineer to design appropriate solution.

Health and Safety Should be Noted and
Observed for with This Drawing In Addition to the
Hazards and Risks Faced by the Contractor and
Builders When Dealing With Works Detailed on
this Drawing and its Related Documents.

0 1000 2000 3000 4000 5000 6000 7000 8000 9000 10000 11000 12000 13000
0 1000 2000 3000 4000 5000 6000 7000 8000 9000 10000 11000 12000 13000

Scale Ruler 1:50
Scale Ruler 1:100

Existing Site Plan @1:500 Proposed Site Plan @1:500

Location Plan @1:1250

Dwg ID VD24675
 By: LW

Sheet  Number A.02 Date: 21/12/2023

Sample Images

FalcoPod Cycle Hangar

Size - fits in half a car parking space and houses 6 bikes, with covered weather protection.
Family inclusive – with an ergonomically improved design, the additional space/height (55% more) means there is no need to
remove child seats or baskets from the back or front of bikes.
Bike security - the six place FalcoSound bike rack has three locking points including the ability to use a ‘D’ lock through the rear
wheel and frame.
Easy access - single door with integral lock and gas strut for assisted lifting.

Environmentally sustainable - manufactured from 100% recyclable robust welded steel framework hot-dip galvanised steel hot dip
galvanised to BS EN ISO 1461.
Safety - the FalcoPod has been ‘crash tested’ and is much more robust that current products for on-street use
Strength - riveted aluzinc roof sheets.
Surface mount - bolt down stands.
Visibility – the hangar is fitted with highly reflective marine grade Solas tape to each corner of the frame for better on-street
visibility.

Dimensions :
The standard FalcoPod measures 2475mm x 2070mm with a height of 1410mm.
Powder coated steelwork with RAL 6002
mains powered automatic LED lighting.

https://www.falco.co.uk/products/shelters-canopies-and-walkways/cycle-shelters/falcopod-cycle-hangar.html

Specification

Revision:

SAFETY
FIRST

P
age 15



GSPublisherVersion 0.5.100.57

13.514 m2

6.738 m2

12.726 m2

Bedroom 1

Bedroom 2

Bedroom 3

Roof

Kitchen Dining Room

Living Room

Garage

2.101 m2

HD

2

2

2

2

2

22

2
2

2

2

2

9.036

0.547 0.900 1.036 1.800 1.157 2.800 0.797

2.
70

0

7.1401.147

2.
70

0

1.
49

7

1.
59

7

0.757

3.
00

0

1.408

1.500

1.
04

3

0.
85

0

15.600 m2

14.591 m2

Cavity
wall to
specs
attached

Foundation to
specs attached,
TBC on site

Existing floor to upgraded to
achieve a minimum U-value of 0.25
W/m2K. Apply either three coats of
RIW type paint or 1200 gauge DPC
to existing floor, lapping up external
walls by at least 150mm or to meet
with existing DPC.  Lay 70 mm
Celotex GA4000 or similar flooring
grade PIR insulation over existing
floor slab. Tape joints of insulation to
form vapour control layer. Provide
25mm thick insulated up-stands to
continue around floor perimeters to
avoid thermal bridging. Finish with
75 mm sand/cement screed and
floor finish.  Ensure any existing floor
ventilation is maintained.
U-VALUE  0.23  W/m²K

Living Room

Kitchen / Dining

 Bedroom 4

Steel beams to SE Specs and design
prior to construction

EX

MS

EX

2

MS

Staff Room Only

Upgrade floor to
specs attached

Place 90 mm Celotex GA4000 or
similar PIR insulation between
studwork and line internally with 60 +
12.5mm Celotex PL3000 insulated
plasterboard. Joints to be taped
and sealed at the perimeter to
create a vapour control layer or
install separate vapour control layer
behind insulated plasterboard.
Finished with 3mm skim of plaster.
Refer to specs attached.
U-VALUE  0.17  W/m²K

RA
D

RAD

RA
D

RA
D

TV

TV

RAD

Bedroom 1

Bedroom 2

Bedroom 3

Roof

Ground Floor

Ceiling

Second Floor

First Floor

Ceiling

Ground Floor

Ceiling

Second Floor

First Floor

Ceiling

Ground Floor

Ceiling

Second Floor

First Floor

Ceiling

Ground Floor

Ceiling

Second Floor

First Floor

Ceiling

Ground Floor

Ceiling

Second Floor

First Floor

Ceiling

Ground Floor

Ceiling

Second Floor

First Floor

Ceiling

Ground Floor

Ceiling

Second Floor

First Floor

Ceiling

Ground Floor

Ceiling

Second Floor

First Floor

Ceiling

3.
59

9

2.
54

7

Proposed
box gutter

Proposed roof tiles
to match existing

Proposed white
framed upvc
window to match
existing

Proposed render to
match existing

Ground Floor

Ceiling

Second Floor

First Floor

Ceiling

Ground Floor

Ceiling

Second Floor

First Floor

Ceiling

Proposed roof tiles
to match existing

Proposed render to
match existing

Ground Floor

Ceiling

Second Floor

First Floor

Ceiling

Ground Floor

Ceiling

Second Floor

First Floor

Ceiling

3.
59

9

Proposed
box gutterProposed roof tiles

to match existing

Proposed render to
match existing

Proposed Rear Elevation @ 1:100

Ground Floor

Ceiling

Second Floor

First Floor

Ceiling

Ground Floor

Ceiling

Second Floor

First Floor

Ceiling

2.
54

7

Proposed white
framed upvc
window to match
existing

2.
54

7

3.
59

9

Proposed roof tiles
to match existing

Proposed render to
match existing

Ground Floor

Ceiling

Second Floor

First Floor

Ceiling

Ceiling

Second Floor

First Floor

Ceiling

Ground Floor

As Shown  @ A1

Drawing Status

Dwg Name

Existing / Proposed
Floor Plans &
Elevations

Dwg Scale

37 Daventry Road
COVENTRY
CV3 5DJ

Job Title

Proposed Change
of Use

This drawing is copyright protected and may not be reproduced in any form or by any
means for any purpose without written permission of Volta Designs.

Prelim
ina

ry O
nly

Notes

Building Regulations
All work is to comply with the relevant Building
Regulations and all statutory notices are to be
given to the Building Control department at the
local authority at the appropriate stages. All
contractors are to visit site to acquaint
themselves with the layout and access to the site
prior to tendering. If an approved inspector is
used then the AI must notify the local authority
that the building regulations will be carried out
under the initial notice procedure. AI to be given
notice of statutory inspections to allow inspection
at appropriate stages.

Materials, goods and workmanship
Goods, materials and workmanship are to be of
the best quality of their respective kinds and
those for which there are a British Standard or
Code of Practice are to conform thereto unless
otherwise stated. Descriptions of goods, materials
and workmanship given in any one trade are to
apply throughout this Specification unless
otherwise stated. All workmanship shall be
carried out in accordance with current Building
Regulations. All materials shall be used and fixed
strictly in accordance with manufacturer's
instructions, unless specified otherwise. All
commodities to be new and left in perfect
condition on completion and when
incorporated into the works.

Discrepancies
Any discrepancy, discovered by the Contractor,
between the structural drawings and
specification or between the
drawings/specification and the site, must be
brought to the notice of the Architect for
clarification and instruction immediately any
such discrepancy becomes apparent.

Defects in existing work
Any defect not already identified in the existing
work or structure to remain must be reported
immediately to the Architect by the Contractor
for instruction before proceeding with any work
which may:

cover up or otherwise hinder access to the
defective construction, or
be rendered abortive by the carrying out of
remedial works.

Generally
Please note that these construction notes are to
be read in conjunction with the detailed
drawings that accompany the works, including
those of the Structural Engineer. These notes and
drawings are solely for the purposes of Building
Regulation approval and do not set out the
minimum standards of good practice to be
complied with by the contractor. It is assumed
that the minimum standards and manufactures
installation guidance are known and will be
complied with by a competent contractor.
Finishes and materials to be in accordance with
planning conditions.

Health & Safety
The Contractor shall ensure that all safety, health
and welfare measures required under or by virtue
of the provision of any enactment or regulations
or the working rules of any industry are complied
with. In carrying out the works the contractor
shall at all times comply with the requirements of
the Construction (Design and Management)
Regulations 2015, this will include taking on
Clients duties, unless Client appoints separate
Principal Designer. Where necessary notifications
to be served to HSE and appropriate
Construction manuals produced.

The Party Wall etc. act 1996
Where building near or working on the party walls
or party fence walls it may be necessary to serve
notice on the adjoining owners under The Party
Wall etc. Act 1996. Professional advice should be
sought before commencing building works to
determine whether the act would apply and if so
the correct action to be taken.

Demolition
Isolate all services affected by new works.
Provide temporary supports to existing structure
as necessary. Where existing services run through
or under foundations provisions should be made
for suitable ducts or lintels.

Existing Structure
Existing foundations and structure to be exposed
in order to determine adequacy to take
additional loadings. Exposed structure to be
inspected by either Structural Engineer or
Building Control to satisfy that existing structure is
suitable. If found to be unsuitable Structural
Engineer to design appropriate solution.

Dwg ID VD24675
 By: LW

Sheet  Number A.01 Date: 21/12/2023

Health and Safety Should be Noted and
Observed for with This Drawing In Addition to the
Hazards and Risks Faced by the Contractor and
Builders When Dealing With Works Detailed on
this Drawing and its Related Documents.

0 1000 2000 3000 4000 5000 6000 7000 8000 9000 10000 11000 12000 13000
0 1000 2000 3000 4000 5000 6000 7000 8000 9000 10000 11000 12000 13000

Scale Ruler 1:50
Scale Ruler 1:100

Existing Ground Floor @1:50 Existing First Floor @1:50

Proposed First Floor @1:50
Proposed Ground Floor @1:50

Existing Rear Elevation @1:100

Existing LHS Elevation @1:100

Existing Front Elevation @1:100

Existing RHS Elevation @1:100

Proposed Rear Elevation @1:100

Proposed LHS Elevation @1:100

Proposed Front Elevation @1:100

Proposed RHS Elevation @1:100

Revision:

SAFETY
FIRST

P
age 16



 
 

-Planning Committee Report 
 Planning Ref:  PL/2023/0001155/OUTM 
Site:  Hall Hill Cottage, Fivefield Road, Coventry, CV7 8JF 
Ward: Bablake. 
Proposal: Outline planning permission with all matters reserved 

save for access, for the demolition of existing dwelling 
and associated agricultural units, and the erection of 
up to 40 residential dwellings (Use Class C3), with 
parking and associated works. 

Case Officer: Emma Spandley 
 
SUMMARY 
The application relates to a parcel of land that is contained within the housing allocation 
H2:1, called Keresley SUE.  The allocation is for a minimum of 3,100 dwellings. 
 
The entire allocation requires: - 

 Retail space within local centres (policy R1). 
 Distributor link road connecting Long Lane and Winding House Lane to be fully 

operational prior to the full completion of the SUE.  
 Surrounding junction improvements as appropriate and identified through a 

robust TA. 
 Provision of 1 x 2FE primary school and contributions towards a 8FE secondary 

school. 
 Retention of medieval fishponds, ancient woodlands, important (ancient) 

hedgerows. 
 Creation of publicly accessible green corridor along the Hall Brook and enhanced 

connectivity between the ancient woodlands.  
 Protection of Jubilee Woodland. 
 Inclusion of appropriate screening to existing residential areas. 

 
The application has been submitted in outline, with all matters reserved except access.  
Therefore, the application concentrates on the principal of development, the quantum of 
development and the proposed access to the site. 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
The site was previously designated Green Belt land; however, it was removed from the 
Green Belt following independent examination by an Inspector at Local Plan 
Examination in Public and allocated for housing as a Sustainable Urban Extension 
(SUE).  The specific housing requirements are allocated under H2:1. 
 
 
KEY FACTS 
Reason for report to 
committee: 

Over five objections against Officer recommendation 

Current use of site: Residential and Equestrian 
Proposed use of site: Residential 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
Planning committee are recommended to grant planning permission, subject to the 
conditions listed in the report and the completion of the S106 legal agreement to secure 
the contributions listed within the report; and 
 
Delegate authority to the Strategic Lead Planning (following consultation with the Chair 
of Planning Committee) to agree any amendments to these conditions and any S106 
triggers/contributions set out within the report, which are considered necessary. 
 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 

 The proposal is consistent with an allocation in an up-to-date development plan 
and is acceptable in principle.  

 The proposal will not adversely impact upon highway safety, air quality, 
drainage/flooding, ancient woodland or ecology. 

 The proposal makes provision for necessary developer contributions taking into 
consideration the viability situation presented. 

 The proposal accords with Policies DS1, DS3, DS4, H1, H2, H3, H4: H6, H9, 
GE1, GE3, GE4, DE1, HE2, JE7, HW1, AC1, AC2, AC3, AC4, AC5, EM1, EM2, 
EM3, EM4, EM5, EM6, EM7 and IM1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016, together 
with the aims of the NPPF. 
 

 
APPLICATION PROPOSAL 
The application has been submitted in outline form which requires only the principal of 
development, together with the number of dwellings proposed and the access to the 
site to be assessed. 
 
The application seeks permission for: - 
 
‘Demolition of existing dwelling and associated agricultural units, and the erection of up 
to 40 residential dwellings (Use Class C3), with parking and associated works. 
 
The following plans were submitted with the application which sought to set the 
parameters for the proposed development. 

 DRAWING - Location Plan - Drawing No.PL001 
 DRAWING - Site Layout - Drawing No.PL002 Rev F 
 DRAWING - Parameters Plan - Drawing No.PL005 Rev C 
 DRAWING - Illustrative Drainage Strategy - Drawing No.HLEF84243 Rev B 
 DRAWING - Refuse Tracking Site Access - Drawing No.AAC5671-RPS-xx-xx-

DR-C-114-01 S4 P01 
 DRAWING - Topographic Survey - Drawing No.P3210 
 DRAWING - Soft Landscaping Strategy (Sheet 1 of 3) - Drawing 

No.JSL4594_RPS-XX-EX-DR-L-9001 P07 
 DRAWING - Soft Landscaping Strategy (Sheet 2 of 3) - Drawing 

No.JSL4594_RPS-XX-EX-DR-L-9002 P07 
 DRAWING - Soft Landscaping Strategy (Sheet 3 of 3) - Drawing 

No.JSL4594_RPS-XX-EX-DR-L-9004 P03 
 

Page 18



 
 

However, following assessment of the plans these were amended; the amended plans 
are therefore: - 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Parameters Plan - Drawing No.PL005 
 AMENDED DRAWING - Site Layout - Drawing No.PL002 
 AMENDED DRAWING - Proposed Site Access Off Tamworth Road Visibility and 

Stopping Sight Distances - Drawing No.AAC5671-RPS-xx-xx-DR-C-603 S4 P02 
 AMENDED DRAWING - Proposed Site Access Off Tamworth Road Longitudinal 

Section of Road 1 - Drawing No.AAC5671-RPS-xx-xx-DR-C-602 S4 P02 
 AMENDED DRAWING - Proposed Site Access Off Tamworth Road General 

Arrangement - Drawing No.AAC5671-RPS-xx-xx-DR-C-601 S4 P03 
 AMENDED DRAWING - Proposed Site Access Off Tamworth Road Location 

Plan - Drawing No.AAC5671-RPS-xx-xx-DR-C-600 S4 P03 
 AMENDED DRAWING - Refuse Tracking Site Access - Drawing No.AAC5671-

RPS-xx-xx-DR-C-114-01 S4 P02 
 
These amended plans will form the basis of future reserved matters applications. 
 
 
SITE DESCRIPTION 
The site covers an area of approximately 1.45ha and is irregularly shaped.   
 
It is bounded by Fivefield Road to the south and Tamworth Road to the west. To the 
north is further agricultural grassland which separates the site from the Horse and 
Jockey public house and forms the administrative boundary between North 
Warwickshire Borough Council (NWBC) and Coventry City Council (CCC). 
 
To the northeast of the site is Hall Yard Wood, which is an ancient woodland and local 
wildlife site.   The site is separated from the ancient woodland to the northeast by a 
number of existing buildings and structures not within the applicants ownership. 
 
The application site forms a parcel of land allocated within the Keresley Sustainable 
Urban Extension (SUE). 
 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
The following table sets out the most relevant Planning History related to the red line site. 
 
Application 
Number 

Description of Development Decision and 
Date 

R/2004/0651 – 
(Cov Ref: 29616/E) 

Removal of stable block, addition of new 
stables and refurbishment of existing stables 
and storage buildings. 

Approved 
10/12/2004 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



 
 

The following is a table setting out the applications that relate to the entire SUE. 
 
Application Number Description of Development Decision and 

Date 
Taylor Wimpey   
OUT/2014/2282 Outline application for the erection of up 

to 800 dwellings, with associated Local 
Centre comprising Convenience Store 
(Class A1) Retail/Commercial Units 
(Class A1, A2, A3, A5 and/or D1); a 
Primary School; Public Open Space 
(including equipped play area); 
allotments; nature conservation area; 
and landscaping; with all matters 
reserved except for means of vehicular 
access to the site from Tamworth Road 
and Bennetts Road South. 

Approved 
12/02/2018 

RMM/2019/1030 Submission of reserved matters (layout, 
internal access arrangements, scale, 
appearance and landscape details) for 
Phase 1 comprising of 322 dwellings 
and details of green infrastructure 
strategy for all phases (excluding third 
party land) and a temporary 
construction access pursuant to 
OUT/2014/2282 for up to 800 dwellings, 
local centre, primary school, public open 
space (all matters reserved except 
vehicular access from Tamworth Road 
and Bennetts Road South). The outline 
application was an EIA application and 
an Environmental Statement was 
submitted with it. 

Approved 
20/11/2019 

S73/2020/0285 Variation of condition 8 (to allow one 
retail unit within the local centre to have 
floorspace up to 500 sq m) imposed 
upon outline permission 
OUT/2014/2282 for the erection of up to 
800 dwellings, with associated Local 
Centre comprising Convenience Store 
(Class A1) Retail/Commercial Units 
(Class A1, A2, A3, A5 and/or D1); a 
Primary School; Public Open Space 
(including equipped play area); 
allotments; nature conservation area; 
and landscaping; The outline 
application was accompanied by an 
Environmental Statement 

Approved 
22/04/2020 

Page 20



 
 

RM/2020/2399 Submission of reserved matters (layout, 
internal access arrangements, scale, 
appearance and landscaping) for 
Phases 2A and 2B comprising 394 
dwellings, pursuant to outline 
permission OUT/2014/2282. The outline 
application was accompanied by an 
Environmental Statement. 

Approved 
29/11/2021 

RMM/2021/2514 Submission of reserved Matters in 
accordance with condition 1 for layout, 
internal access arrangements, scale, 
appearance and landscape details for 
local centre, comprising of 1,505sqm 
across seven units pursuant to planning 
permission S73/2020/0285 granted on 
22nd April 2020  for Variation of 
condition 8 (to allow one retail unit within 
the local centre to have floorspace up to 
500 sq m) imposed upon outline 
permission OUT/2014/2282 for the 
erection of up to 800 dwellings, with 
associated Local Centre comprising 
Convenience Store (Class A1) 
Retail/Commercial Units (Class A1, A2, 
A3, A5 and/or D1); a Primary School; 
Public Open Space (including equipped 
play area); allotments; nature 
conservation area; and landscaping; 
The outline application was 
accompanied by an Environmental 
Statement. 

Approved 
26/10/2023 

S73M/2021/2515 Variation of condition No. 56 (Hours of 
Delivery)  and removal of condition No. 
31 (Requirement for Green Roofs) 
imposed on planning permission 
S73/2020/0285 -Variation of condition 8 
(to allow one retail unit within the local 
centre to have floorspace up to 500 sq 
m) imposed upon outline permission 
OUT/2014/2282 for the erection of up to 
800 dwellings, with associated Local 
Centre comprising Convenience Store 
(Class A1) Retail/Commercial Units 
(Class A1, A2, A3, A5 and/or D1); a 
Primary School; Public Open Space 
(including equipped play area); 
allotments; nature conservation area; 
and landscaping; The outline 
application was accompanied by an 

Approved 
24/10/2023 

Page 21



 
 

Environmental Statement, granted on 
22nd April 2020 

   
Bellway   
OUT/2019/0022 Outline application for the demolition of 

all existing buildings and the erection of 
up to 550 dwellings and creation of 
associated vehicular accesses to 
Tamworth Road and Fivefield Road, 
pedestrian/cycle and emergency 
accesses, diversion of public rights of 
way, highway improvements to Fivefield 
Road, parking, landscaping, drainage 
features, open space and associated  
infrastructure, with all matters to be 
reserved except access points into the 
site (in part). 

Approved 
07/02/2022 

RMM/2022/0633 Submission of Reserved Matters for 236 
dwellings off Fivefield Road, for all 
matters outstanding pursuant to 
permission OUT/2019/0022 granted on 
07/02/2022 for the demolition of all 
existing buildings and the erection of up 
to 550 dwellings, and creation of 
associated vehicular accesses to 
Tamworth Road and Fivefield Road, 
pedestrian/cycle and emergency 
accesses, highway improvements to 
Fivefield Road, parking, landscaping, 
drainage features, open space and 
associated infrastructure, with all 
matters to be reserved except access 
points into the site 

Approved 
11/03/2024 

RMM/2022/0636 Submission of Reserved Matters for 76 
dwellings off Keresley Link Road, for all 
matters outstanding pursuant to 
permission OUT/2019/0022 granted on 
7th February 2022 for the demolition of 
all existing buildings and the erection of 
up to 550 dwellings, and creation of 
associated vehicular accesses to 
Tamworth Road and Fivefield Road, 
pedestrian/cycle and emergency 
accesses, highway improvements to 
Fivefield Road, parking, landscaping, 
drainage features, open space and 
associated infrastructure, with all 
matters to be reserved except access 
points into the site. 

Approved 
27/10/2023 

Page 22



 
 

RMM/2022/0678 Submission of Reserved Matters for 205 
dwellings off Tamworth Road, for all 
matters outstanding pursuant to 
permission OUT/2019/0022 granted on 
7th February 2022 for the demolition of 
all existing buildings and the erection of 
up to 550 dwellings, and creation of 
associated vehicular accesses to 
Tamworth Road and Fivefield Road, 
pedestrian/cycle and emergency 
accesses, highway improvements to 
Fivefield Road, parking, landscaping, 
drainage features, open space and 
associated infrastructure, with all 
matters to be reserved except access 
points into the site 

Pending 

RMM/2022/0679 Submission of Reserved Matters for 18 
dwellings off Tamworth Road, for all 
matters outstanding pursuant to 
permission OUT/2019/0022 granted on 
7th February 2022 for the demolition of 
all existing buildings and the erection of 
up to 550 dwellings, and creation of 
associated vehicular accesses to 
Tamworth Road and Fivefield Road, 
pedestrian/cycle and emergency 
accesses, highway improvements to 
Fivefield Road, parking, landscaping, 
drainage features, open space and 
associated infrastructure, with all 
matters to be reserved except access 
points into the site 

Pending 

RMM/2022/0680 Submission of Reserved Matters for the 
Ancient Woodland Buffer off Tamworth 
Road, for all matters outstanding 
pursuant to permission OUT/2019/0022 
granted on 7th February 2022 for the 
demolition of all existing buildings and 
the erection of up to 550 dwellings, and 
creation of associated vehicular 
accesses to Tamworth Road and 
Fivefield Road, pedestrian/cycle and 
emergency accesses, highway 
improvements to Fivefield Road, 
parking, landscaping, drainage 
features, open space and associated 
infrastructure, with all matters to be 
reserved except access points into the 
site. 

Approved 
03/08/2023 

Page 23



 
 

   
Thompsons Farm   
OUT/2019/0484 Outline permission for the erection of up 

to 500 residential dwellings with all 
matters reserved with the exception of 
access and comprising of: The 
demolition of Thompsons Cottage and 
associated buildings; Provision of green 
infrastructure including strategic open 
space, sustainable urban drainage, 
green networks, play space and 
associated structural and general 
landscaping; A vehicular access point 
and emergency access point onto 
Bennetts Road North; Network of 
pedestrian and cycle routes; and All 
associated infrastructure and enabling 
works 

Approved 
05/07/2022 

FUL/2022/1981 Installation and formation of highway 
and drainage infrastructure works 
pursuant to OUT/2019/0484 granted on 
05/07/2022 for erection of up to 500 
residential dwellings with all matters 
reserved with the exception of access 
and comprising of: The demolition of 
Thompsons Cottage and associated 
buildings; Provision of green 
infrastructure including strategic open 
space, sustainable urban drainage, 
green networks, play space and 
associated structural and general 
landscaping; A vehicular access point 
and emergency access point onto 
Bennetts Road North; Network of 
pedestrian and cycle routes; and All 
associated infrastructure and enabling 
works. 

Approved 
06/10/2023 

RMM/2022/1982 Submission of reserved matters 
(appearance, landscaping, layout and 
scale) for the erection of 329no. 
dwellings and associated infrastructure 
pursuant to planning permission 
OUT/2019/0484 granted on 05/07/2022 
for erection of up to 500 residential 
dwellings with all matters reserved with 
the exception of access and comprising 
of: The demolition of Thompsons 
Cottage and associated buildings; 
Provision of green infrastructure 

Approved  
20/12/2023 

Page 24



 
 

including strategic open space, 
sustainable urban drainage, green 
networks, play space and associated 
structural and general landscaping; A 
vehicular access point and emergency 
access point onto Bennetts Road North; 
Network of pedestrian and cycle routes; 
and All associated infrastructure and 
enabling works. 

RMM/2022/2615 Submission of Reserved Matters 
(appearance, landscaping, layout and 
scale) for the erection of 171no. 
dwellings and associated infrastructure 
pursuant to planning permission 
OUT/2019/0484 granted on 05/07/2022 
for erection of up to 500 residential 
dwellings with all matters reserved with 
the exception of access and comprising 
of: The demolition of Thompsons 
Cottage and associated buildings; 
Provision of green infrastructure 
including strategic open space, 
sustainable urban drainage, green 
networks, play space and associated 
structural and general landscaping; A 
vehicular access point and emergency 
access point onto Bennetts Road North; 
Network of pedestrian and cycle routes; 
and All associated infrastructure and 
enabling works. 

Approved 
21/12/2023 

 
Rookery Farm 

  

OUT/2019/2277 Proposed residential development (up 
to 40 dwellings) with associated 
landscaping/open space, drainage and 
highway infrastructure (outline 
application - all matters reserved except 
access into the site) 

Approved 
06/03/2020 

RMM/2021/0314 Submission of reserved matters under 
condition 1 for details of appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale for 40 
dwellings together with associated 
landscaping/open space, drainage and 
highway infrastructure and temporary 
construction access from land to the 
north west pursuant to planning 
permission OUT/2019/2277 granted on 
6th March 2020 for outline permission 
with access. 

Approved 
13/07/2021 

Page 25



 
 

Colliery Club   
FUL/2020/2615 Demolition of existing structures to 

facilitate residential development with 
associated access, parking, 
landscaping and drainage. 

Approved 
25/03/2021 

   
David Wilson / Barratts 
Homes 

  

FUL/2020/0748 Erection of 388no. dwellings (C3), 
public open space, landscaping, 
drainage attenuation areas, access 
from Bennetts Road and Penny Park 
Lane, access roads, land safeguarded 
for a new Link Road, and other 
associated works. This application is 
accompanied by an Environmental 
Statement. 

 
Planning 
Committee 
resolved to 
approve on 
02/11/2023 

   
Manor Farm Cottages   
FUL/2021/3173 Erection of two new dwellings with 

upgraded access and parking (Use 
Class C3) 

Approved 
02/02/2022 

FUL/2022/3213 Erection of One new dwellings with 
upgraded access and parking (Use 
Class C3) 

Approved 
05/01/2021 

   
Richborough / Queen 
College Oxford (QCO) 

  

OUT/2022/0712 Outline application for the demolition of 
all existing buildings (save for Poddy 
Cottage) and the erection of up to 290 
dwellings and creation of associated 
vehicular accesses to Bennetts Road 
and Fivefield Road, pedestrian/cycle 
accesses, diversion of public rights of 
way, highway improvements, parking, 
landscaping, drainage features, open 
space, and associated infrastructure, 
with all matters to be reserved except 
vehicular access points into the site 

Approved 
23/06/2023 

PL/2023/0001888/RESM Submission of Reserved Matters for 
290no. dwellings  for all matters 
outstanding pursuant to permission 
OUT/2022/0712   for  the demolition of 
all existing buildings (save for Poddy 
Cottage) and the erection of up to 290 
dwellings and creation of associated 
vehicular accesses to Bennetts Road 
and Fivefield Road, pedestrian/cycle 

 
Planning 
Committee 
resolved to 
approve on 
29/02/2024 

Page 26



 
 

accesses, diversion of public rights of 
way, highway improvements, parking, 
landscaping, drainage features, open 
space, and associated infrastructure 
including substation  

OUT/2022/0713 Outline application for the demolition of 
all existing buildings (save for Manor 
Farm Cottage) and the erection of up to 
260 dwellings and creation of 
associated vehicular accesses to 
Bennetts Road, pedestrian/cycle 
accesses, highway improvements, 
parking, landscaping, drainage 
features, open space, and associated 
infrastructure, with all matters to be 
reserved except new vehicular access 
points into the site from Bennetts Road. 

Approved 
02/06/2023 

PL/2024/00000246/RESM Submission of reserved matters for 
260no dwellings for all matters 
outstanding pursuant to planning 
permission OUT/2022/0713 granted 
on  25/03/2022 for 'Outline application 
for the demolition of all existing 
buildings (save for Manor Farm 
Cottage) and the erection of up to 260 
dwellings and creation of associated 
vehicular accesses to Bennetts Road, 
pedestrian/cycle accesses, highway 
improvements, parking, landscaping, 
drainage features, open space, and 
associated infrastructure, with all 
matters to be reserved except new 
vehicular access points into the site 
from Bennetts Road. 

Pending 

 
 
POLICY 
National Policy Guidance 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), updated July 2021. The NPPF sets out 
the Government’s planning policies for England and how these are expected to be 
applied. It sets out the Government’s requirements for the planning system only to the 
extent that is relevant, proportionate and necessary to do so.  The NPPF increases the 
focus on achieving high quality design and states that it is “fundamental to what the 
planning and development process should achieve”. 
  
The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) adds further context to the NPPF and 
it is intended that the two documents are read together. 
 

Page 27



 
 

Local Policy Guidance 
The current local policy is provided within the Coventry Local Plan 2016, which was 
adopted by Coventry City Council on 6th December 2017.  Relevant policy relating to 
this application is: 
 
Policy DS1:  Overall Development Needs 
Policy DS3:  Sustainable Development Policy 
Policy DS4:  (Part A) – General Masterplan Principles 
Policy DS4:  (Part C) – Keresley SUE Specific Masterplan Principles 
Policy H1:  Housing Land Requirements 
Policy H2:  Housing Allocations 
Policy H3:  Provision of New Housing 
Policy H4:  Securing a Mix of Housing 
Policy H6:  Affordable Housing 
Policy H9:  Residential Density 
Policy GB1:  Green Belt and Local Green Space 
Policy GE1  Green Infrastructure 
Policy GE3:  Biodiversity, Geological, Landscape and Archaeological Conservation 
Policy GE4:  Tree Protection 
Policy JE7:  Accessibility to Employment Opportunities 
Policy DE1  Ensuring High Quality Design 
Policy HE2:  Conservation and Heritage Assets 
Policy AC1:  Accessible Transport Network 
Policy AC2:  Road Network 
Policy AC3:  Demand Management 
Policy AC4:  Walking and Cycling 
Policy EM1:  Planning for Climate Change Adaptation 
Policy EM2:  Building Standards 
Policy EM4  Flood Risk Management 
Policy EM5  Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) 
Policy EM7  Air Quality 
Policy IM1:  Developer Contributions for Infrastructure 
 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance/ Documents (SPG/ SPD): 
SPD Sustainable Urban Extension 
SPD Design Guidance for New Residential Development 
SPD Householder Design Guide 
SPD Energy 
SPD Coventry Connected 
SPD Trees and Development 
SPD Air Quality 
SPD Affordable Housing 
 
The Green Space Strategy 2019 – 2024 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



 
 

CONSULTATION 
No Objections received from: 

 Archaeology 
 Conservation 
 Natural England 
 Severn Trent 

 
No objections subject to conditions/contributions have been received from: 

 Education 
 Ecology 
 Economic Development 
 Environmental Protection 
 Housing Policy 
 ICB  
 Local Highway Authority (LHA) 
 Local Lead Flood Authority (LLFA) 
 Green Space 
 Sport England 
 Sport – Internal 
 Urban Design 
 West Midlands Fire Service (WMFS) 
 West Midlands Police (WMP) 

 
Objections from: 

 Keresley Parish Council (KPC) 
o Increase in traffic 
o Lack of bus service 
o No direct access for walkers or cyclists 

 
 North Warwickshire Borough Council (NWBC) 

o Principle of development 
o No bus services and therefore unsustainable. 
o Supports Warwickshire County Council’s objection. 

 
 Warwickshire County Council (WCC) 

o In correct visibility splays shown It has not been shown that safe and 
suitable access can be achieved 

 
Immediate neighbours and local councillors were originally notified on 15th June 2023; a 
site notice was posted, and a press notice was published in the Coventry Telegraph on 
22nd June 2023. 
 
26no. letters of objection were received, raising the following material planning 
considerations: 

 Principle of development 
 Need for development 
 Impact on traffic 
 No bus service 

Page 29



 
 

 Impact on infrastructure 
 Impact on woodland 
 Impact on ancient hedgerows 
 Impact on Ecology 

 
APPRAISAL 
 
POLICY BACKGROUND 
The National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 11, states that “Plans and decisions 
should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development. For Decision Making, 
this means: - 
c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan 
without delay; or 
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most 
important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless: i. 
the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or ii. Any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 
when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.” Footnote 8 to 
paragraph 11 confirms that this includes situations where the local authority cannot 
demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites. 
 
The Coventry Local Plan was formally adopted on 6th December 2017. Since it was 
adopted, the Government introduced the Standard Method, a standardised way of 
calculating minimum housing need. As the Local Plan is now more than five years old the 
Standard Method is now the determining factor when considering local housing need. 
When using the Standard Method, the Council is not able to demonstrate a five-year 
housing land supply. As such, the tilted balance is engaged and therefore planning 
permission should be granted, unless “any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits” when assessed against the policies 
of the NPPF taken as a whole. 
 
 
PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT 
Policy H1 of the Coventry Local Plan states future housing will be designed to create new 
and stable communities. 
 
Policies H2 of the Coventry Local Plan Housing Allocations, table 4.2 Site Allocations for 
Housing of the Coventry Local Plan sets out the sites which are allocated for housing 
development. The site is an allocated housing site under Policy H2:6 of the Coventry 
Local Plan 2017. 
 
The housing numbers contained with the allocation are considered to be indicative. It 
is noted that the column within Policy H2 of the Coventry Local Plan states ‘total’ for the 
number of dwelling(s) proposed. In this specific instance, the “total” column is the volume 
of dwellings on each site that the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 
(SHLAA) process has attributed to each allocation, some of which are made up of several 

Page 30



 
 

parcels of land and/or future application areas. There is no inference, either implicit or 
explicit, in either the Plan or the SHLAA, that “total” should be read as “maximum”. 
However, the preceding Coventry Local Plan policy, Policy H1 Housing Land 
Requirements and the introduction to the Coventry Local Plan and the housing chapter, 
it is clear that the housing need for the city is substantial, far in excess of what can be 
provided for within the city boundary, and that we are meeting a minimum volume of 
dwellings through the allocation process, as per the table in Policy H2 of the Coventry 
Local Plan. It is therefore a reasonable interpretation that the total column in the allocation 
table in Policy H2 of the Coventry Local Plan to be an indicative requirement. 
 
Policy DS4 (Part A) – General Masterplan principles states where the site is identified as 
an allocation within the Local Plan it should plan positively to meet in full the requirements 
identified within the relevant policies associated with the allocation. Where the proposal 
represents a phase or phases of a wider scheme however, the quantum of development 
should reflect the relative size and characteristics of the phase, including its position 
within the wider site. 
 
Policy DS4 (Part C) - In addition to the general principles outlined in Policy DS4 (Part A) 
of the Coventry Local Plan, the development proposals which relate to this area should 
also have regard to the relevant requirements which include the incorporation of the 
recommendations of the Council’s SUE Design Guidance SPD.  Identify clear access 
points to the site and make appropriate provisions for new transport infrastructure and 
highway improvements to support the comprehensive delivery of the site. This should 
include: a) The provision of a new Link Road in accordance with Policy H2. The Link 
Road should be operational to traffic prior to the full completion of all development 
components within the SUE; b) The delivery of the Link Road should not be to the 
detriment of ProLogis Park; and c) The management of the existing highway junctions at 
Bennetts Road, Tamworth Road, Fivefield Road, Sandpits Lane, Thompsons Lane, Long 
Lane and Watery Lane to ensure they continue to operate in a safe and appropriate way. 
 
This is an allocated housing site in the Coventry Local Plan 2017 and the principle of 
residential development is acceptable. 
 
Principle of Residential 
Policies H2 of the Coventry Local Plan Housing Allocations, table 4.2 Site Allocations 
for Housing of the Coventry Local Plan, sets out the sites which are allocated for 
housing development. 
 
The application site is part of housing allocation Policy H2:1 Keresley SUE.  Policy H2:1 
sets out the allocation requirements.  The entire allocation requires: - 

 Retail space within local centres (policy R1). 
 Distributor link road connecting Long Lane and Winding House Lane to be fully 

operational prior to the full completion of the SUE.  
 Surrounding junction improvements as appropriate and identified through a 

robust TA. 
 Provision of 1 x 2FE primary school and contributions towards a 8FE secondary 

school. 

Page 31



 
 

 Retention of medieval fishponds, ancient woodlands, important (ancient) 
hedgerows. 

 Creation of publicly accessible green corridor along the Hall Brook and enhanced 
connectivity between the ancient woodlands.  

 Protection of Jubilee Wood 
 Inclusion of appropriate screening to existing residential areas. 

Policy DS4 (Part A) – General Masterplan principles states where the site is identified 
as an allocation within the Local Plan it should plan positively to meet in full the 
requirements identified within the relevant policies associated with the allocation.  
Where the proposal represents a phase or phases of a wider scheme however, the 
quantum of development should reflect the relative size and characteristics of the 
phase, including its position within the wider site. 
 
Where possible, all proposals should be planned in a comprehensive and integrated 
manner reflecting partnership working with relevant stakeholders. Where proposals 
represent a phase of a larger development the Masterplan should have full regard to 
any adjoining land parcels and development proposals to ensure it delivers appropriate 
parts of the strategic or site-wide infrastructure and other relevant features. This should 
support the wider delivery of the comprehensive scheme. 
 
Policy DS4 (Part C) - Keresley SUE Specific Masterplan Principles, states in addition to 
the general principles outlined in Policy DS4 (Part A), development proposals which 
relate to the Keresley SUE area should also have regard to the relevant requirements 
below: 

i) Incorporate the recommendations of the Council’s SUE Design Guidance 
SPD; 

ii) Ensure that the planned Local Centres are located at separate ends (north 
and south) in accordance with Policy R1; 

iii) Ensure the new defensible boundaries to the Green Belt are clearly 
supported on the western side of the site to Tamworth Road and to the north 
around Thompsons Lane; 

iv) Establish a comprehensive green and blue infrastructure corridor focused 
around the Ancient Woodlands, Hounds Hill and the Hall Brook. This corridor 
should run north-south between the Burrow Hill Fort to the north and the 
Jubilee Woodland to the south east; and 

v) Identify clear access points to the site and make appropriate provisions for 
new transport infrastructure and highway improvements to support the 
comprehensive delivery of the site. This should include: 
a) The provision of a new Link Road in accordance with Policy H2. The Link 

Road should be operational to traffic prior to the full completion of all 
development components within the SUE; 

b) The delivery of the Link Road should not be to the detriment of ProLogis 
Park; and 

c) The management of the existing highway junctions at Bennetts Road, 
Tamworth Road, Fivefield Road, Sandpits Lane, Thompsons Lane, Long 
Lane and Watery Lane to ensure they continue to operate in a safe and 
appropriate way. 

 
 

Page 32



 
 

Retail Space 
The local centre already benefits from a detailed consent and will be provided adjacent 
to Bennetts Road as part of the land currently being developed by Taylor Wimpey.  
 
Distributor link road and Junction Improvements 
The Distributor Link Road called the Keresley Link Road (KLR) is located through the 
Taylor Wimpey Site from Tamworth Road, eastwards, over the Hall Brook, through the 
Bellway site, then the Vistry Group site before it meets Bennetts Road. 
 
The KLR will not have an impact on this site. 
 
Primary School 
The new primary school is located elsewhere within the SUE within the Taylor Wimpey 
site and was approved under OUT/2014/2282 and subsequent S73 application 
S73/2020/0285. This will be located adjacent to Bennetts Road. 
 
In conclusion, the principle of development is considered to be acceptable.   
 
 
DENSITY 
Policy H9 of the Coventry Local Plan is concerned with housing density in order to 
promote sustainable urban regeneration.  The assessment of recent developments has 
shown that the density and mix of residential development largely reflects local density 
patterns, and this should continue. In order to support urban regeneration and high-
quality design, development must ensure that land is used as intensively as possible 
whilst remaining compatible with the quality, character and amenity of the surrounding 
area. 
 
Therefore, outside of the Ring Road (The A4053) a minimum of 30 dwellings per 
hectare (net) should be provided on Greenfield sites. 
 
When considering density, it is also important to ensure it is considered alongside other 
essential onsite provisions such as appropriate levels of amenity space, landscaping 
and any appropriate onsite infrastructure.  
 
As such, the Council’s policy is set in the context of net densities that seek to maintain: 

 at least 20% of gross site area to remain undeveloped on sites in excess of 2ha, 
and 

 at least 15% of gross site area to remain undeveloped on sites below 2ha. 
The application is in outline form with only access being discharged.  
 
The site area is approximately 1.45ha which will require 15% to remain undeveloped 
landscaped areas, managed by a company, this amounts to at least 0.22ha.   
 
The amount of landscaped areas required will be controlled by a suitably worded 
condition. 
 
The application is in accordance with Policy H9. 
 

Page 33



 
 

However, alongside this requirement is the allocation requirement of the retention of 
medieval fishponds, ancient woodlands, important (ancient) hedgerows. 
 
These areas are discussed in more detail below. 
 
 
OPEN SPACE AND PARKS 
Open Space – Development Provision 
Policy GE1 of the Coventry Local Plan states new development proposals should make 
provision for green infrastructure to ensure that such development is integrated into the 
landscape and contributes to improvements in connectivity and public access, 
biodiversity, landscape conservation, design, archaeology and recreation. 
 
The application submission proposes a maximum of 40no. units. 
 
Having calculated the number of people generated by development, the minimum 
requirement for each form of open space is to be calculated using the information 
contained within the Open Space SPD. 
 
The site will contribute £47,109.89 towards play equipment to be installed at Coundon 
Park which is the nearest Neighbourhood Equipped Area of Play (NEAP) and is 
required to provide at least 0.2ha of informal open space on the site. 
 
The monies towards the NEAP at Coundon Park will be secured via S106 agreement. 
 
The quantum of informal open space on site will be secured via a suitably worded 
condition which will require the outstanding reserved matters to come forward in 
accordance with it. 
 
 
ARCHAEOLOGY 
The application site is located within an area of historically predominantly rural 
character. The site itself is a mixture of pasture, covering much of the site, and a small 
amount of built development. The dwelling appears on the same or similar footprint 
dating back to the 1843 Enclosure Map, suggesting some elements of historic 
significance may have survived.  
 
Hall Yard Wood is an Archaeological Constraint Area and mentioned in the 1410-11 St 
Marys Cartulary.  
 
The application was supported by the following reports: 

 REPORT - Statement of Significance, dated 20th April 2023 - Report Ref:P19-
2127 

 REPORT - Heritage Desk-Based Assessment, dated 27th October 2022 - Report 
Ref:P19-2127 

 REPORT - Archaeological Evaluation, dated 10th April 2023 - Report 
Ref:MK0874_1. 

 

Page 34



 
 

The applicants’ archaeological consultants have undertaken a series of investigations, 
comprising a desk-based assessment, geophysical survey and programme of trial 
trenching to evaluate the area of proposed development.  
 
These investigations have concluded that the redevelopment of the site will not have 
any archaeological impact. 
 
Consequently, officers are satisfied that the development can proceed without any further 
archaeological intervention. 
 
 
HOUSING MIX 
Policy H4 of the Coventry Local Plan requires proposals for residential development to 
include a mix of market housing which contributes towards a balance of house types 
and sizes across the city as set out within the ‘Coventry & Warwickshire Housing & 
Economic Development Needs Assessment (HEDNA), dated November 2022. 
The HEDNA suggests a mix of market housing as the following: 
1 bedroom 2 bedroom 3 bedroom 4+ bedroom 
10% 40% 40% 10% 

 
Whilst the site is in outline form it is for a maximum of 40no dwellings. 
 
The requirement would be four, one-bedroomed and four, four-bedroomed dwellings 
and 16no dwellings for two and three bedroomed dwellings. 
 
A condition will require full details of the housing mix to be provided at reserved matters 
stage, taking account of the requirements of the latest housing need evidence. 
 
 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
The development at 40no. units is above the threshold of 25no units as set out within 
Policy H6 of the Coventry Local Plan.  Therefore, 25% affordable housing would be 
required.  This amounts to a gross figure of 10no dwellings. 
 
This has been agreed and will be secured via the S106 agreement. 
 
 
SPORTING PROVISION 
The proposal contains no indoor sporting provision nor any formal playing pitches. 
 
Indoor Sporting Provision and Artificial Grass Pitch (AGP)’s 
The population of the proposed development is estimated to be 96no based on an 
average household occupancy rate of 2.4. This additional population will generate 
additional demand for sports facilities. If this demand is not adequately met then it may 
place additional pressure on existing sports facilities, thereby creating or exacerbating 
deficiencies in facility provision.  
 
The City Council has adopted Sport England Sports Facilities Calculator (SFC) which 
seeks to ensure that the development meets any new community sports facility needs 

Page 35



 
 

arising as a result of the development. 
 
The Sport England’s Sports Facilities Calculator (SFC) indicates that a population of 96 
in this local authority area will generate a demand for:  

 Pools: 1.05 sqm of pool space costing £20,595 
 Playing Pitches: 0.07 pitches costing £6,670 
 Artificial Grass Pitches: 0.00 pitches costing £3,695 for 3G. 
 Ancillary facilities, £18,132.00 
 £30,720 towards maintenance 

 
A total of £79,812.00 is being secured via S106 agreement. 
 
 
HIGHWAYS IMPACTS 
Policy AC1 ‘Accessible Transport Network’ of the Coventry Local Plan states that 
development proposals which are expected to generate additional trips on the transport 
network should:  
a) Integrate with existing transport networks including roads, public transport and 
walking and cycling routes to promote access by a choice of transport modes.  
b) Consider the transport and accessibility needs of everyone living, working or visiting 
the city.  
c) Support the delivery of new and improved high-quality local transport networks which 
are closely integrated into the built form.  
d) Actively support the provision and integration of emerging and future intelligent 
mobility infrastructure. 
 
Policy AC2 of the Coventry Local Plan states new development proposals which are 
predicted to have a negative impact on the capacity and/or safety of the highway 
network should mitigate and manage the traffic growth which they are predicted to 
generate to ensure that they do not cause unacceptable levels of traffic congestion, 
highway safety problems and poor air quality’. Highway mitigation and management 
measures should focus firstly on demand management measures (Policy AC3) 
including the promotion of sustainable modes of travel, and secondly on the delivery of 
appropriate highway capacity interventions. Highway capacity interventions should be 
appropriate to the scale of development and expected impact and will be determined 
through the associated Transport Assessment. 
 
There have been a number of objections to not only to the application but on how the 
entire SUE has been modelled and whether the modelling is correct, robust etc. 
 
The Coventry Area Strategic Model (CASM) is a tool that has been developed to 
produce traffic figures and distribution for strategic development in Coventry.  The 
Coventry Area Strategic Model CASM is run and maintained by WSP under contract to 
Coventry City Council, who are commissioned by developers to run the model for 
proposed sites. 
 
The Coventry Area Strategic Model (CASM) is the base model, used for all 
applications, has been validated to WebTAG standards.  It accurately represents 
what was being seen on the ground in 2019.   Due to Covid restrictions and the 

Page 36



 
 

ongoing effect this had on travel patterns the City Council has Local Highway 
Authority (LHA) are currently unable to update the model, the Department for 
Transport (DfT) advises Local Authorities that they should be able to update their 
models in early 2023.  
 
The validated base Coventry Area Strategic Model (CASM) was used to produce a 
forecast model to the year 2026.  The forecast includes all committed development, 
in and around the model area, and a growth in background traffic, using industry 
standard software called TEMPro.  
 
TEMPro is a software package that uses National Traffic Forecasts and amends 
them with National Trip End Model forecasts, local data, to predict traffic figures for 
committed and expected developments.  In the West Midlands Local Plans are in 
most cases mature and are delivering development as expected.   As such TEMPro 
growth factors are considered robust in this area.  
 
A number of sites are of particular concern to the objectors, namely, Birmingham 
Airport, HS2 hub and the Amazon warehouse. 
 
These three sites are dealt with differently within the Coventry Area Strategic Model 
(CASM) for the following reasons: 
 

 The HS2 Hub is not planned to come onto the highway network until 2029 at the 
earliest and therefore is not included within the 2026 Coventry Area Strategic 
Model (CASM). 

 The Amazon warehouse is planned to come onto the highway network by 2026 
and is therefore included within the 2026 Coventry Area Strategic Model 
(CASM). 

 Birmingham Airport is planned to come onto the highway network by 2026 and is 
therefore included, with its expected growth to 2026, within the 2026 Coventry 
Area Strategic Model (CASM). 

 
Notwithstanding the above, all the applications relating to the SUE allocation have also 
been modelled using TEMPro to create a 2031 model.   These figures include all the sites 
mentioned above and reflect the respective traffic movements both within and to and from 
the model for that time.  
 
While developing the mitigation strategy for the current allocations within the 
Coventry Local Plan, the City Council undertook an exercise called the Coventry 
North Project.   This created a 2041 Coventry Area Strategic Model CASM model 
which included Birmingham Airport and HS2 Hub at full capacity; all the allocations 
within the Coventry Local Plan, including the amazon Warehouse together with 
growth factors to consider potential development beyond the Local Plan.  
 
This project demonstrated that the Keresley Link Road (KLR) is the best solution for 
development traffic expected in this area.  
 
Therefore, to recap, all planned development not only within our administration 
boundary and beyond has been modelled correctly and robustly. 
 

Page 37



 
 

The application has been supported by a Transport Assessment, REPORT - Transport 
Statement, dated 1st November 2022 - Report Ref:933-TS - Rev 6, which assesses the 
impact of the development on the local highway network using the Coventry Area 
Strategic Model (CASM) mentioned above. 
 
 
VEHICLE ACCESS TO THE SITE 
On submission, it was apparent from the transport statement that vehicle speeds along 
Tamworth Road have not been measured by the applicant. From sat nav data available 
to Warwickshire County Council (the neighbouring highway authority) it has been 
shown that vehicles travel up to 74mph on the northbound approach and up to 62mph 
in the southbound direction on this section of Tamworth Road. 
 
The comments of Warwickshire Country Council and North Warwickshire Council are 
noted however, Coventry City Council (CCC) has installed Average Speed Enforcement 
cameras along Tamworth Road with a speed limit of 40mph and as the access is 
entirely within Coventry City Council’s (CCC) administrative area and thus falls to 
Coventry City Council’s (CCC) as Local Highway Authority (LHA) to determine whether 
the proposed site access is acceptable. 
 
The application has been supported by the following drawings which demonstrate that a 
Fire Tender and Refuse Vehicle can enter and exit the site safely. 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Proposed Site Access Off Tamworth Road Visibility and 
Stopping Sight Distances - Drawing No.AAC5671-RPS-xx-xx-DR-C-603 S4 P02 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Proposed Site Access Off Tamworth Road Longitudinal 
Section of Road 1 - Drawing No.AAC5671-RPS-xx-xx-DR-C-602 S4 P02 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Proposed Site Access Off Tamworth Road General 
Arrangement - Drawing No.AAC5671-RPS-xx-xx-DR-C-601 S4 P03 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Proposed Site Access Off Tamworth Road Location 
Plan - Drawing No.AAC5671-RPS-xx-xx-DR-C-600 S4 P03 

 DRAWING - Refuse Tracking Site Access - Drawing No.AAC5671-RPS-xx-xx-
DR-C-114-01 S4 P01 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Refuse Tracking Site Access - Drawing No.AAC5671-
RPS-xx-xx-DR-C-114-01 S4 P02 

 
A road safety Audit (RSA) has been submitted, REPORT - Stage 1 Road Safety Audit, 
dated 19th April 2023 - Report Ref:SA 4061 Revision and REPORT - S278 RSA1 
Report Revision, dated 4th May 2023 -Report Ref:SA4061 Rev 1. 
 
Taking all of the above into account the Local Highway Authority (LHA) raises no 
objection to the principle of development and the access to the site. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 38



 
 

SUSTAINABLE TRASNPORT 
 
Bus Service 
The acceptability of the development depended on several aspects related to 
sustainable transport. One of these is the provision of high-quality bus infrastructure.   
 
The development is subject to financial contributions which are discussed below.  
However, the site is paying towards an extension to the new Tamworth Road bus 
service and provision of Demand Responsive Transport (DRT). 
 
Cycle Infrastructure 
The development is subject to financial contributions which are discussed below.  
However, the site is contributing to the city wide super cycle highways and is providing 
a West Midlands Cycle Hire docking station on site. 
 
Taking all of the above into account the Local Highway Authority (LHA) raises no 
objection to the principle of development and the access to the site. 
 
 
STREET TYPOLOGIES 
Through the application site it is anticipated that the main road into the site will start off 
by being an “Internal” road, before reducing down to a ‘Lane’ typology in accordance 
with the Urban Extension Design Guide SPD (UEDG).  
 
The whole concept of the Lanes typologies relies on a more organic appearance with 
street furniture, variable widths and a change to the building line made to accentuate 
speed control and a more attractive Streetscene. The geometry should definitely be 
tightened up to promote speed control, alongside in-carriageway traffic calming by way 
of narrowing’s, tree planting and SuDS build-outs should all be features to incorporate.  
 
The application is in outline form with only access being discharged, therefore the 
outstanding matters relating to the appearance and scale of the houses, the layout of 
the site and the landscaping will require a separate application.  
 
The elements that the site must provide will be controlled by a suitable worded 
condition. 
 
 
ECOLOGY, BIODIVERSITY AND TREES 
Ecology and Biodiversity 
Policy GE3 of the Coventry Local Plan states that Sites of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSSIs), Local Nature Reserves (LNRs), Ancient Woodlands, Local Wildlife and 
Geological Sites will be protected and enhanced. 
 
Policy GE3 establishes that developments should provide a net gain and where this is 
not possible provide some form of offsetting.  would be increased when the 
recommended biodiversity enhancements are included. 
 
The site is located immediately east of existing green belt, within 15 m of Hall Yard 
Wood (local wildlife site, ancient woodland), and within 500m of further local wildlife 

Page 39



 
 

sites (Bunsons Wood, Pikehorne wood). 
 
There are no notable wildlife records on the site itself. There are records of six different 
bat species in the area. Great crested newts have been recorded in a pond less than 
50m west of the west side of the site, across the Tamworth Road. Further great crested 
newt records exist to the south, approximately 500m away.  
 
The site occupies a highly strategic area for woodland connectivity, as it divides Hall 
Yard wood from woodland to the south and west, connecting through to Pikehorne 
wood.  There is also quite close connectivity to Lord’s wood through this site. Any 
development on this site should therefore seek to prioritise the reconnection of these 
woodland habitats. 
 
The current application includes an ecological impact assessment (non EIA) that 
includes a bat survey, great crested newt survey and badger survey. 
 
A preliminary roost assessment and emergence survey was carried out for the existing 
buildings on the site, and a large number of roosts were identified on the main 
residential building. A maternity roost for common pipistrelles (max count of 89 bats), a 
hibernation roost for soprano pipistrelle, and an additional eight-day roosts. The 
potential for building demolition to have a negative impact on local bat populations is 
therefore large. The ecological assessment states that a new roost will be created in 
one of the new houses.  Natural England will control the licencing of this element, 
however, the requirement for bat mitigation will be controlled by a suitable worded 
condition with which the outstanding reserved matters relating to the appearance and 
scale of the houses, the layout of the site and the landscaping will have to come 
forward in accordance with. 
 
Great crested newt surveying (habitat suitability assessment, population sampling, 
eDNA sampling) found three ponds with high suitability for great crested newts 
supporting a population in the area, including a large pond immediately north of the site, 
to the south west corner of Hall Yard Wood. This pond is less than 10m from the site, 
so the potential for great crested newts to be using the site is high, particularly in 
hedgerows and shrub areas around the site boundary.  
 
Overall, the environmental impact assessment identified potential negative impacts on 
bats, great crested newts, badgers, other terrestrial wild mammals (e.g. hedgehog, 
brown hare) and nesting birds. 
 
The biodiversity Impact Assessment (BIA) states that biodiversity net gain will be 
achieved via woodland creation to the field to the north of the development site, which 
falls outside of the Coventry boundary.  
 
This is accepted and will be secured via S106 agreement. 
 
Trees 
Policy GE4 of the Coventry Local Plan states that trees make a valuable contribution to 
the city’s green landscape. New developments should seek to retain existing trees and 
other landscape features, incorporating them into a high-quality design and landscape 

Page 40



 
 

proposals where possible. Should loss be unavoidable, compensatory provision of new 
trees should be proposed as part of a well-designed landscape scheme. 
 
To the northeast of the site is Hall Yard Wood, an Ancient Woodland and a Local 
Wildlife Site (LWS).  The site is separated from Hall Yard Wood by the adjacent plot.  At 
the narrowest point there is a 14m separation distance increasing to 45m as you 
traverse south westwards towards Fivefield Road. 
 
The site is bounded on all sides by mature hedging and tree planting, save for two 
existing access points, one access point via Fivefield Road and the second is a field 
access boundary between the northern part of the site and the field beyond. 
 
It must also be noted, that the boundary of the City runs along the northern boundary 
with the site, therefore the field to the north which has an access from the site is not 
within the City’s Administration boundary. 
 
Ancient Woodland 
Ancient woodland takes hundreds of years to establish and is defined as an 
irreplaceable habitat. It is a valuable natural asset important for: 

 wildlife (which include rare and threatened species); 
 soils; 
 carbon capture and storage; 
 contributing to the seed bank and genetic diversity; 
 recreation, health and wellbeing; 
 cultural, historical and landscape value. 

It’s any area that’s been wooded continuously since at least 1600 AD. It includes: 
 ancient semi-natural woodland mainly made up of trees and shrubs native to the 

site, usually arising from natural regeneration 
 plantations on ancient woodland sites - replanted with conifer or broadleaved 

trees that retain ancient woodland features, such as undisturbed soil, ground 
flora and fungi 

When making planning decisions, you should consider: 
 conserving and enhancing biodiversity. 
 avoiding and reducing the level of impact of the proposed development on 

ancient woodland and ancient and veteran trees. 
 
The NPPF paragraph 180 (c) states: - 
 
‘Development resulting in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable habitats (such as 
ancient woodland and ancient or veteran trees) should be refused, unless there are 
exceptional reasons and a suitable compensation strategy exists.’ 
 
Ancient woodland, ancient trees and veteran trees are irreplaceable. Therefore, you 
should not consider proposed compensation measures as part of your assessment of the 
merits of the development proposal. 
 

Page 41



 
 

Mitigation measures 
Mitigation measures will depend on the type of development. They could include: - 

 putting up screening barriers to protect ancient woodland or ancient and veteran 
trees from dust and pollution 

 measures to reduce noise or light 
 designing open space to protect ancient or veteran trees 
 rerouting footpaths and managing vegetation to deflect trampling pressure away 

from sensitive locations 
 creating buffer zones. 

 
Use of buffer zones 
Buffer zones can protect ancient woodland and individual ancient and veteran trees and 
provide valuable habitat for woodland wildlife, such as feeding bats and birds. The size 
and type of buffer zone should vary depending on the: 

 scale and type of development and its effect on ancient woodland, ancient and 
veteran trees 

 character of the surrounding area 

For example, larger buffer zones are more likely to be needed if the surrounding area 
is: 

 less densely wooded 
 close to residential areas 
 steeply sloped. 

 
Buffer zone recommendations 
The NPPG states for ancient woodlands, that they should have a buffer zone of at least 
15 metres from the boundary of the woodland to avoid root damage (known as the root 
protection area). Where assessment shows other impacts are likely to extend beyond this 
distance, the proposal is likely to need a larger buffer zone. For example, the effect of air 
pollution from development that results in a significant increase in traffic. 

For ancient or veteran trees (including those on the woodland boundary), the buffer 
zone should be at least 15 times larger than the diameter of the tree. The buffer zone 
should be 5 metres from the edge of the tree’s canopy if that area is larger than 15 
times the tree’s diameter. This will create a minimum root protection area. 

Where assessment shows other impacts are likely to extend beyond this distance, the 
proposal is likely to need a larger buffer zone. 

Where possible, a buffer zone should: 
 contribute to wider ecological networks 
 be part of the green infrastructure of the area 

A buffer zone should consist of semi-natural habitats such as: 
 woodland 
 a mix of scrub, grassland, heathland and wetland. 

 
The Trees & Development Guidelines for Coventry (T&D) SPD states: ‘The National 
Practice Guidance issued by the Forestry Commission and Natural England 'Ancient 

Page 42



 
 

woodland and veteran trees: protecting them from development' currently recommends 
that they require a Root Protection Area (RPA) buffer radius equivalent to x15 times 
their trunk diameter rather than the x12 trunk diameter given by BS 5837:2012, or 5m 
from the edge of its canopy, whichever is the greater.’ 
 
At paragraph 2.40 of the ‘The Trees & Development Guidelines for Coventry’ (T&D) 
SPD states: ‘It is the Council’s view that there is no ‘one size fits all’ approach to buffer 
design, or in respect of Ancient Semi-natural Woodland, Ancient Trees & Veteran Trees 
which is backed up by recent research13. Each proposal should be designed to fulfil the 
sensitivity of species and woodland specific requirements of its location and the type 
of scale of development proposed plus type and scale of likely direct and indirect 
damage. Nevertheless, the minimum buffer of an Ancient Woodland should be the 
minimum recommended buffer to the PPG at the time. As a precautionary principle, 
the Council will apply this most recent (national) minimum buffer as the starting point 
for assessing and maintaining buffer zones in relation to development proposals.’ 
 
Many objections have been raised which state a 50m buffer should be included as 
advised by the Woodlands Trust.  However, this has been rejected as an amendment to 
the Environment Bill 2021.  The Environment Bill 2021, as of 9th November 2021, is a 
law that sets parameters as to how the environment should be protected and it did not 
increase the ancient woodland buffer requirement from 15m to 50m. 
 
Consistent with the other parcels of land and subsequent applications a 20m sterile buffer 
zone with a further 10m buffer zone to any structures, is required.  The 20m – 30m will 
allow for roads and footpaths. 
 
This will be controlled by a suitable worded condition and S106 agreement. 
 
Loss of Trees / Hedges 
The application has been supported by an Arboricultural Impact Assessment and a 
Tree Condition Survey, dated October 2021 - Report Ref:1022-10040 Rev 1. 
 
The baseline report identified a total of 28no. individual trees, 17no Category C and 
11no Category B; 10no hedges, five Category C and three Category B; eight groups of 
trees, all Category C and one Ancient Woodland (Hall Yard Wood). 
 
Of these trees, the following will be removed: - 
T23 – Sycamore - category B. 
H2 – mixed hedge - category C, and 
H7 – mixed hedge - category C. 
 
The retention of all existing boundary hedgerows is of high importance, therefore, all 
retained hedgerows are required to be in public management, therefore, they cannot be 
in the houses garden, they are required to have the houses fronting onto the hedgerows. 
 
This will be controlled by a suitably worded condition. 
 
 
 
 

Page 43



 
 

DRAINAGE 
Policy EM4 of the Coventry Local Plan states all major development must be assessed 
in respect of the level of floor risk from all sources. 
 
Policy EM5 of the Coventry Local Plan states all development must apply SuDS and 
should ensure that surface water runoff is managed as close to its source as possible. 
 
Shared surface access areas should make use of permeable paving. Private drives 
should not fall towards the adopted highway and should be provided with adequate 
drainage provision to onsite that property flooding is avoided.  Property levels should 
not be below the level of the highway and should be clearly protected from flooding 
under exceedance conditions. 
 
Where cellular attenuation is proposed, it should be provided in locations, as close as 
possible to the point of generation and the method of filling/draining should be in 
accordance with figs 21.6/21.7 of the SuDS manual. 
 
Where projected exceedance flows are shown to lie within developed areas these 
should be actively intercepted or directed around residential development. 
 
The SuDs is required to be designed to look natural with permanently / seasonally wet 
areas in the base (not necessarily covering the entire base) and should include suitable 
aquatic planting. 
 
The sides of the ponds should have a variable side slope enabling access (ideally 
between 1:3 – 1:5 or better). 
 
Ponds should be integrated into the open space in which they are located with paths 
around them and suitable seating provision for the purposes of leisure and maintenance 
as appropriate. 
 
The Local Lead Flood Authority (LLFA) raises not objections to the proposal subject to 
a condition requiring full details of the SUDs to be submitted with the reserved matters 
application. 
 
 
IMPACT ON VISUAL AMENITY 
Policy DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan seeks to ensure high quality design and 
development proposals must respect and enhance their surroundings and positively 
contribute towards the local identity and character of an area. 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 130 states that “Planning policies 
and decisions should ensure that developments: 

a) will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short 
term but over the lifetime of the development; 

b) are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and 
effective landscaping; 

c) are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging 
appropriate innovation or change (such as increased densities); 

Page 44



 
 

d) establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, 
spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and 
distinctive places to live, work and visit; 

e) optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate 
amount and mix of development (including green and other public space) and 
support local facilities and transport networks; and 

f) create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health 
and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; and 
where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of 
life or community cohesion and resilience. 

 
The NPPF further states (at paragraph 134) “Permission should be refused for 
development of that is not well designed that fails to reflect local design policies and 
government guidance on design.  Conversely, significant weight should be given to: 

a) development which reflects local design policies and government guidance on 
design; and/or 

b) outstanding or innovative designs which promote high levels of sustainability or 
help raise the standard of design more generally in an area, so long as they fit in 
with the overall form and layout of their surroundings. 

 
LPAs should seek to ensure that the quality of approved development is not materially 
diminished between permission and completion, as a result of changes being made to 
the permitted scheme (for example through changes to approved details such as the 
materials used).” (Paragraph 135no.). 
 
The application is in outline form with all matters reserved except access.  
 
The matters of layout, scale, appearance and landscaping are reserved matters and 
therefore these details will be submitted at a later date and therefore do not form part of 
the assessment of this current application. 
 
 
AIR QUALITY 
Policy H1 of the Coventry Local Plan states future housing will be designed to create 
new and stable communities.   
 
Policy H3 of the Coventry Local Plan states that new development must provide a high-
quality residential environment which assists in delivering urban regeneration or 
creating sustainable communities and which overall enhances the built environment. A 
suitable residential environment includes safe and appropriate access, adequate 
amenity space and parking provision and be safe from pollution. 
 
Policy EM7 of the Coventry Local Plan states major development proposals will require 
the submission of an air quality assessment, as they may lead to a significant 
deterioration in local air quality resulting in unacceptable effects on human health, local 
amenity or the natural environment.  
 
The Air Quality SPD simplifies the consideration of air quality impacts associated with 
development schemes and focus on incorporation of mitigation at the design stage, 

Page 45



 
 

countering the cumulative impacts of aggregated developments, providing clarity to 
developers and defining ‘sustainability’ in air quality terms. 
 
The Site is located within the Coventry citywide Air Quality Management Area which 
was designated for the potential exceedance of the annual mean nitrogen dioxide 
(NO2) air quality objective.  
 
An Air Quality Assessment has been submitted with the application REPORT - Air 
Quality Assessment, dated 25th April 2023 - Report Ref:AQA-22498-22-371 Rev A. 
 
In agreement with the full assessment the development will be expected to provide: 

 A minimum of 1 x electric vehicle charging point shall be provided per dwelling 
prior to occupation and be maintained and available for use at all times thereafter 
(this is now a Building Regulation requirement) 

 Gas boilers shall be ultra-low NOx emissions with a maximum dry NOx 
emissions rate of 40mg/kWh 

 
This will be controlled by a suitably worded condition. 
 
 
 
NOISE 
Policy H1 of the Coventry Local Plan states future housing will be designed to create 
new and stable communities.   
 
Policy H3 of the Coventry Local Plan states that new development must provide a high-
quality residential environment which assists in delivering urban regeneration or 
creating sustainable communities and which overall enhances the built environment. A 
suitable residential environment includes safe and appropriate access, adequate 
amenity space and parking provision and be safe from pollution. 
 
The submitted Noise Assessment, Baseline Noise Assessment, dated 7th October 
2022 - Report Ref: Fivefield Road, Keresley -1013390-AM-20220929-Baseline noise 
assessment-Rev 1 recommends that all gardens whose boundaries lie adjacent to 
Tamworth Road and Fivefield Road are required to have a 1.8m high fence installed.  
This would mean the majority of roadside frontage would be taken up with solid fencing.   
 
As referred to under the tree section above.  All the existing boundary trees and 
hedging is required to be retained, within public ownership, i.e. no back gardens 
backing onto it, with houses facing onto it.   
  
The AMENDED DRAWING - Parameters Plan - Drawing No.PL005 shows edge roads 
with houses fronting and therefore facing the hedgerows. 
 
 
CONTAMINATED LAND 
Policy EM6 of the Coventry Local Plan seeks to ensure that redevelopment of 
previously developed land does not have a negative impact on water quality, either 
directly through pollution of surface or ground water or indirectly through the treatment 
of wastewater by whatever means. 

Page 46



 
 

 
The application was supported by  

 REPORT - Ground Investigation, dated March 2021 - Report Ref:1911J-02 
 REPORT - Desk Study & Preliminary Risk Assessment, dated November 2020 - 

Report Ref:19111J-01 
 REPORT - Ground Investigation - Gas Addendum, dated 8th February 2021 - 

Report Ref:19111J-03-LRO01. 
 
Environmental Protection are content with the recommendations for gas protection 
measures in-line with Characteristic Situation 2 in the ground investigation report.  
 
The report recommends further investigative works to determine the extent of 
contamination, therefore this element can be controlled by a suitably worded condition.   
 
 
INFRASTRUCTURE REQUIREMENTS 
All the comments and objections submitted which raise concerns regarding the impact 
on services such as schools and doctors, the highways network, drainage and flooding 
and other infrastructure pressures are noted and can be answered as follows: - 
 
Paragraph 55 of the NPPF states local planning authorities should consider whether 
otherwise unacceptable development could be made acceptable through the use of 
conditions or planning obligations.   
 
This includes setting out the levels and types of affordable housing provision required, 
along with other infrastructure (such as that needed for education, health, transport, 
flood and water management, and green and blue infrastructure).  
 
Where planning conditions are considered the acceptable way to mitigate against any 
harm that may arise, they have been noted under the relevant sections, with the 
specific condition given. 
 
However, there are other areas which cannot be mitigated against solely by the 
imposition of conditions.  These are discussed in more detail below. 
 
Developer Contributions 
Planning obligations under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended), commonly known as s106 agreements, are a mechanism which make a 
development proposal acceptable in planning terms, that would not otherwise be 
acceptable. They are focused on site specific mitigation of the impact of development.  
 
The legal tests for when you can use a s106 agreement are set out in regulation 122 
and 123 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 as amended. 
 
The tests are: 

 Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
 Directly related to the development; and 
 Fairly and related in scale and kind to the development. 

 

Page 47



 
 

As well as the legal tests, the policy tests are contained in the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF): 
 
Paragraph 55. Local planning authorities should consider whether otherwise 
unacceptable development could be made acceptable through the use of conditions or 
planning obligations. Planning obligations should only be used where it is not possible 
to address unacceptable impacts through a planning condition. 
 
Paragraph 56. Planning conditions should be kept to a minimum and only imposed 
where they are necessary, relevant to planning and to the development to be permitted, 
enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other respects. Agreeing conditions early is 
beneficial to all parties involved in the process and can speed up decision making. 
Conditions that are required to be discharged before development commences should 
be avoided, unless there is a clear justification. 
 
Paragraph 57. Planning obligations must only be sought where they meet all of the 
tests mentioned above. 
 
Policy IM1 ‘Developer Contributions for Infrastructure’ of the Coventry Local Plan states 
that development will be expected to provide or contribute towards provision of: a) 
Measures to directly mitigate its impact and make it acceptable in planning terms; and 
b) Physical, social and green infrastructure to support the needs associated with the 
development. 
 
 
VIABILITY 
The Government’s guidance on planning obligations states the following on viability 
assessments: 

“Viability assessment should not compromise sustainable development but should be 
used to ensure that policies are realistic, and the total cumulative cost of all relevant 
policies will not undermine deliverability of the plan.” 

What this means in practice is that site-specific viability assessments and reporting can 
help to demonstrate a more accurate financial view of a project. By accounting for 
everything from build costs, infrastructure costs, and use values, to property marketing 
and sales, viability reporting can show how requested contributions and housing types 
impact on the ability of the project to move forward. 
 
Viability assessments are used by developers to help demonstrate to the LPA that an 
existing affordable housing obligation is economically unviable. 
 
The viability appraisal has been reviewed, scrutinised, and assessed by independent 
consultants instructed by the Council to get a second opinion on whether the appraisal 
was correct.  
 
In summary, the scheme proposals are for 40no new build dwellings, constructed 
following the demolition of the existing cottage and associated outbuildings. The 
Applicant (Seven Homes) has assessed the proposals on three bases, as follows:  
  

Page 48



 
 

1) FVA of the scheme based on 25% (Policy Compliant) affordable housing and 
Policy Compliant Section 106 contributions (£1,531,349.70). 

2) FVA of the scheme based on nil affordable housing and Policy Compliant 
Section 106 contributions (£1,531,349.70). 

3) FVA of the scheme based on 25% (Policy Compliant) affordable housing and a 
reduced level of Section 106 contributions (i.e., £400,000).  

  
The Applicant, based on the appraisal scenarios tested above, has proposed to deliver 
the scheme proposals on one of two bases (depending on CCC’s preference) after finding 
that the scheme is unable to deliver both Policy Compliant (25%) affordable housing and 
the requested Section 106 contributions identified by CCC (in the order of 
£1,531,349.00), as follows:  
  

1) To deliver 25% (Policy Compliant) affordable housing with a reduced level of 
Section 106 contributions of £400,000: or  

2) To deliver nil affordable housing on site but provide the full Section 106 
contributions in the order of £1,531,349.00, as requested by CCC.  

  
CCC, viability consultants disagreed with the Benchmark Land Value (BLV) and the 
Abnormal costs and therefore the applicant’s assertion that the site could only supply 
25% policy complaint affordable housing and £400,000 towards S106 contributions. 
 
After extensive negotiations, the applicant has increased the monies available for the 
S106 contributions from £400,000 to £793,142.35 with the full policy compliant 25% 
affordable housing. This is considered to be the maximum reasonable level of 
contributions which the site can support. 
 
The following is what has been agreed to be provided by the S106. 
 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
The development at 40no. units is above the threshold of 25 units in policy H6 of the 
Coventry Local Plan.  Therefore, 25% affordable housing would be required.   
 
This will be secured by the signing of a S106 agreement. 
 
ICB (Doctors) 
The NHS Coventry and Warwickshire ICB estimates that the proposed development of 
up to 40no dwellings will generate 96no residents using the ratio of 2.4 residents per 
dwelling. 
 
The entire Keresley SUE will deliver approximately 3,100no dwellings, generating an 
estimated population of approximately 7,440 people. 
 
A review of the primary care and local health estate within a 3km radius of the Keresley 
SUE indicates there is potential for improvement works to be undertaken on existing 
current healthcare estate. 
 
Therefore, in order to support the additional growth anticipated from the proposed 
housing development, a financial contribution of £32,435.00 is required.   
 

Page 49



 
 

This will be secured via S106. 
 
EDUCATION 
 
Early Years £51,049.00 
Secondary £218,642.00 
Post-16 £56,847.00 
Total £326,538.00 

 
 
HIGHWAYS 
 

Contribution Amount 
Cycle Superhighway: Long Lane to Holyhead Road Cycleway via 
Coundon Wedge Drive. 
 

£   40,533.10 

Cycle Superhighway: Site to city centre cycleway via Radford Road. 
 

£   77,825.36 

Travel Plan Monitoring 
 

£     6,800.00 

5 Years of Mobility Credits inc Car Club. 
 

£   51,362.30 

Frequency Increase for Bennetts Road Bus Service (16). 
 

£     82,327.00 

DRT (Demand Responsive Transport). 
 

£   48,399.70 

Total £307,247.46 
 
 
PARKS 
£47,109.89 is required to go towards the cost of providing a MUGA or Skate Park at 
Coundon Park which is the nearest council owned site to these developments 
 
In summary, the following will be secured via S106 agreement. 

 Affordable housing – 10no. units. 
 Biodiversity offsetting  
 ICB – £32,435.00 
 Education - £326,538.00 
 Highways - £307,247.46 
 Parks - £47,109.89 
 Sport - £79,812.00 

 
A grand total of £793,142.35. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 50



 
 

The items which are not being provided for are as follows: 
 
EDUCATION 

 Primary - £289,280 
 
HIGHWAYS 

 West Midlands Cycle Hire docking station on Tamworth Road - £ 53,955.00 – To 
be provided on site. 

 Keresley Link Road - £309,215.46 
 Travel Plan co-ordinator - £2,700.60 
 Residential Travel Plans - £15,537.50 
 Traffic Surveys for Progress towards Modal Shift Targets - £22,349.80 
 Household Surveys - £1,260.00 
 Traffic Monitoring Cameras at non-signalised junctions - £8,475.00 

 
SPORT 

 Halls: 0.01 courts costing £19,824 – to go towards a northwest leisure facility to 
meet the demand created by new housing growth in this area of the city – 
£19,824.00. 

 
As the site is for a maximum of 40 dwellings, it may come forward for fewer than that 
number. If that is the case then it may be appropriate to review the viability at that stage. 
A mechanism will be inserted into the agreement to allow that review to happen. 
 
 
EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS  
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 created the public sector equality duty. Section 
149 states:-  
 
(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need 
to:  

a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act;  

b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it;  

c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.  

 
Officers have taken this into account and given due regard to this statutory duty, and 
the matters specified in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 in the determination of this 
application.  
 
There are no known equality implications arising directly from this development. 
 
 
 
 

Page 51



 
 

CONCLUSION 
The Council cannot demonstrate a 5-year housing land supply, therefore the tilted 
balance is engaged, and permission must be granted unless any adverse impacts of 
doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed 
against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole. 
 
The application site is located within the Keresley Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE), 
an allocated housing site within the Coventry Local Plan, specifically H2:1.   
 
The application seeks outline permission, the principle of development, with only the 
access being approved. 
 
The principle of development is therefore accepted. 
 
The entire SUE has been robustly modelling with regards to traffic impacts together with 
the proposed accesses.  Highways England, Coventry City Council (CCC) Highways as 
Local Highway Authority (LHA) raise no objections to the proposals subject to 
conditions and monies towards sustainable transport initiatives. 
 
The principle of an access from Tamworth Road in the location as shown on drawing 
AMENDED DRAWING - Proposed Site Access Off Tamworth Road General 
Arrangement - Drawing No.AAC5671-RPS-xx-xx-DR-C-601 S4 P03 is acceptable. 
 
 
The way in which national and local policy is written it allows justification, via viability 
appraisals, to be given as to why the full suite of S106 monetary contributions can’t be 
provided and for that to be taken into consideration. As explained there has been strong 
scrutiny of the appraisal.  
 
It has been proven by justifications given via the appraisal that have been fairly 
assessed that the site cannot provide the full quantum of S106 contributions and fully 
policy compliant affordable housing without further reducing the profit margin of the 
scheme below a normal target developer return and therefore would render the site 
unviable. 
 
Significant weight should be given to these findings when forming the overall balanced 
judgement. 
 
The obvious benefits of the scheme are in bringing forward much needed housing on 
an allocated housing site, when Council cannot demonstrate a 5-year housing land 
supply as required by national policy.  Allied to that, the proposal would deliver a policy-
complaint level of affordable housing in the area. 
 
Economic benefits would arise during the construction phase and in association with 
the occupation of the dwellings.  The proposal would also include biodiversity gains. 
 
All this would take place on a site identified as accessible and sustainable (with 
identified sustainable travel measures), with an increasingly residential character to its 
context, due to the wider housing allocation surrounding, limited landscape effects and 
no other constraints on its delivery. 

Page 52



 
 

 
Set against those benefits, there are adverse impacts, in the form of non-policy complaint 
S106 contributions, however, officers are satisfied that the S106 contributions sought are 
acceptable and will suitably mitigate the scheme without putting too much pressure on 
any statutory services. 
 
Taking all of the above together, it is considered that the adverse impacts of granting 
planning permission would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of 
doing so when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as whole.  As a result, 
the proposal benefits from the presumption in favour of sustainable development and 
planning permission is recommended to be granted. 
 

CONDITIONS / REASON FOR REFUSAL 

1. 

Approval of the details of the appearance, layout, scale, access in relation to 
the means of access within the site to the buildings and landscaping 
(hereinafter called "the reserved matters") shall be obtained from the local 
planning authority in writing before any development is commenced and the 
development shall be carried out in full accordance with those reserved 
matters as approved 

Reason 
To conform with Article 5(1) of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Development Procedure) Order 2015  
  

2. 
Application for approval of the reserved matters listed at condition 1 shall be 
made to the Local Planning Authority before the expiration of 3 years from 
the date of this permission. 

Reason 
To conform with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended)  
  

3. 
The development hereby permitted shall begin within 3 years of the date of 
this permission or within 2 years of the final approval of the reserved matters, 
whichever is the later. 

Reason 
To conform with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) 
  

4. 

The reserved matters shall have full regard to the Sustainable Urban 
Extension Design Guidance SPD and include the following specific 
requirements: 

 Provision of at least 0.2ha of publicly accessible informal open space 
as defined by the Open Space SPD. 

 Provision for a cycle hire docking station including hard-standing, 
power supply and docking station. 

 Provision of communal EV charging points 

Page 53



 
 

 Provision of car club parking and information boards/displays 
 

Reason In the interests of visual amenity and highway safety in accordance with 
Policies AC1, AC2 and DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 

5. 

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans:  

 DRAWING - Location Plan - Drawing No.PL001 
 AMENDED DRAWING - Proposed Site Access Off Tamworth Road 

General Arrangement - Drawing No.AAC5671-RPS-xx-xx-DR-C-601 
S4 P03 

 AMENDED DRAWING - Parameters Plan - Drawing No.PL005. 

Reason For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
  

6. 

The submission of reserved matters applications relating to any residential 
phase of development pursuant to this outline permission shall include a 
schedule of the mix of dwellings proposed demonstrating how the proposed 
mix relates to the overall mix of dwellings within the wider site approved 
under the outline permission. The mix shall take full account the latest 
evidence of housing needs (whether contained in a housing needs 
assessment or otherwise) and local market demand. 

Reason 
To ensure the provision of an appropriate mix of housing on the site, in 
accordance with Policy H4 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

7. 

The following shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority together 
with reserved matters applications: 

A noise assessment which includes results for LAeq, LA10, and LA90 noise 
descriptors, together with a calculated arithmetical average for the LAeq. 
The assessment will demonstrate by calculation that internal noise levels 
for the proposed residential property meet the 'Good' criteria set out in 
British Standard 8233 'Sound Insulation and Noise Reduction for Buildings' 
together with any mitigation measures that are required to achieve this. The 
report shall also demonstrate that outdoor garden and leisure areas 
associated with this development meet the 55dB limit as required by the 
World Health Organisation (WHO).  
 

Reason 

To protect the amenities of future occupiers from road traffic noise and 
general disturbance in accordance with Policy H3 of the Coventry Local 
Plan 2016. 
  

Page 54



 
 

8. 

The following shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority together 
with reserved matters applications: 

1. Tree Survey - a detailed scaled plan (to a scale and level of accuracy 
appropriate to the proposal) showing the position of every tree on the site, 
and every tree on land adjacent to the site (including street trees) that is 
likely to have an effect upon or be affected by the proposal (e.g. by shade, 
crown overhang from the boundary, intrusion of the Root Protection Area 
etc) with a stem diameter over the bark measured at 1.5 metres above 
ground level of at least 75 millimetres; 

2. a schedule of the trees surveyed as specified in chapter 4.1-4.5 of BS 
5837: 2012 Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction - 
Recommendations; 

3. Tree Constraints Plan (5.1-5.3); 

4. Arboricultural Impact Assessment (5.4) to assess the direct and indirect 
implications of trees upon the proposal and visa-versa, including locations 
for under-ground/ over-ground services, level changes within RPA's etc.; 

5. Arboricultural Method Statement (6.1); and 

6. Dimensioned Tree Protection Plan (to include protection measures 
during and after construction and any construction exclusion zones) (in 
accordance with 5.5/ Table B.1), site monitoring (6.3) of British Standard 
BS5837:2012 - Trees in relation to design demolition and construction - 
Recommendations, which shall also include any proposal for pruning or 
other preventative works. 

The approved mitigation and / or protection measures shall be put into 
place prior to the commencement of any works and shall remain in place 
during all construction work. 

Reason 

To protect those trees which are of significant amenity value to the area and 
which would provide an enhanced standard of appearance to the 
development in accordance with Policy GE3 and GE4 of the Coventry Local 
Plan 2016. 
  

9. 

The existing tree(s) and hedge(s) indicated on the approved plan AMENDED 
DRAWING - Parameters Plan - Drawing No.PL005 to be retained shall not 
be cut down, grubbed out or otherwise removed or topped or lopped so that 
the height of the hedge(s) falls below 2m at any point. Any tree(s) and/or 
hedge(s) removed without consent or dying, or being severely damaged or 
diseased or becomes; in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority; 
seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced within the next planting 
season with hedging, tree(s) and/or shrub(s) of such size and species details 
of which must be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

Page 55



 
 

All hedging, tree(s) and shrub(s) shall be planted in accordance with British 
Standard BS 8545:2014 Trees: from nursery to independence in the 
landscape - Recommendations and BS4428 - Code of Practice for General 
Landscape Operations (excluding hard surfaces). 

Reason 

To protect those landscape features which are of significant amenity value 
to the area and which would provide an enhanced standard of appearance 
to the development in accordance with Policies GE3, GE4 and HE2 of the 
Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

10. 

The following shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority together 
with reserved matters applications: 

Details of, on-plot hard and soft landscaping works which shall include 
boundary treatment, including full details of the proposed boundary walls, 
railings and gates to be erected, specifying the type of bricks and colour of 
the railings and gates; footpaths; and hard surfacing (which shall be made 
of porous materials or provision shall be made to direct run-off water from 
the hard surface to a permeable or porous area). The hard landscaping 
works shall be completed in strict accordance with the approved details 
within three months of the first occupation of the dwellinghouse it serves 
hereby permitted; and all planting shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details within the first planting and seeding seasons following 
the first occupation. Any tree(s) or shrub(s) which within a period of five 
years from the completion of the development dies, is removed or 
becomes; in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority; seriously 
damaged, defective or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting 
season with another of similar size and species. All hedging, tree(s) and 
shrub(s) shall be planted in accordance with British Standard BS 8545:2014 
Trees: from nursery to independence in the landscape - Recommendations 
and BS4428 - Code of Practice for General Landscape Operations. 

Reason 

To ensure a satisfactory standard of appearance of the development in the 
interests of the visual amenities of the area in accordance with Policies GE1 
and DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

11. 

The following shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority together 
with reserved matters applications: 

Details of, off plot hard and soft landscaping works which shall include any 
means of enclosure, including full details of the proposed estate walls, 
railings and gates to be erected, specifying the type of bricks and colour of 
the railings and gates; footpaths; and hard surfacing (which shall be made of 
porous materials or provision shall be made to direct run-off water from the 
hard surface to a permeable or porous area). The hard landscaping works 
shall be completed in strict accordance with the approved details by 75% 
occupation of the of the dwellinghouses granted reserved matters consent; 
and all planting shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details 

Page 56



 
 

within the first planting and seeding seasons following the first occupation. 
Any tree(s) or shrub(s) which within a period of five years from the completion 
of the development dies, is removed or becomes; in the opinion of the Local 
Planning Authority; seriously damaged, defective or diseased shall be 
replaced in the next planting season with another of similar size and species. 
All hedging, tree(s) and shrub(s) shall be planted in accordance with British 
Standard BS 8545:2014 Trees: from nursery to independence in the 
landscape - Recommendations and BS4428 - Code of Practice for General 
Landscape Operations. 

Reason 
To ensure a satisfactory standard of appearance of the development in the 
interests of the visual amenities of the area in accordance with Policies GE1 
and DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 

12. 

Notwithstanding any approved details, no development or construction of 
the proposed vehicular access with Tamworth shall commence unless and 
until full engineering and constructional details of the proposed vehicular 
access via Tamworth as shown on AMENDED DRAWING - Proposed Site 
Access Off Tamworth Road General Arrangement - Drawing No.AAC5671-
RPS-xx-xx-DR-C-601 S4 P03, have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority and no part of the development shall 
be occupied or otherwise brought into use until the approved works have 
been completed to the written satisfaction of the local planning authority 
and opened to traffic. The approved works shall be retained thereafter and 
shall not be removed or altered in any way. 

Reason 
In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policies AC1 and AC2 
of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

13. 

An investigation and risk assessment (in addition to any assessment 
provided with the planning application), must be completed in accordance 
with a scheme to assess the nature and extent of any contamination on the 
site; whether or not it originates on the site; and any report of the findings 
must be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority 
prior to the commencement of development (including any demolition). The 
report of the findings, to be conducted in accordance with Environment 
Agency Guidance Land Contamination: Risk Management (2021) and must 
include (i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination; (ii) an 
assessment of the potential risk to; human health, property (existing or 
proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and service 
lines and pipes, adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, ecological 
systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments; (iii) an appraisal of 
remedial options and proposal of the preferred option(s) 

Reason 

To safeguard health, safety and the environment in accordance with Policy 
EM6 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the aims and objectives of the 
NPPF 
  

Page 57



 
 

Reason 

To safeguard health, safety and the environment in accordance with Policy 
EM6 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the aims and objectives of the 
NPPF 
  

14. 

The development shall only be undertaken in accordance with a detailed 
remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended 
use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other 
property and the natural and historical environment, which shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme must 
include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and 
remediation criteria, timetable of works and site management procedures. 
The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land 
under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the 
intended use of the land after remediation. 

Reason 

To safeguard health, safety and the environment in accordance with Policy 
EM6 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the aims and objectives of the 
NPPF 
  

15. 

The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with 
its terms prior to the commencement of development other than that required 
to carry out the remediation. The Local Planning Authority must be given two 
weeks written notification of commencement of the remediation scheme 
works.  

Reason 

To safeguard health, safety and the environment in accordance with Policy 
EM6 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the aims and objectives of the 
NPPF 
  

16. 

Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted and following 
completion of the measures identified within the remediation scheme 
approved under condition No.14 a verification report that demonstrates the 
effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced and submitted 
to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing 

Reason 

To safeguard health, safety and the environment in accordance with Policy 
EM6 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the aims and objectives of the 
NPPF 
  

17. 

In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development, that was not previously identified, it must be reported 
in writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and 
risk assessment must be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of 
condition No.13 and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme 
must be prepared in accordance with the requirements of condition No.14 
and No.15, which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Following completion of measures identified in the 

Page 58



 
 

approved remediation scheme a verification report must be prepared, which 
is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority in 
accordance with condition No.16. 

Reason 

To safeguard health, safety and the environment in accordance with Policy 
EM6 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the aims and objectives of the 
NPPF 
  

Reason 
To protect the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring residential 
occupiers in accordance with Policy EM7 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

18. Any gas boilers installed on site shall have a dry NOx emission rate of no 
more than 40mg/kWh.  

Reason 

To mitigate the impacts of development on air quality in accordance with 
Policy DS3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the aims and objectives of 
the NPPF. 
  

19. 

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted details of 
bat and bird boxes shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The bat and bird boxes shall be fully installed in strict 
accordance with the approved details prior to the first occupation of the 
development and thereafter shall be retained and shall not be removed or 
altered in any way. 

Reason 

To ensure that protected species are not harmed by the development in 
accordance with Policy GE3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the 
advice contained within the NPPF. 
  

20. 

No development (including any demolition or preparatory works) shall 
commence unless and until a Construction Environmental Management Plan 
(CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The CEMP shall include the following: (a) a risk assessment of 
potentially damaging construction activities;(b) identification of biodiversity 
protection zones (e.g. buffers to trees and hedges or to protected wildlife 
habitat); (c) practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive 
working practices, such as protective fencing, exclusion barriers and warning 
signs) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (particularly in relation 
to works within canopy and root protection areas for hedgerows or protected 
trees); (d) the location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to 
biodiversity features (in relation to breeding birds in particular); (e) the times 
during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to 
oversee works (as required); (f) responsible persons and lines of 
communication; and (g) the role and responsibilities on site of an Ecological 
Clerk of Works (ECoW) or similarly competent person (as necessary). The 
approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the 
construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details.  

Page 59



 
 

Reason 

In order to safeguard protected and/or priority species from undue 
disturbance and impacts, noting that initial preparatory works could have 
unacceptable impacts; and in order to secure an overall biodiversity gain in 
accordance with Policy GE3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

21. 

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted a 
Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The content of the 
LEMP shall include the following: a) Description and evaluation of features to 
be managed; b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence 
management; c) Aims and objectives of management, including mitigation 
and enhancement for species identified on site; d) Appropriate management 
option for achieving aims and objectives; e) Prescriptions for management 
actions; f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan 
capable of being rolled forward over a ten-year period); g) Details of the body 
or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan, along with funding 
mechanism(s) for that body or organisation; h) Ongoing monitoring and 
remedial measures, including where monitoring shows that conservation 
aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met. The LEMP plan shall be 
implemented in strict accordance with the approved details within three 
months of the first occupation of the development and thereafter shall not be 
withdrawn or amended in any way. 

Reason 

In order to safeguard and enhance habitat on or adjacent to the site in order 
to secure an overall biodiversity gain in accordance with Policy GE3 of the 
Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

22. 

Prior to the installation of any street lighting or any external lighting to be fixed 
to any building(s), an external lighting strategy (including a plan) shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
strategy shall demonstrate that lighting shall be kept to a minimum at night in 
order to minimise impact on emerging and foraging bats, and to restrict light 
spillage onto foraging corridors. The lighting shall be installed in full 
accordance with the approved strategy and all lighting thereafter shall be 
subsequently maintained in strict accordance with the approved details. 

Reason 

To ensure that protected species are not harmed by the development in 
accordance with Policy GE3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the 
advice contained within the NPPF. 
  

23. 

No development (including any demolition or preparatory works) shall 
commence unless and until a scheme for the retention of the bat roost(s) and 
the retention of the existing entry/emergence routes, or the provision of 
alternative roost space and new entry/emergence routes, has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
scheme shall include a programme for the implementation of the 
development which avoids any building or other operations likely to affect the 

Page 60



 
 

bat roost being undertaken whilst also ensuring that at no time provision for 
roosting bats is lost from the site. The development shall only be carried out 
in strict accordance with the approved scheme. 

Reason 

To ensure that protected species are not harmed by the development in 
accordance with Policy GE3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the 
advice contained within the NPPF. 
  

24. 
No part of the residential accommodation hereby permitted shall be occupied 
unless and until the external amenity space has been laid out and provided 
in full accordance with the details shown on the approved plans and 
thereafter shall remain available for use at all times. 

Reason 

In the interests of the amenities of the future occupants of the residential 
accommodation in accordance with Policy DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 
2016.  
  

25. 

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, details of 
bin storage areas shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The bin storage areas shall be provided in full accordance 
with the approved details prior to first occupation of the development and 
thereafter they shall remain available for use at all times and shall not be 
removed or altered in any way. All bins which serve the development within 
the red line site area must be stored within the approved bin storage area 
and not positioned on the public highway or in the open, unless on bin 
collection days. 

Reason 

In the interests of the amenities of future occupants of the residential 
accommodation and neighbouring occupiers in accordance with Policy DE1 
of the Coventry Local Plan 2016.  
  

26. 

Notwithstanding, REPORT - Flood Risk Assessment, dated 31st May 2023 - 
Report Ref:HLEF84243, the following shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority together with each reserved matters applications the 
provision of a Sustainable urban Drainage System (SuDS) in accordance 
with the latest available design guidance. The submission shall include all 
relevant details and calculations to enable a full evaluation to be undertaken, 
and clear and accountable consideration shall be given to the following 
features: 

 Open Air storage or attenuation in the form of a wet pond, dry basin, 
swale or other similar surface feature, aimed at managing water 
quantity, quality and introducing biodiversity at the ground surface. 

 General below ground attenuation, aimed solely at managing the 
quantity of water on site (Note: preference should be given to 
localised cellular storage unless there is no possible mechanism for 
doing so) 

Page 61



 
 

 Water quality control mediums such as permeable paving, filter 
drains, rain gardens, ponds or swales aimed at improving the quality 
of water passing through the system either above or below ground. 

 The use of water harvesting and grey water reuse at individual plot 
level within the development. This consideration should include both 
the deployment of water butts, and dedicated tank-based storage 
where appropriate and any reasons for NOT using should be clearly 
stated. All in accordance with Coventry City Council's Supplementary 
Planning Document "Delivering a more Sustainable City". 

 The storm water discharge rates from the development shall be 
managed in order to reduce flood risk to surrounding sites, 
downstream areas or the wider environment by means of a flow 
control mechanism (or mechanisms) limiting the total site discharge 
offsite to Qbar greenfield runoff minus 20% or 5 l/s whichever is 
greater. The discharge rates for brownfield sites shall be considered 
as greenfield in accordance with the CCC SFRA. 

 A detailed strategy document must be submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the LPA for the long-term inspection and maintenance of 
the SuDS and other surface water drainage elements on site. It 
should also mention any notable Health and Safety or specialist 
training, and special equipment required as part of the routine 
maintenance. 

 An appropriately scaled intrusive ground investigation report must be 
provided to establish the depth and type of strata, including 
percolation results in accordance with BRE 365 and identifying the 
presence and risk associated with migrant or soluble contaminants. 
Please provide evidence of existing groundwater levels and seasonal 
variation, in order to inform the drainage design. 

 Prior to the commencement of any works on site, provisions must be 
made for the drainage of the site to ensure there are no temporary 
increases in flood risk, on or off site, during the construction phase. 
This should be covered under environmental risks in the Site Specific 
CEMP. 

 Evidence must be provided to confirm that receiving water bodies or 
sewers are capable of accepting the attenuated flows specified by 
the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) or Local Planning Authority 
(LPA) and that this will not exacerbate the flood risk on or off site. 
This will include capacity calculations and outcomes, not just the 
correspondence from Severn Trent Water Ltd in isolation, accepting 
the point discharges. 

 Evidence of existing sub catchments within the site may be needed 
to support the connectivity survey and confirm the acceptability of 
proposed point discharges to the watercourses and infrastructure 
sewers. This must be submitted to, and agreed by, the LPA and 
LLFA. 

 Evidence must be provided to show the management of overland 
flow routes in the event of exceedance or blockage of the drainage 
system. Details should include demonstration of how the buildings 
will be protected in such an event. 

Page 62



 
 

 Single outfall points will be discouraged on larger sites, as outfall 
points should be located to best mimic the natural discharge 
condition. 

 Provisions must be made for the drainage of the site to ensure there 
is no discharge of surface water to the Public Highway. 

 300mm above the 1 in 100 year pluvial flood levels, and above the 1 
in 1000 year fluvial flood levels. 

 Evidence of the 1 in 100 year plus climate change events will be held 
within the site boundaries, by the designed drainage system and 
surface profile. 

 No ordinary watercourse shall be culverted unless there is an 
overriding need to do so and justified in line with the Environment 
Agency's current policy. If possible, any existing surface water 
culverts should be opened and restored to a natural channel. 

 Where watercourses are culverted as part of the development, 
adequate provision for maintenance and survey access must be 
provided. 

 Where new or redevelopment site levels result in the severance, 
diversion or reception of natural (or engineered) land drainage flow, 
the developer shall maintain existing flow routes (where there are no 
flood risk or safety implications) or intercept these flows and 
discharge these by a method approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 All opportunities to reduce flood risk in the surrounding area must be 
taken, including creating additional flood storage. In this instance 
reference should be made to the Councils IDP or Regulation 123 list. 

 Foul drainage plans. 

The drainage details shall be installed in full accordance with the approved 
documentation prior to occupation of the development and thereafter shall 
be maintained and shall not be removed or altered in any way. 

Reason 

To ensure that adequate drainage facilities are available for the satisfactory 
and proper development of the site in accordance with policies EM1, EM4 
and EM5 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and Coventry City Councils 
adopted Supplementary Planning Document for Delivering a More 
Sustainable City.  
  

27. 

Prior to their incorporation into the development hereby permitted, details of 
a scheme which sets out where and how 'Secured by Design' standards will 
be incorporated into the development, shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. These measures should be installed 
in full accordance with the approved details prior to first occupation of the 
development and thereafter shall be retained and shall not be removed or 
altered in any way.  

Reason 
To ensure Secured by Design standards are met, in the interests of safety 
and security and the health and wellbeing of future occupiers of the 
development in accordance with Policies DS3, H3 and DE1 of the Coventry 

Page 63



 
 

Local Plan 2016. 
  

28. 

Prior to their incorporation into the development hereby permitted, sample 
details of all facing and roofing materials shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These details shall be installed only 
in full accordance with the approved details prior to the first occupation of the 
development and thereafter shall be retained and shall not be removed or 
altered in any way. 

Reason 

To ensure that the proposed development has a satisfactory external 
appearance in the interests of the visual amenities of the area in 
accordance with Policy DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

29. 

None of the dwellings hereby permitted shall be occupied unless and until 
the car parking provision for that dwelling has been constructed or laid out 
and made available for use by the occupants and / or visitors to the dwellings 
and thereafter those spaces shall be retained for parking purposes at all time 
and shall not be removed or altered in any way. 

Reason 

To ensure the satisfactory provision of off-street vehicle parking facilities in 
accordance with the Council's standards and in the interests of highway 
safety and the satisfactory development of the site in accordance with 
Policies AC1,AC2 and AC3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

30. 

Prior to occupation of the dwellings hereby permitted, details of cycle parking 
facilities shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The cycle parking facilities shall be provided in full accordance with 
the approved details prior to first occupation of the relevant dwelling and 
thereafter those facilities shall remain available for use at all times and shall 
not be removed or altered in any way. 

Reason 

In the interests of encouraging the use of alternative modes of transport 
with the aim of creating a more sustainable city in accordance with Policies 
DS3, AC3 and AC4 of the Coventry Local 2016. 
  

31. 

No development (including any demolition) shall take place unless and until 
a Construction Management Plan (CMP) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CMP shall include 
details of: - hours of work; - hours of deliveries to the site; - the parking of 
vehicles of site operatives and visitors during the demolition/construction 
phase; - the delivery access point; - the loading and unloading of plant and 
materials; - anticipated size and frequency of vehicles moving to/from the 
site; - the storage of plant and materials used in constructing the 
development; - the erection and maintenance of a security hoarding including 
decorative displays and facilities for public viewing where appropriate; - 
wheel washing facilities and other measures to ensure that any vehicle, plant 
or equipment leaving the application site does not carry mud or deposit other 

Page 64



 
 

  

 
 

materials onto the public highway; - measures to control the emission of dust 
and dirt during demolition and construction; - measures to control the 
presence of asbestos; - measures to minimise noise disturbance to 
neighbouring properties during demolition and construction; - details of any 
piling together with details of how any associated vibration will be monitored 
and controlled; and - a scheme for recycling / disposing of waste resulting 
from demolition and construction works. Thereafter, the approved details 
within the CMP shall be strictly adhered to throughout the construction period 
and shall not be amended in any way. 

Reason 

The agreement of a Construction Management Plan prior to the 
commencement of development is fundamental to ensure a satisfactory 
level of environmental protection; to minimise disturbance to local residents 
and in the interests of highway safety during the construction process in 
accordance with Policies [EM7], AC1 and AC2 of the Coventry Local Plan 
2016. 
  

32. 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), or any 
statutory instrument amending, revoking and/or replacing that Order, no 
further development shall take place within the curtilage of any dwellinghouse 
hereby permitted without the prior grant of planning permission by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

Reason 

Having regard to the design, layout and general nature of the proposed 
development it is important to ensure that no further development is carried 
out which would detract from the appearance of the area and affect the 
amenity of adjacent properties. Therefore, no additional development is to 
be carried out without the permission of the Local Planning Authority in 
accordance with Policies H3 and DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 
  

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



Keresley House Cottage

GP

Pond

R
H

Post

Cott

Def

D
ef

1.22m
 R

H

1.22m RH

1.22m
 R

H

Co Const Bdy

Def

Def

1.
22

m
 R

H

D
ef

Keresley House

1.22m RH

Fern House

Horse and Jockey
(PH)

Ponds

Path (um)

Ppg Sta

Cricket Ground

Sewage

Met Dist Bdy

Woodlands 138.8m

139.7m

Hollywood

Lynwood

Oakleigh

Path (um)

Pond

Hall Yard Wood

LB

Pond

159.7m

Chase Cottage

Boro Const Bdy

Hunters

GP

160.8m

TAMW
ORTH ROAD

Fern

Lodge

162.1m

Elm View

Pond

FIVEFIELD ROAD

Pp

Scale: Sheet Size:

Job No: Drawing No:

Title:

Drawn: Checked:

Client:

Project:

Rev:Date:

T: 0121 439 1151
E: admin@ophirarchitecture.com

A: Suite 3 Aspley House, 36 Hylton Street,
Birmingham, B18 6HN

@
Registered in England and Wales. Company No. 11534477
All written/scaled dimensions and floor areas are subject to verification by Contractor(s) on site.
This drawing and design are © Copyright of Ophir Architecture Ltd.
No reproduction or alteration is permitted without prior written consent

Preliminary Design ConstructionPlanningInformation Comment

Seven Homes 

Hal Hill Cottage, Keresley

Location Plan

1:1250 A2

SCA41 PL001

Oct 2022 -

KK MB

Rev Date Details Notes: Key

NORTH

Site Boundary

0

SCALE BAR 1:1250

5010 75 100

P
age 67



FIVEFIELD ROAD

FIVEFIELD ROAD

18.50m

FIVEFIELD ROAD

TAM
W

ORTH ROAD

Co Const Bdy

Def

1.
22

m
 R

H

1.22m RH

Met Dist Bdy

Pond

159.7m

Boro Const Bdy

GP

Pond

FIVEFIELD ROAD

35

3

17

11

19

20

21

22

25 26 27
28

29
30

31
32

38

4039

1

Infiltration Basin – storage volume 119sqm 

2

37

3633

34

246
4

7

8

10
9

Shared Surface

5

23

1

1

2

24

36
36

35

35

37
37

38

38

27272626

25
25

24

3939

19

8
8

2828
29

29

30 30 31 31

32
32

33

33

34

34

40 40

25
m

 fo
rw

ar
d 

vis

Bu
ffe

r z
on

e
(N

o 
Bu

ild
 z

on
e)

Bu
ffe

r z
on

e
(R

oa
ds

 &
 P

ub
lic

 re
al

m
)

10
.0

0 
m

20
.0

0 
m

W

12

13 14

15

1618

Bike dock

2

3

3 4

4

5

5

6

6

7

7

11

11

10

10

9

912

12

13

13

14

14

15

15

16

16

21

21

22

22

23

23

17

17

18

18

19

19

20

20

V

V

V

V
V

Foothpath and Cycle way

3.0

Scale: Sheet Size:

Job No: Drawing No:

Title:

Drawn: Checked:

Client:

Project:

Rev:Date:

T: 0121 439 1151
E: admin@ophirarchitecture.com

A: 1 Legge Lane, Birmingham, B1 3LD

@
Registered in England and Wales. Company No. 11534477
All written/scaled dimensions and floor areas are subject to verification by Contractor(s) on site.
This drawing and design are © Copyright of Ophir Architecture Ltd.
No reproduction or alteration is permitted without prior written consent

Preliminary Design ConstructionPlanningInformation Comment

Seven Homes 

Hall Hill Cottage, Keresley

Site Layout

1:500 A2

SCA41 PL002

Oct 2022 G

KK MB

Notes: Key

NORTH

Site Boundary

Existing sewer (to be diverted)

County Boundary line

Woodland edge

30m Buffer Zone
0 10

SCALE BAR 1:500

20 30 40 50

P
age 68

AutoCAD SHX Text
CAM

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
T1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
Hawthorn

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
T2

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
Field maple

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
T3

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
Silver birch

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
T4

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
Oak

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
T5

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
Oak

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
T6

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
Silver birch

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
T7

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
Oak

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
T8

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
Oak

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
T9

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
Oak

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
T10

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
Silver Birch

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
T11

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
Oak

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
T12

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
Ash

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
T13

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
Oak

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
T14

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
Oak

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
T15

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
Sycamore

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
T16

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
Ash

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
T17

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
Sycamore

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
T17

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
T18

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
Sycamore

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
T19

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
Sycamore

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
T20

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
Sycamore

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
T21

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
Sycamore

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
T22

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
Sycamore

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
T24

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
Silver birch

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
T25

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
Silver birch

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
T26

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
Silver birch

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
T27

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
Sycamore

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
H1

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
Mixed hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
H3

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
Mixed hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
H3

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
Mixed hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
H3

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
Mixed hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
H4

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
Mixed hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
H4

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
Mixed hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
H4

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
Mixed hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
H5

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
Mixed hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
H5

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
Mixed hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
H5

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
Mixed hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
H5

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
Mixed hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
H5

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
Mixed hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
H6

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
Mixed hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
H6

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
Mixed hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
H8

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
Mixed hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
H8

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
Mixed hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
H9

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
Mixed hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
H9

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
Mixed hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
H9

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
Mixed hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
G1

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
Mixed group

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
G1

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
Mixed group

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
G2

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
Silver Birches

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
G2

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
Silver Birches

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
G2

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
Silver Birches

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
G2

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
Silver Birches

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
G2

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
Silver Birches

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
G2

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
Silver Birches

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
G3

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
Ash

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
G3

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
Ash

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
G3

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
Ash

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
G4

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
Silver Birches

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
G4

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
Silver Birches

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
G7

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
Ash

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
G7

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
Ash

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
T28

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
Sycamore

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
H10

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
Cypress hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
H10

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
Cypress hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
H6

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
Mixed hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
Hall Yard Wood 

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
Hall Yard Wood 

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
Existing Fence-line

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
Indicative Canopy Edge

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
Woodland edge beyond northern side of ditchline



Def

Def

159.7m

Pp

158.550

15
8.6

00

15
8.6

50

158.650158.700

15
8.7

00

158.700

158.750

15
8.7

50

158.750

15
8.8

00

158.800

158.800

158.850

158.850

158.850

158.900

158.900

158.900

158.950

158.950

159.000

159.000

159.050

159.100

Road 1

0.0

10.0

157
.00

0
157

.25
0

157
.50

0
157

.75
0

158
.00

0
158

.25
0

158
.50

0

158.750
158.750

158
.75

0

2.4 x 106.4m Visibility Splay

2.4 x 99.3m
 Visibility Splay

Proposed tie in to existing

Proposed tie in to existing

Existing Diag 670 back to back 40mph speed limit signs to remain

Existing Welcome to Coventry sign to remain

Existing Welcome to Warwickshire sign to remain

Existing street light, may require relocation to accommodate new junction
Existing control cabinet to remain

Existing column with traffic monitoring equipment to remain
Existing telegraph pole to be removed and overhead cable undergrounded

Existing Diag 504.1 cross roads ahead sign to be relocated

Proposed relocated position of  Diag 504.1 cross roads ahead sign

R6.0m

R6.0m

Road marking Diag 1009A

Road marking Diag 1003A

Road marking Diag 1004 (3 modules)

Road marking Diag 1023A

Diag 602
Give Way

sign

2.0m

5.5m

2.0m

Proposed tactile paving and dropped kerb

Proposed tactile paving and dropped kerb

Type

15

W

E

G

.
.. .

TAM
W

ORTH ROAD

2
1

1

2

Bike dock

2

12

12

Cycle way

Foothpath

2.0

3.0

TIE IN TO
SHARED
SURFACE
ROAD NOT
QUITE RIGHT

157.650
157.700

157.700

157.750

15
7.7

50

157.750

157.800
157.800 157.800

157.850
157.850 157.850

157.900
157.900 157.900

157.950
157.950 157.950

158.000
158.000 158.000

158.050
158.050

158.050

158.100
158.100

158.100
158.150

158.150

158.150
158.200

158.200
158.200

158.250
158.250

158.250
158.300

158.300
158.300

158.350

15
8.3

50 158.350
158.400

15
8.4

00 158.400

15
8.4

50
15

8.4
50 158.450

158.500

15
8.5

00

158.500

15
8.5

50

158.550

15
8.6

00
15

8.6
00

158.600

15
8.6

50
15

8.6
50

158.700

158.750

15
8.8

00

10.0

20.0

30.0

PROPOSED CARRIAGEWAY AND RESURFACING
OF EXISTING CARRIAGEWAY

PROPOSED FOOTWAY

PROPOSED GRASSED VERGE

PROPOSED TACTILE PAVING

PROPOSED PCC 125 x 255mm HB KERBS

PROPOSED PCC 50 x 150mm EDGINGS

Document Number

Revision

@

RPS Project Number

Project Code - Originator - Zone - Level - Type - Role - Drawing Number

Client

Title

Status

Task Information
Manager

Information
Author

Project

Task Team
Manager

Date CreatedScale

Suitability

rpsgroup.com

MAKING
COMPLEX
EASY

2019 RPS Group

Notes
1. This drawing has been prepared in accordance with the scope of RPS’s

appointment with its client and is subject to the terms and conditions of that
appointment. RPS accepts no liability for any use of this document other than
by its client and only for the purposes for which it was prepared and provided.

2. If received electronically it is the recipients responsibility to print to correct
scale. Only written dimensions should be used.

3. This drawing should be read in conjunction with all other relevant drawings
and specifications.

c

R
:\E

ng
in

ee
rin

g\
AA

C
56

71
 - 

H
al

l H
ill 

C
ot

ta
ge

 C
ov

en
try

\C
AD

\0
3 

En
g\

04
 C

on
ce

pt
s\

Se
c 

27
8 

w
or

ks
.d

w
g

321 Bradford Street, Birmingham,
West Midlands B5 6ET
T: +44 121 622 8520  E: rpswlv@rpsgroup.com

Seven Homes

Hall Hill Cottage
Fivefield Road, Keresley
Coventry

Proposed Site Access Off
Tamworth Road
General Arrangement

Preliminary 1:100 A1 05.10.2022

AG AG AG

AAC5671-RPS-xx-xx-DR-C-601

AAC5671 S4 P03

For guidance only. Do not scale off this drawing

1:20  -

5m4m
400mm

3m
300mm

2m
200mm

1m
100mm0

0

20001800160014001200800mm600mm400mm200mm0

9m 10m0 1m 2m 3m 4m 5m 6m 7m 8m

1000

1:100-

1:50 -
1:5   - 500mm

Rev Description By Ckd Date
P01 First Issue AG CW 05:10:22

P02 Visibility splays revised in accordance with speed survey
results, and stopping sight distances along Tamworth
Road added

AG CW 28:03:23

P03 Plan updated to show revised planning layout junction
remained in same place internal road straightened
private drives altered

ma AG 04.08.23

P
age 69

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
155.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
157.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
157.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
156.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
156.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
EP

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
CAM

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
S6

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
S7

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
155.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
156.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
156.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
156.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
156.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
156.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
156.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
156.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
157.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
157.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
157.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
157.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
156.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
156.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
157.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
156.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
156.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
156.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
157.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
156.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
157.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
159.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
159.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
159.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
159.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
159.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
159.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
159.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
159.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
159.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
159.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
159.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
159.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
159.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
159.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
159.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
159.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
159.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
158.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
159.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
159.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
159.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
158.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
159.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
159.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
158.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
158.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
158.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
158.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
158.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
158.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
158.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
158.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
158.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
158.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
158.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
158.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
158.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
158.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
158.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
158.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
158.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
158.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
158.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
158.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
158.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
158.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
158.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
158.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
158.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
158.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
158.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
158.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
158.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
158.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
158.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
158.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
158.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
158.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
158.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
158.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
158.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
158.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
158.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
158.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
158.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
158.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
158.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
158.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
158.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
158.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
158.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
158.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
158.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
158.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
158.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
158.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
158.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
158.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
158.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
158.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
158.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
159.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
158.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
158.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
158.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
159.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
159.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
159.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
159.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
159.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
159.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
159.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
158.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
158.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
159.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
158.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
158.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
158.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
158.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
158.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
158.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
158.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
158.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
158.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
158.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_277
158.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_278
158.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_279
158.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_280
158.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_281
158.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_282
158.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_283
158.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_284
158.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_285
158.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_286
158.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_287
158.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_288
158.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_289
158.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_290
158.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_291
158.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_292
158.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_293
158.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_294
158.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_295
158.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_296
158.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_297
158.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_298
158.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_299
158.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_300
158.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_301
159.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_302
159.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_303
159.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_304
158.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_305
158.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_306
158.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_307
158.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_308
158.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_309
158.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_310
158.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_311
156.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_312
156.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_313
156.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_314
156.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_315
156.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_316
156.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_317
155.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_318
155.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_319
155.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_320
155.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_321
156.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_322
155.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_323
155.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_324
156.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_325
156.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_326
156.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_327
155.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_328
156.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_329
156.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_330
156.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_331
156.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_332
156.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_333
156.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_334
S16.0 G.M.B Sycamore

AutoCAD SHX Text_335
S12.0 G.M.B Oak

AutoCAD SHX Text_336
S 8.0 G 1.0 Ash

AutoCAD SHX Text_337
S16.0 G.M.B Sycamore

AutoCAD SHX Text_338
S14.0 G 1.2 Sycamore

AutoCAD SHX Text_339
S16.0 G.M.B Sycamore

AutoCAD SHX Text_340
S16.0 G1.4x2 Sycamore

AutoCAD SHX Text_341
S12.0 G 1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_342
S16.0 G 1.5 Sycamore

AutoCAD SHX Text_343
EB

AutoCAD SHX Text_344
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_345
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_346
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_347
MHCL

AutoCAD SHX Text_348
150mm.%%C FWS

AutoCAD SHX Text_349
asphalt pavement

AutoCAD SHX Text_350
grass verge

AutoCAD SHX Text_351
kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_352
kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_353
kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_354
grass verge

AutoCAD SHX Text_355
drop kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_356
kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_357
brick wall

AutoCAD SHX Text_358
brick wall

AutoCAD SHX Text_359
asphalt pavement

AutoCAD SHX Text_360
grass verge

AutoCAD SHX Text_361
kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_362
kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_363
kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_364
grass verge

AutoCAD SHX Text_365
kerb

AutoCAD SHX Text_366
grass verge

AutoCAD SHX Text_367
stone wall

AutoCAD SHX Text_368
overhead wires

AutoCAD SHX Text_369
overhead wires

AutoCAD SHX Text_370
wooden post & wire fence

AutoCAD SHX Text_371
wooden post & rail fence

AutoCAD SHX Text_372
centreline of mature hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_373
centreline of mature hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_374
wooden post & rail fence

AutoCAD SHX Text_375
centreline of sparse mature hedge

AutoCAD SHX Text_376
B4098 TAMWORTH ROAD



Co Const Bdy

Def

1.
22

m
 R

H

1.22m RH

Met Dist Bdy

Pond

159.7m

Boro Const Bdy

GP

Pond

FIVEFIELD ROAD

10
.0

0 
m

Bu
ffe

r z
on

e
(R

oa
ds

 &
 P

ub
lic

 re
al

m
)

20
.0

0 
m

Bu
ffe

r z
on

e
(N

o 
Bu

ild
 z

on
e)

Scale: Sheet Size:

Job No: Drawing No:

Title:

Drawn: Checked:

Client:

Project:

Rev:Date:

T: 0121 439 1151
E: admin@ophirarchitecture.com

A: 1 Legge Lane, Birmingham, B1 3LD

@
Registered in England and Wales. Company No. 11534477
All written/scaled dimensions and floor areas are subject to verification by Contractor(s) on site.
This drawing and design are © Copyright of Ophir Architecture Ltd.
No reproduction or alteration is permitted without prior written consent

Preliminary Design ConstructionPlanningInformation Comment

Seven Homes 

Hall Hill Cottage, Keresley

Parameters plan 

1:500 A2

SCA41 PL005

April 2023 D

MTF -

Notes: Key

NORTH

0 10

SCALE BAR 1:500

20 30 40 50
RPA Existing trees

P
age 70



 
 

Planning Committee Report 
Planning Ref:  PL/2023/0002525/FUL 
Site:  60 Princess Street CV6 5BU 
Ward: Foleshill 
Proposal: Change of use of single dwellinghouse to 2 no. (one 

bedroom) flats and the erection of a rear dormer with 
associated alterations 

Case Officer: Yeuk Lam 
 
SUMMARY 
The application site is a two-storey mid terrace property located in a wholly residential 
area. The application seeks consent to change of use from a single dwellinghouse to 2 
no. (one bedroom) flats and the erection of a rear dormer with associated alterations. The 
proposal is considered to have an acceptable impact upon the neighbour’s amenity and 
character of the main house. 
 
The application is before Planning Committee as the applicant is an Elected Member. 
 
 
KEY FACTS 
 
Reason for report to 
committee: 

An Elected Member has an interest in the application site 

Current use of site: 1 no. residential dwelling C3 
Proposed use of site: 2 no. residential dwelling (flats) C3 

 
RECOMMENDATION  
Planning Committee are recommended to grant planning permission subject to 
conditions. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 
 

• The proposal is acceptable in principle.  
• The proposal will not adversely impact upon highway safety. 
• The proposal will not adversely impact upon the amenity of neighbours. 
• The proposal accords with Policies:  DE1, H3, H5, H9, AC1, AC3 and GE3 of the 

Coventry Local Plan 2016, together with the aims of the NPPF. 

SITE DESCRIPTION 
The application site is a two-storey mid terrace property located in a residential area in 
Foleshill. The main amenity space is to the rear of the property with a boundary fence 
surrounding the site.  
 
The application site has a shared access with adjoining neighbour no. 62 Princess Street.  
 
APPLICATION PROPOSAL 
The application seeks consent for change of use of single dwellinghouse to 2 no. (one 
bedroom) flats and the erection of a rear dormer with associated alterations.  

Page 71

Agenda Item 8



 
 

The proposed ground floor flat measures 42sqm and the proposed first floor flat (including 
loft) measures 53sqm. Both flats will equip with a lounge, 1no. bedroom, a kitchen and a 
bathroom.  
 
The proposed rear dormer will be set in 700mm from both side boundaries, set down 
approximately 650mm from the ridgeline and set 400mm above the main eaves. There 
will be two proposed rooflights on the front elevation of the main roof.  
 
The proposed new side access will be located within the shared access with the 
neighbour at no. 62 and the gate of the shared access will be retained.  
 
The whole house will be rendered to a cream colour finish and the proposed dormer will 
be finished with materials matching the main dwelling.  
 
The proposal also indicates a proposed covered cycle shed, which can accommodate 
2no. bikes, in the rear garden. 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
There is no relevant or recent planning history. 
 
POLICY 
 
National Policy Guidance 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) September 2023. The NPPF sets out the 
Government’s planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. 
It sets out the Government’s requirements for the planning system only to the extent that 
is relevant, proportionate and necessary to do so. The NPPF increases the focus on 
achieving high quality design and states that it is “fundamental to what the planning and 
development process should achieve”. 
  
The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) adds further context to the NPPF and 
it is intended that the two documents are read together. 
 
Local Policy Guidance 
The current local policy is provided within the Coventry Local Plan 2016, which was 
adopted by Coventry City Council on 6th December 2017.  Relevant policy relating to this 
application is: 

• DS3 – Sustainable Development  
• DE1 – Ensuring High Quality design  
• AC1 – Accessible Transport Network  
• AC3 - Demand Management  
• GE3 - Biodiversity, Geological, Landscape and Archaeological Conservation  
• H3 – Provision of New Housing  
• H5 – Managing Existing Housing Stock  
• H9 – Residential Density  
• EM1 – Planning for Climate Change Adaptation  
• EM2 – Building Standards  
• EM7 – Air Quality  

Page 72



 
 

 
Supplementary Planning Guidance/ Documents (SPG/ SPD): 
SPG Design Guidelines for New Residential Development 
SPD Coventry Connected 
SPG Householder Design Guide  
 
CONSULTATION 
 
Statutory 
There are no statutory consultees. 
 
Non-statutory 
No Objections received from: 

• Ecology  

No objections subject to conditions/contributions have been received from: 
• Environmental Protection - Any gas boilers installed on site shall have a dry NOx 

emission rate of no more than 40mg/kWh. 
• Highway – required cycle parking details – the applicant has subsequently 

indicated that a covered cycle storage on the proposed site plan. A condition will 
be appended to ensure that the covered cycle storage will be installed prior to the 
occupancy of the flats.  

Neighbour consultation 
Immediate neighbours and local councillors have been notified. No representation has 
been received.  
 
APPRAISAL 
The main issues in determining this application are principle of development, the impact 
upon the character of the area, the impact upon neighbouring amenity and highway 
considerations. 
 
Principle of development 
The National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 11, states that “Plans and decisions 
should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development. For Decision Making, 
this means:- 
 
c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan 
without delay; or 
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most 
important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless: i. 
the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or ii. any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 
when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.”  Footnote 8 to 
paragraph 11 confirms that this includes situations where the local authority cannot 
demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites. 
 
The Coventry Local Plan was formally adopted on 6th December 2017. Since it was 
adopted, the Government introduced the Standard Method, a standardised way of 

Page 73



 
 

calculating minimum housing need.  As the Local Plan is now more than five years old 
the Standard Method is now the determining factor when considering local housing 
needs.  When using the Standard Method the Council is not able to demonstrate a five 
year housing land supply.  As such, the tilted balance is engaged and therefore planning 
permission should be granted, unless “any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits” when assessed against the policies 
of the NPPF taken as a whole. 
 
Policy H3 states new housing must provide high quality residential environments that 
include safe access with adequate amenity space and parking provisions. Policy H5 
states that existing housing stock will be renovated and improved in association with 
enhancement of the surrounding residential environment. Policy H9 states that residential 
development, including conversions, must make the most effective and efficient use of 
land whilst ensuring compatibility with the quality, character and amenity of the 
surrounding area.  
 
The proposed site is located in a residential area, therefore, it is a sustainable location 
where the provision of an additional residential unit is considered acceptable. 
 
Impact on visual amenity 
Section 12 of the NPPF (Dec 2023), specifically paragraph 131 states in part that ‘good 
design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live 
and work and helps make development acceptable to communities’. This is echoed by 
Policies DE1 and H5 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 which seeks to ensure that 
development complements or enhances the character of the surrounding area with 
regard to scale, layout, density, mass, design, materials and architectural features.  
 
The NPPF further states (at paragraph 139) “Permission should be refused for 
development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the 
character and quality of an area and the way it functions, taking into account any local 
design standards or style guides in plans or supplementary planning documents. 
Conversely, where the design of a development accords with clear expectations in plan 
policies, design should not be used by the decision-maker as a valid reason to object to 
development. Local planning authorities should also seek to ensure that the quality of 
approved development is not materially diminished between permission and completion, 
as a result of changes being made to the permitted scheme (for example through changes 
to approved details such as the materials used).”  
 
Policy DE1 of the Local Plan seeks to ensure high quality design and development 
proposals must respect and enhance their surroundings and positively contribute towards 
the local identity and character of an area. 
 
 
The SPG suggests that acceptable design for dormer windows should include:  

• Positioning dormer windows within the main roof slope, set back from eaves, hips 
and ridgelines. 
• Dormer windows that do not dominate the roof slope or existing building, they 
should be the same size or preferably smaller than the windows below and 
occupy no more than half the width or depth of the roof slope. 
• Ensuring dormers do not come within 700mm of the side boundary of the roof 

Page 74



 
 

slope and 1m measured from the eaves line, measured vertically along the roof 
slope. 

 
The proposed dormer will be set in 700mm from both side boundaries and set down 
approximately 650mm from the ridgeline. Although the dormer will only be set 400mm 
above the main eaves, it is still considered acceptable since the dormer is located in the 
rear elevation of the dwelling, it will not be visible from the street scene and should not 
have a detrimental impact upon visual amenity. The two proposed rooflights on the front 
elevation of the main roof will not be prominent from public realm due to its height. 
Therefore, the proposed loft conversion with rear dormer is considered acceptable and 
should not have a detrimental impact upon visual amenity. 
 
The proposed render will be coloured cream and there are many other examples of 
rendering properties along the same street with various colours, eg. no. 38, 40, 42, 44 
and 66 Princess Street. Therefore, rendering is not considered uncommon in the 
neighbourhood and the proposed render should not have an adverse impact upon visual 
amenity.  
 
Impact on residential amenity 
The proposed dormer will not impinge on the 45-degree sightlines from any neighbour’s 
property. The outlook from the proposed dormer will be restricted by the two storeys rear 
wings on both sides, also the outlook from the proposed dormer should be no difference 
from the existing rear window on the two storeys rear wing, therefore, the proposal should 
not create any extra overlooking issues and should not have a detrimental impact upon 
neighbouring amenity.  
 
The new residential design guide SPD provides guidance on the amenity expected from 
new developments. Principle 19 of the SPD states that "as a minimum, the Council will 
expect new housing development to comply with the national internal space standards". 
The proposed conversion will create 2no. 1 bed apartments. The proposed ground floor 
flat measures 42sqm and the proposed first floor flat (including loft) measures 53sqm, 
therefore, it is considered acceptable and accorded with the standard of 39 sqm set out 
by the Technical housing standards – nationally described space standard (NDSS).  
 
Highway considerations 
Policy AC3 of the Local Plan acknowledges that the provision of car parking can influence 
occurrences of inappropriate on-street parking which can block access routes for 
emergency, refuse and delivery vehicles, block footways preventing access for 
pedestrians, reduce visibility at junctions and impact negatively on the street scene.  
Proposals for the provision of car parking associated with new development will be 
assessed on the basis of parking standards set out in Appendix 5. The car parking 
standards also include requirements for the provision of electric car charging and cycle 
parking infrastructure. 
 
Parking provision should accord with the maximum standard expressed in Appendix 5 
unless it has been clearly demonstrated that the site is in a highly accessible location 
where transport, by means other than the private car is a realistic alternative.  In that 
respect lower levels of provision may be considered acceptable where the site is in close 
proximity to the City Centre, a train station, a high-quality rapid transport route or other 
public transport interchange and where there is a package of measures (proportionate to 

Page 75



 
 

the scale of development) to enable sustainable means of transport.  Any variation from 
the maximum standard must be fully justified by proportionate evidence. 
 
The development proposals include the change of use of the existing 3-bed dwelling to 
two one-bed flats. According to Appendix 5 (Car and Cycle Parking Standards for New 
Development) of the Coventry Local Plan 2016, the existing 3-bed dwelling would require 
two car parking spaces and the proposed two one-bed flats will require one space each. 
Therefore, even though off-street car parking is not currently provided nor is any 
proposed, the development should not generate an increase in demand for on-street car 
parking. The Highway Authority is satisfied that the development proposals should not 
generate a significant increase in vehicle trips or demand in car parking to have a severe 
impact on public highway safety, or on the operation or capacity of the local highway 
network.  
 
The applicant has indicated a proposed covered cycle shed, which can accommodate 
2no. bikes, in the rear garden on the proposed site plan. As such, it is considered 
acceptable in term of cycle parking standards for new development and in accordance 
with Appendix 5 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016.  
 
Ecology 
The application would not result in a loss of green space or biodiversity, however 
alterations to the roof raise concerns over the presence of nesting birds or roosting bats. 
However, the Ecology Officer agrees that the roof looks to be in sufficient condition that 
there is minimal likelihood of this. A protected species informative will be added to the 
decision notice.  
 
Equality Implications  
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 created the public sector equality duty. Section 149 
states:-  
 
(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need 
to:  

a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act;  

b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it;  

c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.  

 
Officers have taken this into account and given due regard to this statutory duty, and the 
matters specified in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 in the determination of this 
application.  
 
There are no known equality implications arising directly from this development. 
 
Conclusion 
The proposed development is considered to be acceptable in principle and will not result 
in any significant impact upon neighbour amenity, highway safety or ecology, subject to 
relevant conditions. The reason for Coventry City Council granting planning permission 

Page 76



 
 

is because the development is in accordance with: Policies  DE1, H3, H5, H9, AC1, AC3 
and GE3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016, together with the aims of the NPPF.  
 

CONDITIONS / REASON FOR REFUSAL 

  

 

1. The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years from 
the date of this decision. 

Replace 
To conform with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) 
  

2. 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans: A282 PL(60) 00B &A282 PL(60) 01F & A282 
PL(60) 02E 

Replace For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning 
  

3. 
No facing materials shall be used on the dormer window extension hereby 
permitted other than materials similar in appearance to those used 
predominantly in the construction of the exterior of the roof of existing 
building. 

Replace 

To ensure that the proposed development has a satisfactory external 
appearance in the interests of the visual amenities of the area in 
accordance with Policy DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

4. Any gas boilers installed on site shall have a dry NOx emission rate of no 
more than 40mg/kWh.  

Replace 

To mitigate the impacts of development on air quality in accordance with 
Policy DS3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the aims and objectives of 
the NPPF. 
  

5. 
The two flats hereby approved shall not be occupied unless and until cycle 
parking facilities (covered storage) have been provided in full accordance 
with the approved details. Thereafter those facilities shall remain available 
for use at all times and shall not be removed or altered in any way. 

Replace 

In the interests of encouraging the use of alternative modes of transport 
with the aim of creating a more sustainable city in accordance with Policies 
DS3, AC3 and AC4 of the Coventry Local 2016. 
  

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



101.8m

St Elizabeth's
RC Primary School

38

52

ST ELIZABETHS ROAD

PR
IN

C
ES

S 
ST

R
EE

T

32

115

102

64

76

89

14

103

90

100.6m

52

88

22

2

0 10 20  m

12

PR
IN

CES
S 

ST
REE

T

60

ST ELIZABETHS ROAD

PR
IN

C
ES

S 
ST

R
EE

T

64

76
100.6m

52

2

12

covered
bike shed

bins

PR
IN

CES
S 

ST
REE

T

60

covered
bike shed

bins

60

Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions must be checked and verified before preparing production drawings or commencing works. This drawing
and its design is the copyright of ilyas ArchiTech Ltd and may not be reproduced in any form whatsoever without their prior express written consent.

SITE PLAN...scale 1:500

Application Site

N

W E

S

t  07853 312573
e info@ilyasarchitech.co.uk

ilyasArchiTechLtd
architecture - planning - building regulations - development

Drawing title: Site Location

Drawing Number: 00A282

Scale:

Date:

Drawn :

Site Address:

Project:

As Shown@a3

Nov 2023

Si

Conversion to 2no. flats with dormer window

B

Revision

A 27.11.23 planning submission

SITE PLAN...scale 1:1250

PROPOSED SITE PLAN...scale 1:200

P L A N N I N GN o .  6 0  P r i n c e s s  S t r e e t

PL(60)

60 Princess Street, Coventry, CV6 5BU

100mm80mm60mm40mm20mm0m 10mm

250m200m150m100m50m0mSCALE 1 : 1250
SCALE 1 : 1

100mm80mm60mm40mm20mm0m 10mm

50m40m30m20m10m5m0mSCALE 1 : 500
SCALE 1 : 1

100mm80mm60mm40mm20mm0m 10mm

20m16m12m8m4m2m0mSCALE 1 : 200
SCALE 1 : 1

B 03.05.24 LPA comments, note covered bike shed

P
age 79



LOUNGE

DINING

KITCHEN

BATH

BED 3

BED 2

BED 1

EXISTING
GROUND PLAN

EXISTING
FIRST PLAN

SH
AR

ED
 R

IG
H

T 
O

F 
W

AY

LOUNGE

KITCHEN

BATH

SH
AR

ED
 R

IG
H

T 
O

F 
W

AY

PROPOSED
GROUND PLAN

PROPOSED
FIRST PLAN

new
entrance
door

induction hob

BEDROOM

ST

BEDROOM

svp svp

LOUNGE

BATH

induction hob

KITCHEN

note :
all existing windows to be replaced
to suit current Building Regulations

Area Schedule
ground floor flat
first floor flat (incl loft)

45m²
53m²

Area

Structure to be demolished

100mm Stud Wall

KEY :
Block up to match existing

PROPOSED
LOFT PLAN

svp

STUDY

WC WC

STORE/
AC CUP'D

Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions must be checked and verified before preparing production drawings or commencing works. This drawing
and its design is the copyright of ilyas ArchiTech Ltd and may not be reproduced in any form whatsoever without their prior express written consent.

Revision

t  07853 312573
e info@ilyasarchitech.co.uk

ilyasArchiTechLtd
architecture - planning - project management - development

P L A N N I N GN o .  6 0  P r i n c e s s  S t r e e t

Drawing title: Existing & Proposed Plans

Drawing Number: 01PL(60)A232

Scale:

Date:

Drawn :

Site Address:

Project:

1:100@a3

Nov 2020

Si

Conversion to 2no. flats with dormer window

60 Princess Street, Coventry, CV6 5BU

A 21.10.23 client changes

F

B 01.11.23 client changes
C 03.11.23 client changes

100mm80mm60mm40mm20mm0m 10mm

10m8m6m4m2m1m0mSCALE 1 : 100
SCALE 1 : 1

D 29.11.23 planning submission
E 15.02.24 LPA comments
F 08.05.24 LPA comments

P
age 80



GFLGFL GFL

EXISTING SIDE ELEVATIONEXISTING FRONT
ELEVATION

EXISTING REAR
ELEVATION

GFL GFL

PROPOSED FRONT
ELEVATION

PROPOSED REAR
ELEVATION

GFL

PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION

NEW
ENTRANCE
DOOR

1

2

1
MATERIALS SCHEDULE :
Render finish, colour Cream

Roof tiles to match existing to form
dormer cheeks

2rooflight rooflight

Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions must be checked and verified before preparing production drawings or commencing works. This drawing
and its design is the copyright of ilyas ArchiTech Ltd and may not be reproduced in any form whatsoever without their prior express written consent.

Revision

t  07853 312573
e info@ilyasarchitech.co.uk

ilyasArchiTechLtd
architecture - planning - project management - development

P L A N N I N GN o .  6 0  P r i n c e s s  S t r e e t

Drawing title: Existing & Proposed Elevations

Drawing Number: 02PL(60)A232

Scale:

Date:

Drawn :

Site Address:

Project:

1:100@a3

Nov 2020

Si

Conversion to 2no. flats with dormer window

60 Princess Street, Coventry, CV6 5BU

A 21.10.23 client changes

E

B 01.11.23 client changes
C 03.11.23 client changes

100mm80mm60mm40mm20mm0m 10mm

10m8m6m4m2m1m0mSCALE 1 : 100
SCALE 1 : 1

D 29.11.23 planning submission
E 08.05.24 LPA comments

P
age 81



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report 
Planning Ref:  PL/2023/0002524/FUL 
Site:  88 Station Street West  
Ward: Foleshill 
Proposal: Change of use from single dwelling house to 2no. 1 bed 

flats, dormer to rear, rooflights to front elevation and single 
storey, infill extension to rear outrigger 

Case Officer: Andrew Tew 
 
SUMMARY 
 
The proposal is for a change of use to create 2no. 1 bed flats, dormer to rear, 
rooflights to front elevation and single storey, infill extension to rear outrigger with 
insertion of rooflight.  
 
The application  is before Planning Committee as the applicant is an Elected 
Member.  
 
KEY FACTS 
 
Reason for report to 
committee: 

An Elected Member has an interest in the application 
site 

Current use of site: Single dwellinghouse (C3) 
Proposed use of site: 2 no. flats (C3) 
Parking provision No change  

 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
Planning Committee are recommended to grant planning permission subject to 
conditions. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 
 

• The proposal is acceptable in principle.  
• The proposal will not adversely impact upon highway safety or trees. 
• The proposal will not adversely impact upon the amenity of neighbours. 
• The proposal accords with the Policies DE1, H3, H5, H9, AC1, AC3 and GE3 

of the Coventry Local Plan 2016, together with the aims of the NPPF. 

 
  

Page 83

Agenda Item 9



SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
The application property relates to a two-storey end of terrace dwelling located within 
a residential area of the Foleshill ward. The principal elevation of the dwelling is 
characterised by a red brick finish. There is a gated access alleyway to the side that 
is within the red line boundary. The property is currently not of high visual quality. To 
the east is an area of open land that was in use for parking at the time of site visit.  
The street scene consists of a mix of traditional residential terraces and newer, 
purpose-built housing.   
 
APPLICATION PROPOSAL 
 
The proposal is for a change of use to create 2no. 1 bed flats, dormer to rear, 
rooflights to front elevation and a single storey rear infill extension to the rear 
outrigger with insertion of rooflight and associated alterations.  
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
No planning history  
 
POLICY 
 
National Policy Guidance 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) September 2023. The NPPF sets out the 
Government’s planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. 
It sets out the Government’s requirements for the planning system only to the extent 
that is relevant, proportionate and necessary to do so.  The NPPF increases the focus 
on achieving high quality design and states that it is “fundamental to what the planning 
and development process should achieve”. 
  
The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)  adds further context to the NPPF 
and it is intended that the two documents are read together. 
 
Local Policy Guidance 
The current local policy is provided within the Coventry Local Plan 2016, which was 
adopted by Coventry City Council on 6th December 2017.  Relevant policy relating to 
this application is: 

• DS3 – Sustainable Development  
• DE1 – Ensuring High Quality design  
• AC1 – Accessible Transport Network  
• AC3 - Demand Management  
• GE3 - Biodiversity, Geological, Landscape and Archaeological Conservation  
• H3 – Provision of new housing 
• H5 – Managing Existing Housing Stock  
• H9 – Residential Density  
• EM1 – Planning for Climate Change Adaptation  
• EM2 – Building Standards  
• EM7 – Air Quality  

 

Page 84



Supplementary Planning Guidance/ Documents (SPG/ SPD): 
• SPG Design Guidelines for New Residential Development 
• SPD Delivering a More Sustainable City 
• SPD Coventry Connected 
• SPG Householder Design Guide  

 
CONSULTATION 
 
Statutory consultation 

 
There are no statutory consultees. 

 
Non–statutory consultation 
 

Highways – No objection subject to condition on cycle storage 
 

Environmental Protection -No objection subject to condition on new boilers 
Tree Officer – No objection subject to condition on root protection area  

 
Neighbour consultation 
Immediate neighbours and local councillors have been notified on 24/01/2024:  
 
One objection has been received raising the following issues: 

a. Loss of natural light 
b. Overlooking and loss of privacy 
c. Traffic, noise and disturbance  
d. Loss of trees 

 
Any further comments received will be reported within late representations. 
 
ISSUES AND ASSESSMENT 
 
Principle of development 
The National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 11, states that “Plans and 

decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development.  For 

Decision Making, this means:- 

 

c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development 

plan without delay; or 

d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are 

most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission 

unless: i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 

particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 

proposed; or ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 

demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 

Framework taken as a whole.”  Footnote 8 to paragraph 11 confirms that this 

Page 85



includes situations where the local authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of 

deliverable housing sites. 

 

The Coventry Local Plan was formally adopted on 6th December 2017.  Since it was 

adopted, the Government introduced the Standard Method, a standardised way of 

calculating minimum housing need.  As  the Local Plan is now more than five years 

old the Standard Method is now the determining factor when considering local 

housing need.  When using the Standard Method the Council is not able to 

demonstrate a five year housing land supply.  As such, the tilted balance is engaged 

and therefore planning permission should be granted, unless “any adverse impacts 

of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits” when 

assessed against the policies of the NPPF taken as a whole. 

 
Policy H3 states new housing must provide high quality residential environments that 
include safe access with adequate amenity space and parking provisions. Policy H5 
states that existing housing stock will be renovated and improved in association with 
enhancement of the surrounding residential environment. Policy H9 states that 
residential development, including conversions, must make the most effective and 
efficient use of land whilst ensuring compatibility with the quality, character and 
amenity of the surrounding area.  
 
The proposed conversion to 2 no. 1 bed flats makes effective use of the existing 
dwelling. Investment in, and improvements to, the property will enhance the 
surrounding area. The parking provision remains unchanged and there is significant 
area for private amenity.  
 
As such, the proposal accords with Polices H3, H5 and H9 and is acceptable in 
principle.  
 
Design and visual issues 
 
Section 12 of the NPPF (Dec 2023), specifically paragraph 131 states in part that 
‘good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in 
which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities’. 
This is echoed by Policies DE1 and H5 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 which seeks 
to ensure that development complements or enhances the character of the 
surrounding area with regard to scale, layout, density, mass, design, materials and 
architectural features.  
 
At the rear, a flat roofed dormer is proposed. It is set down from the ridge of the roof 
and set in on both sides. The dormer will not be visible from the street scene. There 
are no public views from the rear, as the access to the east is gated. The nearest 
property which backs onto the site, no. 78 Station Street West, has 1st  floor window 
to window separation instances in excess of 22m. The dormer is indicated to be 
finished with hanging roof tiles to match exiting.  This would be permitted 
development for a C3 dwelling but flats do not benefit from permitted development 
rights for householder extensions.  

Page 86



 
A single storey, rear extension proposed to infill the area between the existing 
outrigger to bring it in line with the existing eastern wall measures 5.2m in length and 
1.5m in depth. The area that it will cover is currently laid to slabbing. A door to the 
rear will provide access to the garden area. The current arrangement at the rear is 
rather ramshackle and the proposal will visually improve the dwelling.  
 
The front rooflights would be allowed under permitted development rights for a C3 
dwelling but not for  flats. Considered in the context of the street scene, the proposal 
does not create any issues of visual concern or overlooking. 
 
The front and side of the dwelling is shown to be finished in cream render. This will 
match other properties within the terrace, which are a mix of render and pebbledash. 
Newly rendered elevations will be a welcome improvement to the current state of the 
property.  
 
Internal reconfiguration, with the main entrance moved to the eastern side elevation, 
enables both flats access to private amenity space. There is over 75sqm of private 
amenity space available for future users.  
 
The proposed flats are 41 and 44sqm in size, which is above the National Space 
standards of 37sqm of a one bed, one person dwelling (this stated use has been 
confirmed by the agent).  Environmental Protection have been consulted and raise 
no objection subject to conditions on boiler installation and noise attenuation 
measures.  
 
The proposal will likely improve the visual amenity of the site and accords with 
Polices DE1 and H5.   
 
Impact on neighbouring amenity 
 
Policy H5 requires new development to be designed and positioned so it does not 
adversely affect the amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring properties. 
 
The site benefits from a large plot, with significant private amenity space and gated 
access to the side. The applicaion is for small scale changes, to include a single 
storey, infill extension and dormer window. Such development is commonplace and 
expected in a City location. The nearest property which backs onto the site, no. 78 
Station Street West, has 1st  floor window to window separation instances in excess 
of 22m. 
 
An objection relating to overlooking and loss of privacy from a neighbouring property 
which has a 1st floor window to window separation distance of in excess of 45m at an 
oblique angle, overlooking the gardens of 10 other properties. The distances are 
such the objection does not substantiate a reason for refusal, as the issues of 
overlooking and loss of privacy would be minimal.  
 
The objection goes onto list loss of natural light, traffic, noise and disturbance and loss 
of trees created by the proposal. However, the dormer and extension will create 
minimal loss of light, considering the extension is single storey and the dormer sits 

Page 87



within the plane of the existing roof. In relation to traffic, noise and disturbance, the 
changes proposed are minor. The site benefits from a side access to drop materials 
and undertake the works. Such works are to be expected within a City location.  
 
For the reasons discussed above, the change of use and material works proposed  
is not considered to adversely affect the amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring 
properties. Bringing a derelict property back into use accords with Policy H5 and it is 
considered a property in use is less likely to attract anti-social behaviour than an 
empty one.  
 
Highways 
 
Highways have been consulted and raise no objection to the applicaion, subject to a 
condition for cycle parking. The parking requirement for the proposed 2 no. flats 
remains the same as that required by the current 2 bed dwelling.  
 
Therefore, the scheme would provide for a satisfactory level of parking, in 
accordance with Policies AC1 and AC3 of the Local Plan.  
 
Trees 
 
There is a tree within the garden of the property which is located over 7.5 meters 
from the proposed extension. The Tree Officer has been consulted and notes the 
works appear located close to the Root Protection Area of the tree, therefore a Tree 
Protection Plan is required. This will ensure no materials or unnecessary works are 
undertaken within the RPA. It is understood that the works are located within existing 
hard surfacing and the presence of this will have adapted the root morphology.  

As such, a condition will be included to ensure there is no damage to the tree, via a 
root protection zone.  
 
Equality Implications  
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 created the public sector equality duty. Section 
149 states:-  
 
(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the 
need to:  

a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that 
is prohibited by or under this Act;  

b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;  

c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.  

 
Officers have taken this into account and given due regard to this statutory duty, and 
the matters specified in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 in the determination of 
this application.  
There are no known equality implications arising directly from this development. 
 
CONCLUSION 

Page 88



The proposed development is considered to be acceptable in principle and will not 

result in any significant impact upon neighbour amenity, visual amenity or highway 

safety.  The reason for Coventry City Council granting planning permission is because 

the development is in accordance with: Policies DE1, H3, H5, H9, AC1, AC3 and GE3 

of the Coventry Local Plan 2017, together with the aims of the NPPF.  

CONDITIONS / REASON FOR REFUSAL 

1. 
The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years 

from the date of this decision. 

Reason 

To conform with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

(as amended) 

  

2. 

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans: 

DWG A282-PL88-00B 
DWG A282-PL88-01B 
DWG A282-PL88-02B 

Reason For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning 
  

3. 

Before any development commences on site (including any demolition, 
site clearance or other preparatory works) the following shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: a) 
a detailed scaled plan (to a scale and level of accuracy appropriate to 
the proposal) showing the location and species of all trees within the site 
and every tree on land adjacent to the site (including street trees) that is 
likely to have an effect upon or be affected by the proposal (e.g. by 
shade, crown overhang from the boundary, intrusion of the Root 
Protection Area etc), their trunk diameter at chest height, their root 
protection areas, crown spread to North, East, South and West aspects 
and measurement from trunk centres to tree protection fence; b) details 
of the temporary fence (eg Heras fencing and method to be anchored 
into the ground) to be superimposed upon the proposed layout plan; c) a 
statement to confirm that the approved tree protection measures will be 
erected to the Root Protection Area will be erected prior to the 
commencement of development and to remain in place to the end of the 
build phase. 

The approved mitigation and / or protection measures shall be put into 
place prior to the commencement of any works and shall remain in place 
during all construction work. 

Page 89



Reason 

To protect those trees which are of significant amenity value to the area 

and which would provide an enhanced standard of appearance to the 

development in accordance with Policy GE3 and GE4 of the Coventry 

Local Plan 2016. 
  

4. 

No facing materials shall be used on the dormer window extension 

hereby permitted other than materials similar in appearance to those 

used predominantly in the construction of the exterior of the roof of 

existing building. 

Reason 

To ensure that the proposed development has a satisfactory external 

appearance in the interests of the visual amenities of the area in 

accordance with Policy DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

5. 

Other than where specified on the approved plans, no facing materials 

shall be used for the extension other than materials similar in 

appearance to those used predominantly in the construction of the 

exterior of the existing building. 

Reason 

To ensure that the proposed development has a satisfactory external 

appearance in the interests of the visual amenities of the area in 

accordance with Policy DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016.  
  

6. 

The two flats hereby permitted shall not be occupied unless and until 

cycle parking facilities have been provided in full accordance with the 

approved details. Thereafter those facilities shall remain available for use 

at all times and shall not be removed or altered in any way. 

Reason 

In the interests of encouraging the use of alternative modes of transport 

with the aim of creating a more sustainable city in accordance with 

Policies DS3, AC3 and AC4 of the Coventry Local 2016. 

  

7. 
Any gas boilers installed on site shall have a dry NOx emission rate of no 

more than 40mg/kWh.  

Reason 

To mitigate the impacts of development on air quality in accordance with 

Policy DS3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the aims and objectives 

of the NPPF. 
  

Page 90



 

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



63

3

1

9

68

100

7

67
88

85

100.3m

101.0mSTATION STREET WEST

1

104

80

75

78
101.2m 56

101.4m

58

El Sub Sta

34

72

78

74

Bethel New Life
Apostolic Church

27

30

29

0 10 20  m

STATION STREET W
EST

100

67

88

101.0m

34

72

78
STATION STREET W

EST

covered
bike
shed

bins

88

STATION STREET W
EST

covered
bike
shed

bins

Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions must be checked and verified before preparing production drawings or commencing works. This drawing
and its design is the copyright of ilyas ArchiTech Ltd and may not be reproduced in any form whatsoever without their prior express written consent.

SITE PLAN...scale 1:500

Application Site

N

W E

S

t  07853 312573
e info@ilyasarchitech.co.uk

ilyasArchiTechLtd
architecture - planning - building regulations - development

Drawing title: Site Location

Drawing Number: 00A282

Scale:

Date:

Drawn :

Site Address:

Project:

As Shown@a3

Nov 2023

Si

Conversion to 2no. flats with dormer window

B

Revision

A 29.11.23 planning submission

SITE PLAN...scale 1:1250

PROPOSED SITE PLAN...scale 1:200

100mm80mm60mm40mm20mm0m 10mm

250m200m150m100m50m0mSCALE 1 : 1250
SCALE 1 : 1

100mm80mm60mm40mm20mm0m 10mm

50m40m30m20m10m5m0mSCALE 1 : 500
SCALE 1 : 1

100mm80mm60mm40mm20mm0m 10mm

20m16m12m8m4m2m0mSCALE 1 : 200
SCALE 1 : 1

P L A N N I N GN o .  8 8  S t a t i o n  S t r e e t  W e s t

PL(88)

88 Station Street West, Coventry, CV6 5ND
B 03.05.24 LPA comments, note covered bike shed

P
age 93



LOUNGE

DINING

KITCHEN

BATH

BED 1

BED 2

EXISTING
GROUND PLAN

EXISTING
FIRST PLAN

Area Schedule
ground floor flat
first floor flat (incl loft)

41m²
44m²

Area

BEDROOM

PROPOSED
GROUND PLAN

PROPOSED
FIRST PLAN

new
entrance
door

svpsvp

induction hob

svp

LOUNGE &
KITCHEN

SH
O

W
ER

ST
remove
door

Structure to be demolished

100mm Stud Wall

KEY :
New wall match existing

LOUNGE/
KITCHEN

induction hob

svp

PROPOSED
LOFT PLAN

svp

BEDROOM

Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions must be checked and verified before preparing production drawings or commencing works. This drawing
and its design is the copyright of ilyas ArchiTech Ltd and may not be reproduced in any form whatsoever without their prior express written consent.

Revision

t  07853 312573
e info@ilyasarchitech.co.uk

ilyasArchiTechLtd
architecture - planning - project management - development

P L A N N I N GN o .  8 8  S t a t i o n  S t r e e t  W e s t

Drawing title: Plans

Drawing Number: 01PL(88)A232

Scale:

Date:

Drawn :

Site Address:

Project:

1:100@a3

Nov 2023

Si

Conversion to 2no. flats

88 Station Street West, Coventry, CV6 5ND

A 29.11.23 client changes

B

100mm80mm60mm40mm20mm0m 10mm

10m8m6m4m2m1m0mSCALE 1 : 100
SCALE 1 : 1B 29.11.23 planning submission

P
age 94



GFL

EXISTING FRONT
ELEVATION

GFL

EXISTING REAR
ELEVATION

GFL

EXISTING SIDE ELEVATION

GFL

PROPOSED
FRONT ELEVATION

GFL

PROPOSED REAR
ELEVATION

GFL

PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION

form new
existing
obscure
windowblockup window cill

height raised to
suit kitchen units,
make good finish
to match existing

NEW
ENTRANCE
DOOR

rooflight rooflight

rooflight

1

2

MATERIALS SCHEDULE :
Render finish, colour Cream

Roof tiles to match existing to form
dormer cheeks

2

1

Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions must be checked and verified before preparing production drawings or commencing works. This drawing
and its design is the copyright of ilyas ArchiTech Ltd and may not be reproduced in any form whatsoever without their prior express written consent.

Revision

t  07853 312573
e info@ilyasarchitech.co.uk

ilyasArchiTechLtd
architecture - planning - project management - development

P L A N N I N GN o .  8 8  S t a t i o n  S t r e e t  W e s t

Drawing title: Elevations

Drawing Number: 02PL(88)A232

Scale:

Date:

Drawn :

Site Address:

Project:

1:100@a3

Nov 2023

Si

Conversion to 2no. flats

88 Station Street West, Coventry, CV6 5ND

A 29.11.23 client changes

B

100mm80mm60mm40mm20mm0m 10mm

10m8m6m4m2m1m0mSCALE 1 : 100
SCALE 1 : 1B 29.11.23 planning submission

P
age 95



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Planning Committee Report 
Planning Ref:  PL/2023/0002522/FUL 
Site:  12 St Elizabeths Road CV6 5BY 
Ward: Foleshill 
Proposal: Change of use of single dwellinghouse to 2 no. (one 

bedroom) flats and the erection of a rear dormer with 
associated alterations 

Case Officer: Yeuk Lam 
 
SUMMARY 
The application site is a two-storey mid terrace property located in a residential area. The 
application seeks consent to change of use from a single dwellinghouse to 2 no. (one 
bedroom) flats and the erection of a rear dormer with associated alterations. The proposal 
is considered to have an acceptable impact upon the neighbour’s amenity and character 
of the main house. 
 
The application is before Planning Committee as the applicant is an Elected Member. 
 
KEY FACTS 
 
Reason for report to 
committee: 

An Elected Member has an interest in the application site 

Current use of site: 1 no. residential dwelling C3 
Proposed use of site: 2 no. residential dwelling (flats) C3 

 
RECOMMENDATION  
Planning Committee are recommended to grant planning permission subject to 
conditions. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 
 

• The proposal is acceptable in principle.  
• The proposal will not adversely impact upon highway safety. 
• The proposal will not adversely impact upon the amenity of neighbours. 
• The proposal accords with Policies: DE1, H3, H5, H9, AC1, AC3 and GE3 of the 

Coventry Local Plan 2016, together with the aims of the NPPF. 

SITE DESCRIPTION 
The application site is a two-storey mid terrace property located in a residential 
area in Foleshill. The main amenity space is to the rear of the property with a 
boundary fence surrounding the site.  
 
The application site has a shared access with adjoining neighbour no. 14 St Elizabeths 
Road.  
 
APPLICATION PROPOSAL 
The application seeks consent for change of use of single dwellinghouse to 2 no. (one 
bedroom) flats and the erection of a rear dormer with associated alterations.  
 

Page 97

Agenda Item 10



 
 

The proposed ground floor flat measures 39sqm and the proposed first floor flat (including 
loft) measures 53sqm. Both flats will have a lounge, 1no. bedroom, a kitchen and a 
bathroom.  
 
There will be an enlarged window on the side elevation of the rear wing.  
 
The proposed rear dormer will be set in 700mm from both side boundaries, set down 
approximately 600mm from the ridgeline and set 400mm above the main eaves. There 
will be two rooflights on the front elevation of the main roof.  
 
The proposed new side access will be located within the shared access with the 
neighbour at no. 14 and the gate of the shared access will be retained.  
 
The whole house will be rendered to a cream colour finish and the proposed dormer will 
be finished with materials matching the main dwelling.  
 
The proposal also indicates a proposed covered cycle shed, which can accommodate 
2no. bikes, in the rear garden. 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
There is no relevant or recent planning history. 
 
POLICY 
 
National Policy Guidance 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) September 2023. The NPPF sets out the 
Government’s planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. 
It sets out the Government’s requirements for the planning system only to the extent that 
is relevant, proportionate and necessary to do so. The NPPF increases the focus on 
achieving high quality design and states that it is “fundamental to what the planning and 
development process should achieve”. 
  
The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) adds further context to the NPPF and 
it is intended that the two documents are read together. 
 
Local Policy Guidance 
The current local policy is provided within the Coventry Local Plan 2016, which was 
adopted by Coventry City Council on 6th December 2017.  Relevant policy relating to this 
application is: 

• DS3 – Sustainable Development  
• DE1 – Ensuring High Quality design  
• AC1 – Accessible Transport Network  
• AC3 - Demand Management  
• GE3 - Biodiversity, Geological, Landscape and Archaeological Conservation  
• H3 – Provision of New Housing  
• H5 – Managing Existing Housing Stock  
• H9 – Residential Density  
• EM1 – Planning for Climate Change Adaptation  
• EM2 – Building Standards  

Page 98



 
 

• EM7 – Air Quality  

Supplementary Planning Guidance/ Documents (SPG/ SPD): 
SPG Design Guidelines for New Residential Development 
SPD Coventry Connected 
SPG Householder Design Guide  
 
CONSULTATION 
 
Statutory 
There are no statutory consultees. 
 
Non-statutory 
No Objections received from: 

• Ecology  

No objections subject to conditions/contributions have been received from: 
• Environmental Protection - Any gas boilers installed on site shall have a dry NOx 

emission rate of no more than 40mg/kWh. 
• Highway – required cycle parking details – the applicant has subsequently 

indicated that a covered cycle storage on the proposed site plan. A condition will 
be appended to ensure that the covered cycle storage will be installed prior to the 
occupancy of the flats.  

Neighbour consultation 
Immediate neighbours and local councillors have been notified.  
 
One letter of objection had been received, raising the following material planning 
considerations: 
a) Due to the proposed new side access to the ground floor flat, the shared side access 

may create security issues, noise, anti-social behaviour to the adjoining neighbour.  
b) Loss of light due to the proposed dormer.  

APPRAISAL 
The main issues in determining this application are principle of development, the impact 
upon the character of the area, the impact upon neighbouring amenity and highway 
considerations. 
 
Principle of development 
The National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 11, states that “Plans and decisions 
should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development. For Decision Making, 
this means:- 
 
c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan 
without delay; or 
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most 
important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless: i. 
the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or ii. any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 

Page 99



 
 

when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.”  Footnote 8 to 
paragraph 11 confirms that this includes situations where the local authority cannot 
demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites. 
 
The Coventry Local Plan was formally adopted on 6th December 2017. Since it was 
adopted, the Government introduced the Standard Method, a standardised way of 
calculating minimum housing need.  As the Local Plan is now more than five years old 
the Standard Method is now the determining factor when considering local housing 
needs.  When using the Standard Method the Council is not able to demonstrate a five 
year housing land supply.  As such, the tilted balance is engaged and therefore planning 
permission should be granted, unless “any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits” when assessed against the policies 
of the NPPF taken as a whole. 
 
Policy H3 states new housing must provide high quality residential environments that 
include safe access with adequate amenity space and parking provisions. Policy H5 
states that existing housing stock will be renovated and improved in association with 
enhancement of the surrounding residential environment. Policy H9 states that residential 
development, including conversions, must make the most effective and efficient use of 
land whilst ensuring compatibility with the quality, character and amenity of the 
surrounding area.  
 
The proposed site is located in a residential area, therefore, it is a sustainable location 
where the provision of an additional residential unit is considered acceptable. 
 
Impact on visual amenity 
Section 12 of the NPPF (Dec 2023), specifically paragraph 131 states in part that ‘good 
design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live 
and work and helps make development acceptable to communities’. This is echoed by 
Policies DE1 and H5 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 which seeks to ensure that 
development complements or enhances the character of the surrounding area with 
regard to scale, layout, density, mass, design, materials and architectural features. 
 
The NPPF further states (at paragraph 139) “Permission should be refused for 
development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the 
character and quality of an area and the way it functions, taking into account any local 
design standards or style guides in plans or supplementary planning documents. 
Conversely, where the design of a development accords with clear expectations in plan 
policies, design should not be used by the decision-maker as a valid reason to object to 
development. Local planning authorities should also seek to ensure that the quality of 
approved development is not materially diminished between permission and completion, 
as a result of changes being made to the permitted scheme (for example through changes 
to approved details such as the materials used).”  
 
Policy DE1 of the Local Plan seeks to ensure high quality design and development 
proposals must respect and enhance their surroundings and positively contribute towards 
the local identity and character of an area.  
 
The SPG suggests that acceptable design for dormer windows should include:  

• Positioning dormer windows within the main roof slope, set back from eaves, hips 

Page 100



 
 

and ridgelines. 
• Dormer windows that do not dominate the roof slope or existing building, they 
should be the same size or preferably smaller than the windows below and 
occupy no more than half the width or depth of the roof slope. 
• Ensuring dormers do not come within 700mm of the side boundary of the roof 
slope and 1m measured from the eaves line, measured vertically along the roof 
slope. 

 
The proposed dormer will be set in 700mm from both side boundaries and set down 
approximately 600mm from the ridgeline. Although the dormer will only be set 400mm 
above the main eaves, it is still considered acceptable since the dormer is located in the 
rear elevation of the dwelling, it will not be visible from the street scene and should not 
have a detrimental impact upon visual amenity. The two proposed rooflights on the front 
elevation of the main roof will not be prominent from public realm due to its height. 
Therefore, the proposed loft conversion with rear dormer is considered acceptable and 
should not have a detrimental impact upon visual amenity. 
 
The proposed render will be coloured cream and there are many other examples of 
rendering properties along the same street with various colours, eg. no. 16, 28, 30, 36 
and 38 St Elizabeths Road. Therefore, rendering is not considered uncommon in the 
neighbourhood and the proposed render should not have an adverse impact upon visual 
amenity.  
 
Impact on residential amenity 
The proposed dormer will not impinge on the 45-degree sightlines from any neighbour’s 
property. The outlook from the proposed dormer will be restricted by the two storeys rear 
wings on both sides, also the outlook from the proposed dormer should be no difference 
from the existing rear window on the two storeys rear wing, therefore, the proposal should 
not create any extra overlooking issues and should not have a detrimental impact upon 
neighbouring amenity.  
 
The proposed enlarged window on the side elevation of the rear wing should not create 
any extra overlooking issue as a window is already in situ on the same position, and the 
size and scale of the enlarged window is considered acceptable and proportionate to the 
main dwelling.  
 
The new residential design guide SPD provides guidance on the amenity expected from 
new developments. Principle 19 of the SPD states that "as a minimum, the Council will 
expect new housing development to comply with the national internal space standards". 
The proposed conversion will create 2no. 1 bed apartments. The proposed ground floor 
flat measures 39sqm and the proposed first floor flat (including loft) measures 53sqm, 
therefore, it is considered acceptable and accorded with the standard of 39 sqm set out 
by the Technical housing standards – nationally described space standard (NDSS).  
 
An objection has been received from a neighbour due to the proposed new side access 
to the ground floor flat, the shared side access may create security issues, noise, anti-
social behaviour to the adjoining neighbour. Although the proposal will create a new side 
access from the shared access with neighbour no. 14, the shared access will be remained 
and gated, therefore, only residents who have the access key will be able to access the 
shared access. Further to the shared access, both rear gardens of no. 12 and 14 are also 

Page 101



 
 

gated, therefore, other than residents, no one should be allowed to go through those 
gated.  
 
The level of activity arising from 2no. flats is not considered to be significantly greater 
than a typical family home and therefore increased the potential for noise and disturbance 
should not be detrimental.  
 
Any noise nuisance or anti-social behaviour would be dealt with under other legislation.   
 
In respect of the concerns about loss of light due to the proposed dormer. The proposed 
dormer will be set in 700mm from both side boundaries, set down approximately 600mm 
from the ridgeline and set 400mm above the main eaves. The design principle of the 
dormer has already been considered in above section and the proposed dormer is not 
considered to be disproportionate to the main dwelling, therefore, the overshadowing and 
loss of light issues should not be detrimental to any adjoining neighbours.   
 
Highway considerations 
Policy AC3 of the Local Plan acknowledges that the provision of car parking can influence 
occurrences of inappropriate on-street parking which can block access routes for 
emergency, refuse and delivery vehicles, block footways preventing access for 
pedestrians, reduce visibility at junctions and impact negatively on the street scene.  
Proposals for the provision of car parking associated with new development will be 
assessed on the basis of parking standards set out in Appendix 5. The car parking 
standards also include requirements for the provision of electric car charging and cycle 
parking infrastructure. 
 
Parking provision should accord with the maximum standard expressed in Appendix 5 
unless it has been clearly demonstrated that the site is in a highly accessible location 
where transport, by means other than the private car is a realistic alternative.  In that 
respect lower levels of provision may be considered acceptable where the site is in close 
proximity to the City Centre, a train station, a high-quality rapid transport route or other 
public transport interchange and where there is a package of measures (proportionate to 
the scale of development) to enable sustainable means of transport.  Any variation from 
the maximum standard must be fully justified by proportionate evidence. 
 
The development proposals include the change of use of the existing 3-bed dwelling to 
two one-bed flats. According to Appendix 5 (Car and Cycle Parking Standards for New 
Development) of the Coventry Local Plan 2016, the existing 3-bed dwelling would require 
two car parking spaces and the proposed two one-bed flats will require one space each. 
Therefore, even though off-street car parking is not currently provided nor is any 
proposed, the development should not generate an increase in demand for on-street car 
parking. The Highway Authority is satisfied that the development proposals should not 
generate a significant increase in vehicle trips or demand in car parking to have a severe 
impact on public highway safety, or on the operation or capacity of the local highway 
network.  
 
The applicant has indicated a proposed covered cycle shed, which can accommodate 
2no. bikes, in the rear garden on the proposed site plan. As such, it is considered 
acceptable in term of cycle parking standards for new development and in accordance 
with Appendix 5 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016.  

Page 102



 
 

 
Ecology 
The application would not result in a loss of green space or biodiversity, however 
alterations to the roof raise concerns over the presence of nesting birds or roosting bats. 
However, the Ecology Officer agrees that the roof looks to be in sufficient condition that 
there is minimal likelihood of this. A protected species informative will be added to the 
decision notice.  
 
Equality Implications  
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 created the public sector equality duty. Section 149 
states:-  
 
(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need 
to:  

a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act;  

b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it;  

c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.  

 
Officers have taken this into account and given due regard to this statutory duty, and the 
matters specified in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 in the determination of this 
application.  
 
There are no known equality implications arising directly from this development. 
 
Conclusion 
The proposed development is considered to be acceptable in principle and will not result 
in any significant impact upon neighbour amenity, highway safety or ecology, subject to 
relevant conditions. The reason for Coventry City Council granting planning permission 
is because the development is in accordance with: Policies DE1, H3, H5, H9, AC1, AC3 
and GE3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016, together with the aims of the NPPF.  
 

CONDITIONS / REASON FOR REFUSAL 

1. 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans: A282-PL12-00B & A282-PL12-02F & A282-
PL12-01F 

Replace For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning 
  

2. The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years from 
the date of this decision. 

Page 103



 
 

  

 

Replace 
To conform with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(as amended) 
  

3. 
No facing materials shall be used on the dormer window extension hereby 
permitted other than materials similar in appearance to those used 
predominantly in the construction of the exterior of the roof of existing 
building. 

Replace 

To ensure that the proposed development has a satisfactory external 
appearance in the interests of the visual amenities of the area in 
accordance with Policy DE1 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

4. 
The two flats hereby approved shall not be occupied unless and until cycle 
parking facilities (covered storage) have been provided in full accordance 
with the approved details. Thereafter those facilities shall remain available 
for use at all times and shall not be removed or altered in any way. 

Replace 

In the interests of encouraging the use of alternative modes of transport 
with the aim of creating a more sustainable city in accordance with Policies 
DS3, AC3 and AC4 of the Coventry Local 2016. 
  

5. Any gas boilers installed on site shall have a dry NOx emission rate of no 
more than 40mg/kWh. 

Replace 

To mitigate the impacts of development on air quality in accordance with 
Policy DS3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the aims and objectives of 
the NPPF. 
  

Page 104



101.8m

St Elizabeth's
RC Primary School

38

52

ST ELIZABETHS ROAD

PR
IN

C
ES

S 
ST

R
EE

T

32

115

102

64

76

89

14

103

90

100.6m

52

88

22

2

0 10 20  m

12

PR
IN

CES
S 

ST
REE

T

ST ELIZABETHS ROAD 76

89

14

100.6m

22

2

12

covered
bike shed

bins

PR
IN

CES
S 

ST
REE

T

ST ELIZABETHS ROAD

14 12

covered
bike shed

bins

Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions must be checked and verified before preparing production drawings or commencing works. This drawing
and its design is the copyright of ilyas ArchiTech Ltd and may not be reproduced in any form whatsoever without their prior express written consent.

SITE PLAN...scale 1:500

Application Site

N

W E

S

t  07853 312573
e info@ilyasarchitech.co.uk

ilyasArchiTechLtd
architecture - planning - building regulations - development

Drawing title: Site Location

Drawing Number: 00A282

Scale:

Date:

Drawn :

Site Address:

Project:

As Shown@a3

Nov 2023

Si

Conversion to 2no. flats with dormer window

B

Revision

A 27.11.23 planning submission

SITE PLAN...scale 1:1250

PROPOSED SITE PLAN...scale 1:200

P L A N N I N GN o .  1 2  S t  E l i z a b e t h s  R o a d

PL(12)

12 St Elizabeths Road, Coventry, CV6 5BY

100mm80mm60mm40mm20mm0m 10mm

250m200m150m100m50m0mSCALE 1 : 1250
SCALE 1 : 1

100mm80mm60mm40mm20mm0m 10mm

50m40m30m20m10m5m0mSCALE 1 : 500
SCALE 1 : 1

100mm80mm60mm40mm20mm0m 10mm

20m16m12m8m4m2m0mSCALE 1 : 200
SCALE 1 : 1

B 03.05.24 LPA comments, note covered bike shed

P
age 105



LOUNGE

DINING

KITCHEN

BATH

BED 3

BED 2

BED 1

EXISTING
GROUND PLAN

EXISTING
FIRST PLAN

SH
AR

ED
 R

IG
H

T 
O

F 
W

AY

LOUNGE

KITCHEN

BATH

SH
AR

ED
 R

IG
H

T 
O

F 
W

AY

PROPOSED
GROUND PLAN

PROPOSED
FIRST PLAN

induction hob

BEDROOM

remove
door

ST

STUDY

svp svp svp
svp

LOUNGE

BATH

induction hob

KITCHEN

new
entrance
door

new
window

Structure to be demolished

100mm Stud Wall

KEY :
Block up to match existing

note :
all existing windows to be replaced
to suit current Building Regulations

Area Schedule
ground floor flat
first floor flat (incl loft)

43m²
53m²

Area

PROPOSED
LOFT PLAN

svp

BEDROOM

STORE/
AC CUP'D

Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions must be checked and verified before preparing production drawings or commencing works. This drawing
and its design is the copyright of ilyas ArchiTech Ltd and may not be reproduced in any form whatsoever without their prior express written consent.

Revision

t  07853 312573
e info@ilyasarchitech.co.uk

ilyasArchiTechLtd

P L A N N I N GN o .  1 2  S t  E l i z a b e t h s  R o a d

Drawing title: Existing & Proposed Plans

Drawing Number: 01PL(12)A282

Scale:

Date:

Drawn :

Site Address:

Project:

1:100@a3

Jan 2023

Si

Conversion to 2no. flats with dormer window

12 St Elizabeths Road, Coventry, CV6 5BY architecture - planning - building regulations - development

A 21.01.23 client changes

F

B 21.10.23 client changes
C 01.11.23 client changes
D 03.11.23 client changes

100mm80mm60mm40mm20mm0m 10mm

10m8m6m4m2m1m0mSCALE 1 : 100
SCALE 1 : 1

E 15.02.24 LPA comments
F 08.05.24 LPA comments

P
age 106



GFLGFL GFL

EXISTING SIDE ELEVATIONEXISTING FRONT
ELEVATION

EXISTING REAR
ELEVATION

GFL GFL

PROPOSED FRONT
ELEVATION

PROPOSED REAR
ELEVATION

GFL

PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION

NEW
ENTRANCE
DOOR

form new
existing
obscure
window

new longer
window

1
MATERIALS SCHEDULE :
Render finish, colour Cream

Roof tiles to match existing to form
dormer cheeks

1

2 2
rooflight rooflight

Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions must be checked and verified before preparing production drawings or commencing works. This drawing
and its design is the copyright of ilyas ArchiTech Ltd and may not be reproduced in any form whatsoever without their prior express written consent.

Revision

t  07853 312573
e info@ilyasarchitech.co.uk

ilyasArchiTechLtd

P L A N N I N GN o .  1 2  S t  E l i z a b e t h s  R o a d

Drawing title: Existing & Proposes Elevations

Drawing Number: 02PL(12)A232

Scale:

Date:

Drawn :

Site Address:

Project:

1:100@a3

Jan 2023

Si

Conversion to 2no. flats with dormer window

12 St Elizabeths Road, Coventry, CV6 5BY architecture - planning - building regulations - development

A 21.01.23 client changes

F

B 21.10.23 client changes
C 01.11.23 client changes
D 03.11.23 client changes

100mm80mm60mm40mm20mm0m 10mm

10m8m6m4m2m1m0mSCALE 1 : 100
SCALE 1 : 1

E 03.05.24 client changes
F 08.05.24 LPA comments

P
age 107



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report 
Planning Ref:  PL/2023/0002521/FUL 
Site:  14 Eld Road  
Ward: Foleshill 
Proposal: Change of use from single dwelling house to 2no. 1 bed 

flats, erection of rear dormer and associated changes  
Case Officer: Andrew Tew 

 
SUMMARY 
 
The proposal is for a change of use to create 2no. 1 bed flats, erection of rear dormer and associated 
changes.  
 
The application  is before Planning Committee as the applicant is an Elected Member.  
 
KEY FACTS 
 
Reason for report to 
committee: 

An Elected Member has an interest in the application site 

Current use of site: Single dwellinghouse (C3) 
Proposed use of site: 2 no. flats (C3) 
Parking provision No change  

 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
Planning Committee are recommended to grant planning permission subject to conditions. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 
 

• The proposal is acceptable in principle.  
• The proposal will not adversely impact upon highway safety. 
• The proposal will not adversely impact upon the amenity of neighbours. 
• The proposal accords with the Policies DE1, H3, H5, H9, AC1, AC3 and GE3 of the Coventry 

Local Plan 2016, together with the aims of the NPPF. 
 
 
SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
The application property relates to a two storey mid-terrace dwelling located within a residential area 
of the Foleshill ward. The principal elevation of the dwelling has a white render finish. There is a shared 
access alleyway to the side that provides access to the rear gardens of this and no. 18. The street 
scene consists of a mix of traditional residential terraces, many of which have had alterations.  
 
PROPOSAL DESCRIPTION 
 
The proposal is for a change of use to create 2no. 1 bed flats, erection of rear dormer and associated 
changes.  
 
RELEVANT HISTORY 
 
No planning history 
 
POLICY GUIDANCE 
National Policy Guidance 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) December 2023. The NPPF sets out the Government’s 
planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. It sets out the Government’s 
requirements for the planning system only to the extent that is relevant, proportionate and necessary 

Page 109

Agenda Item 11



to do so.  The NPPF increases the focus on achieving high quality design and states that it is 
“fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve”. 
  
The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)  adds further context to the NPPF and it is intended 
that the two documents are read together. 
 
Local plan 
 
As required by Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, the proposed 
development must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  
 
The Statutory Development Plan for the area relevant to this application site comprises of the Coventry 
City Council Local Plan 2016. Relevant policies are outlined below.  
 

• DS3 – Sustainable Development  
• DE1 – Ensuring High Quality design  
• AC1 – Accessible Transport Network  
• AC3 - Demand Management  
• GE3 - Biodiversity, Geological, Landscape and Archaeological Conservation  
• H3 – Provision of New Housing  
• H5 – Managing Existing Housing Stock  
• H9 – Residential Density  
• EM1 – Planning for Climate Change Adaptation  
• EM2 – Building Standards  
• EM7 – Air Quality  

 
SPD/ SPG 
 

• SPG Design Guidelines for New Residential Development 
• SPD Delivering a More Sustainable City 
• SPD Coventry Connected 
• SPG Householder Design Guide  

 
 
CONSULTATION  
 
Statutory consultees 

 
There are no statutory consultees. 
Non–statutory consultees 
 

Environmental Protection -No objection subject to condition on new boilers 
Highways – No objection subject to condition on cycle storage 
 
 

Neighbour consultation 
Neighbour notification was sent in accordance with the Communications Record on 18/02/2022 
Two objections have been received. In summary the objections raised are as follows: 

a. Reconfiguration of layout with entrance being moved to side accessed through shared 
alleyway will create privacy issues for tenants and leaving the gate open will attract anti-
social behaviour/burglaries  

b. Builders have said neighbour will need to stop using their chimney due to insertion of metal 
beams for dormer 

c. Street is crowded and layout is not fit for purpose 
d. Effect on house prices  

 

Page 110



ISSUES AND ASSESSMENT 
 
Principle of development 
The National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 11, states that “Plans and decisions should 

apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development.  For Decision Making, this means:- 

 

c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan without delay; 
or 

d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for 
determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless: i. the application of policies in 
this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for 
refusing the development proposed; or ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as 
a whole.”  Footnote 8 to paragraph 11 confirms that this includes situations where the local authority 
cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites. 

 

The Coventry Local Plan was formally adopted on 6th December 2017.  Since it was adopted, the 
Government introduced the Standard Method, a standardised way of calculating minimum housing 
need.  As  the Local Plan is now more than five years old the Standard Method is now the 
determining factor when considering local housing need.  When using the Standard Method the 
Council is not able to demonstrate a five year housing land supply.  As such, the tilted balance is 
engaged and therefore planning permission should be granted, unless “any adverse impacts of doing 

so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits” when assessed against the policies of 

the NPPF taken as a whole. 

 
Policy H3 states new housing must provide high quality residential environments that include safe 
access with adequate amenity space and parking provisions. Policy H5 states that existing housing 
stock will be renovated and improved in association with enhancement of the surrounding residential 
environment. Policy H9 states that residential development, including conversions, must make the most 
effective and efficient use of land whilst ensuring compatibility with the quality, character and amenity 
of the surrounding area.  
 
The application site is vacant and in need of repair. The proposed conversion to 2 no. 1 bed flats makes 
effective use of the existing dwelling and will bring it back into use. The improvements made to the 
property will enhance the surrounding area.  
 
As such, the proposal accords with Polices H3, H5 and H9 and is acceptable in principle.  
 
Design and visual issues 
 
Section 12 of the NPPF (Dec 2023), specifically paragraph 131 states in part that ‘good design is a key 
aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make 
development acceptable to communities’. This is echoed by Policies DE1 and H5 of the Coventry Local 
Plan 2016 which seeks to ensure that development complements or enhances the character of the 
surrounding area with regard to scale, layout, density, mass, design, materials and architectural 
features.  
 
At the rear, a flat roofed dormer is proposed. It is set down from the ridge of the roof and set in on both 
sides. The dormer will not be viable from the street scene. There are no public views from the rear. The 
nearest property which backs onto the site, Cavendish house on Station Street East, is 28m away. The 
dormer is indicated to be finished with hanging roof tiles to match exiting and would be allowed under Page 111



permitted development rights, but as the application is to create 2 no. flats, permitted development 
rights are not applicable to flats.  
 
The front and rear rooflights would be allowed under permitted development rights were permitted 
development rights applicable to flats. Considered in the context of the street scene, the proposal does 
not create any issues of visual concern.   
 
The front and rear of the dwelling is shown to be finished in cream render. This will match existing at 
the front. Newly rendered elevations will be a welcome improvement to the current state of the property.  
 
Internal reconfiguration, with the main entrance moved to the alleyway at the side, enables both flats 
access to private amenity space. There is 31sqm of private amenity space available for future 
occupiers.  
 
The proposed flats are 41 and 47sqm in size, which is above the National Space standards of 37sqm 
of a one bed, one person dwelling (this stated use has been confirmed by the agent).  Environmental 
Protection have been consulted and raise no objection subject to conditions on boiler installation and 
noise attenuation measures.  
 
The proposal will likely improve the visual amenity of the site and accords with Polices DE1 and H5.   
 
 
Impact on neighbouring amenity 
 
Policy H5 requires new development to be designed and positioned so it does not adversely affect the 
amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring properties. 
 
Two objections have been received from neighbouring properties that the proposed reconfiguration of 
the internal layout with an entrance door moved to the eastern elevation, which is accessed via a 
shared alley, will attract antisocial behaviour/burglars is noted. However, this is an existing shared 
access which can be used by the applicaion property at any time. Potential intensification of use of this  
existing entrance would not be a reason for refusal.  
 
A further objection relates to the apparent request for cessation of use of an existing chimney of an 
adjoining property, to enable the insertion of steels for the proposed dormer. It is noted that this property 
is outside of the scope of the application and the applicant cannot require a neighbour to do this. Such 
issues would need to be addressed via the Party Wall Act. The grant of  planning permission  would 
not constitute permission for such cessation of use.  
 
Considering the change of use and material works proposed, the application is not considered to 
adversely affect the amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring properties. Bringing a derelict property 
back into use accords with Policy H5 and it is considered a property in use is less likely to attract anti-
social behaviour than an empty one.  
 
Highways 
 
Highways have been consulted and raise no objection to the applicaion, subject to a condition for cycle 
parking. The parking requirement for the proposed 2 no. flats remains the same as that required by the 
current 3 bed dwelling.  
 
Therefore, the scheme would provide for a satisfactory level of parking, in accordance with Policies 
AC1 and AC3 of the Local Plan.  
 
 
Equality Implications  
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 created the public sector equality duty. Section 149 states:-  
 

Page 112



(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to:  
a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by 

or under this Act;  
a) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 

and persons who do not share it;  
b) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 

persons who do not share it.  
 
Officers have taken this into account and given due regard to this statutory duty, and the matters 
specified in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 in the determination of this application.  
There are no known equality implications arising directly from this development. 
 
CONCLUSION 
The proposed development is considered to be acceptable in principle and will not result in any 
significant impact upon neighbour amenity, visual amenity or highway safety.  The reason for Coventry 
City Council granting planning permission is because the development is in accordance with: Policies 
DE1, H3, H5, H9, AC1, AC3 and GE3 of the Coventry Local Plan 2017, together with the aims of the 
NPPF.  

 

CONDITIONS / REASON FOR REFUSAL 

1. The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years from the date of this 
decision. 

Reason 
To conform with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 
  

2. 

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans: 

DWG A282-PL14-00-C 
DWG A282-PL14-01-E 
DWG A282-PL14-02-E 

Reason For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning 
  

3. 
No facing materials shall be used on the dormer window extension hereby permitted 
other than materials similar in appearance to those used predominantly in the 
construction of the exterior of the roof of existing building. 

Reason 

To ensure that the proposed development has a satisfactory external appearance in the 
interests of the visual amenities of the area in accordance with Policy DE1 of the 
Coventry Local Plan 2016. 
  

4. 

The two flats hereby permitted shall not be occupied unless and until cycle parking 
facilities have been provided in full accordance with the approved details. Thereafter 
those facilities shall remain available for use at all times and shall not be removed or 
altered in any way. 

Page 113



 

Reason 

In the interests of encouraging the use of alternative modes of transport with the aim of 
creating a more sustainable city in accordance with Policies DS3, AC3 and AC4 of the 
Coventry Local 2016. 
  

5. Any gas boilers installed on site shall have a dry NOx emission rate of no more than 
40mg/kWh.  

Reason 

To mitigate the impacts of development on air quality in accordance with Policy DS3 of 
the Coventry Local Plan 2016 and the aims and objectives of the NPPF. 
  

Page 114



86

63

ELD ROAD

103.6m

74

61

40

51

75

4

19

47

23

1

31
33

38

51

26

62

2

STATION STREET EAST

12

104.5m

13

31a

29

Cavendish

50

House

104.5m

104.9m

26

3
39

41

6 to 10

2

0 10 20  m

14

ELD ROAD

4

23

1

31
33

26

2

12

31a

29

Cavendish

104.5m

3
39

41

6 to 10

2

14

covered
bike shed

bins

12

104.5m

14

covered
bike shed

bins

Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions must be checked and verified before preparing production drawings or commencing works. This drawing
and its design is the copyright of ilyas ArchiTech Ltd and may not be reproduced in any form whatsoever without their prior express written consent.

SITE PLAN...scale 1:500

Application Site

N

W E

S

t  07853 312573
e info@ilyasarchitech.co.uk

ilyasArchiTechLtd
architecture - planning - building regulations - development

P L A N N I N G

Drawing title: Site Location

Drawing Number: 00PL(14)A282

Scale:

Date:

Drawn :

Site Address:

Project:

As Shown@a3

Nov 2023

Si

Conversion to 2no. flats with dormer window

14 Eld Road, Coventry, CV6 5BZ

N o .  1 4  E l d  R o a d

C

Revision

A 29.11.23 planning submission

SITE PLAN...scale 1:1250

PROPOSED SITE PLAN...scale 1:200

100mm80mm60mm40mm20mm0m 10mm

250m200m150m100m50m0mSCALE 1 : 1250
SCALE 1 : 1

100mm80mm60mm40mm20mm0m 10mm

50m40m30m20m10m5m0mSCALE 1 : 500
SCALE 1 : 1

100mm80mm60mm40mm20mm0m 10mm

20m16m12m8m4m2m0mSCALE 1 : 200
SCALE 1 : 1

B 22.03.24 LPA comments
C 03.05.24 LPA comments, note covered bike shed

P
age 115



LOUNGE

DINING

KITCHEN

SH
AR

ED
 R

IG
H

T 
O

F 
W

AY

BED 1

BED 2

BATH

ST

EXISTING
GROUND PLAN

EXISTING
FIRST PLAN

note :
all existing windows to be replaced
to suit current Building Regulations

Area Schedule
ground floor flat
first floor flat (incl loft)

41m²
47m²

Area

Structure to be demolished

100mm Stud Wall

KEY :
Block up to match existing

BATH

PROPOSED
FIRST PLAN

BEDROOM

LOUNGE

PROPOSED
LOFT PLAN

induction hob

KITCHEN

ST

LOUNGE/
KITCHEN

SH
AR

ED
 R

IG
H

T 
O

F 
W

AY

PROPOSED
GROUND PLAN

svp

BEDROOM

replace existing
staircase with
access on new
door entrance side

ST

new
entrance
door

new
window

induction hob

Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions must be checked and verified before preparing production drawings or commencing works. This drawing
and its design is the copyright of ilyas ArchiTech Ltd and may not be reproduced in any form whatsoever without their prior express written consent.

Revision

t  07853 312573
e info@ilyasarchitech.co.uk

ilyasArchiTechLtd
architecture - planning - building regulations - development

P L A N N I N G

Drawing title: Plans

Drawing Number: 01PL(14)A282

Scale:

Date:

Drawn :

Site Address:

Project:

1:100@a3

Jan 2023

Si

Conversion to 2no. flats with dormer window

14 Eld Road, Coventry, CV6 5DD

N o .  1 4  E l d  R o a d

A 21.01.23 client changes

E

B 21.10.23 client changes
C 01.11.23 client changes
D 03.11.23 client changes
E 27.11.23 planning submission

100mm80mm60mm40mm20mm0m 10mm

10m8m6m4m2m1m0mSCALE 1 : 100
SCALE 1 : 1

P
age 116



GFL

GFLGFL

EXISTING SIDE ELEVATION

EXISTING FRONT
ELEVATION

EXISTING REAR
ELEVATION

GFLGFL

PROPOSED FRONT
ELEVATION

PROPOSED REAR
ELEVATION

GFL

PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION

NEW
ENTRANCE
DOOR

NEW
WINDOW

replace existing
window with
obscure window

form new door
and window and
make good wall
to match existing

block up window cill
height to achieve 1.1m
above FFL, make good
finish to match existing

rooflight rooflight

1

2

MATERIALS SCHEDULE :
Render finish, colour Cream

Roof tiles to match existing to form
dormer cheeks

1

2

1 rooflight

increase roof by 150mm
and erect new roof with
min. 15degree pitch

Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions must be checked and verified before preparing production drawings or commencing works. This drawing
and its design is the copyright of ilyas ArchiTech Ltd and may not be reproduced in any form whatsoever without their prior express written consent.

Revision

t  07853 312573
e info@ilyasarchitech.co.uk

ilyasArchiTechLtd
architecture - planning - building regulations - development

P L A N N I N GN o .  1 4  E l d  R o a d

Drawing title: Elevations

Drawing Number: 02PL(14)A282

Scale:

Date:

Drawn :

Site Address:

Project:

1:100@a3

Jan 2023

Si

Conversion to 2no. flats with dormer window

14 Eld Road, Coventry, CV6 5DD

A 21.01.23 client changes

E

B 21.10.23 client changes
C 01.11.23 client changes
D 03.11.23 client changes
E 27.11.23 planning submission

100mm80mm60mm40mm20mm0m 10mm

10m8m6m4m2m1m0mSCALE 1 : 100
SCALE 1 : 1

P
age 117



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report 
Planning Ref:  PL/2024/0000191/FUL 
Site:  16 Middlecotes 
Ward: Westwood 
Proposal: Change of use from C3 to C4 HMO. 4 Bed, 4 person HMO 
Case Officer: Grace Goodman 

 
SUMMARY 
The application proposes to change the use of a 3-bed dwellinghouse (Use class C3) 
to a 4-bed House in Multiple Occupation (Use class C4).  
 
BACKGROUND 
The application has been recommended for approval. The application has received 6 
public representations objecting to the proposal. The application was requested to go 
to committee by a Ward Councillor. 
 
KEY FACTS 
Reason for report to 
committee: 

Request of councillor  
 

Current use of site: Residential dwelling  
Proposed use of site: House in multiple occupation 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
Planning Committee are recommended to approve planning permission subject to 
conditions. 
 
REASON FOR DECISION 

1 The proposal is acceptable in principle.  
2 The proposal will not adversely impact upon the amenity of neighbours. 
3 The proposal will have an appropriate visual appearance and layout 
4 The proposal accords with Policies DE1, DS3, H5, H11 and AC3 of the 

Coventry Local Plan 2016, together with the aims of the NPPF. 

  

Page 119

Agenda Item 12



 
SITE DESCRIPTION 
The application site relates to a mid-terraced dwelling which lies to the south of Tile 
Hill Lane. The site benefits from rear amenity space. There is a reliance on on-street 
car parking on Middlecotes, with some properties using amenity space to the front of 
the house for parking, however the majority do not. It was noted during the time of the 
case officer's visit to the site that there were a number of spaces available.  
 
APPLICATION PROPOSAL 
The application seeks consent for the change of use of the existing dwelling house 
(C3) to a House in Multiple Occupation (C4). 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
No planning history. 
 
POLICY 
National Policy Guidance 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) December 2023. The NPPF sets out the 
Government’s planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. 
It sets out the Government’s requirements for the planning system only to the extent 
that is relevant, proportionate and necessary to do so.  The NPPF increases the focus 
on achieving high quality design and states that it is “fundamental to what the planning 
and development process should achieve”. 
 
The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), adds further context to the NPPF, 
and it is intended that the two documents are read together. 
 
Local Policy Guidance 
As required by Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, the 
proposed development must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
 
The Statutory Development Plan for the area relevant to this application site comprises 
of the Coventry City Council Local Plan 2016. Relevant policies are outlined below.  
 
Policy DE1 Ensuring High Quality Design; 
Policy DS3: Sustainable Development;  
Policy H5: Managing Existing Housing Stock; 
Policy H11: Homes in Multiple Occupation; 
Policy AC3: Demand Management 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance/ Documents (SPG/ SPD): 
Homes in Multiple Occupation (HMO) Development Plan Document (DPD) (Draft) 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
Statutory 
There are no statutory consultees 
 
Non-statutory Consultees 

Page 120



Highways: No objection subject to conditions 
Environmental Protection: No objection  
 
Neighbour consultation 
Notification letters were sent out to adjoining neighbouring houses and a site notice 
was displayed.  Six letters of objection have been received raising the following 
material planning considerations: 

a) Increase in anti-social behaviour 
b) Does not fit in with the residential character of the street 
c) Exacerbation of parking and traffic issues 

ISSUES AND ASSESSMENT 

Principle of development 

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF sets out the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development, Policy DS3 of the adopted Local Plan is consistent with the NPPF in 
this regard. The development as proposed seeks consent for the change of use of 
the existing dwelling house to a four bedroom House in Multiple Occupation (HMO). 
It should be noted that the dwelling is in an area where an article 4 direction is 
implemented to remove permitted development rights from dwellings in order to 
manage the provision of HMO's across the city.  

Policy H11 allows for the provision of HMO’s where: a. the amenities of occupiers of 
nearby properties (including the provision of suitable parking provisions); b. the 
appearance or character of an area; c. local services; and d. The amenity value and 
living standards of future occupants of the property, having specific regard to internal 
space and garden/amenity space. The proposal is also considered to comply with 
policy H11 of the Coventry Local Plan 2016 subject to the assessment and 
consideration of the impact of the design, living conditions of the occupiers, 
neighbour amenity, highways and parking, as set out below. 

The emerging HMO DPD sets out further policies to assess any proposed change of 
use from C3 to C4. 16 Middlecotes is located a short 2-minute walking distance from 
bus stops on Tile Hill Lane as well as local shops and amenities. The site is located 
within 10 minute walking distance of a Dental Practice and Medical Centre. The 
application site is considered to be in a sustainable location with good accessibility to 
local amenities and public transport, in accordance with policy HMO1 of the Homes 
in Multiple Occupation DPD 2023. 

Policy HMO2 of the Homes in Multiple Occupation DPD 2023 states that, "Where 
there is an existing HMO concentration of 10% or more of all dwellings within 100 
metres radius of the centre point of the application property, HMO applications will 
not be supported." Policy HMO3 of the Homes in Multiple Occupation DPD 2023 
states that "proposals for the provision of HMOs must not result in a non-HMO 
dwelling being sandwiched between two HMOs and must not lead to a continuous 
frontage of three or more HMOs." 

The concentration of HMO's is very low, with only 2 other HMO’s in a 100m radius. 
The site, No. 16 Middlecotes is located a fair distance away from both of these 

Page 121



HMO's with one other on Middlecotes and one on Westcotes, as such it is 
considered to result comply with Policy HM02 and HMO3 of the Homes in Multiple 
Occupation DPD. The Development Plan Document (DPD) aims to ensure that such 
development preserves the residential amenity and character of an area, and that 
any potential harmful concentrations do not arise.  

Neighbour Amenity 

Policies DE1 and H5 seek to ensure that developments are designed to minimise 
any detrimental impact to the amenity of neighbouring occupiers, or indeed future 
occupiers of the site. There is also deemed to be ample storage for refuse bins and 
cycle storage within the curtilage of the site and a shared garden to the rear which, 
all of which would ensure future residents have a satisfactory residential 
environment. 

The use of the dwelling as a 4 bed HMO is unlikely to result in any increase in 
occupancy above that which would be expected in a family dwelling as it is only an 
increase in one bedroom and as such would not cause any significant increase in 
comings and goings and associated noise or disturbance which could cause harm to 
neighbouring occupiers. Given the small scale of the proposed HMO in a locality 
where there are few other such uses, the proposal is not considered to cause any 
significant harm to neighbouring occupiers. 

Highways 

Policy AC2 of the adopted Local Plan requires development proposals to not have a 
detrimental impact upon the road network, and where any impact is identified, 
suitable and proportionate mitigation should be sought within any planning approval. 
Policy AC3 requires development proposals to meet the council's adopted parking 
standards for cars and bicycles as set out in Appendix 5 of the Coventry Connected 
SPD. Policy AC4 supports the provision of enhancements to cycle and pedestrian 
infrastructure. 

In this case the development seeks consent for the change of use from a dwelling 
house to a four bed HMO. The modest scale of development does not give rise to a 
likely impact on the existing road network. There is an increase in the parking 
requirement by 1 space. Currently a 3-Bed dwelling house would require 2 allocated 
parking spaces. For the proposed use 0.75 spaces are required per bedroom, there 
is a requirement therefore of 3 spaces in total. There is considered to be no parking 
associated with the dwelling for these purposes, with the proposal increasing parking 
demand by 1 space. A parking survey has been submitted with the application 
demonstrating that 26% of the spaces within 200m of the site were available at any 
one time. As such it is considered that any increase in demand for car parking 
associated with the proposed change of use can be accommodated on street. 
Highways have not objected to the application, subject to cycle storage provision. 
The location of the site is deemed to be sustainable with easy access on foot to the 
local centre and bus routes towards to the city centre. A condition has duly been 
appended to the decision to ensure provision of cycle storage. 

Equality implications: 

Page 122



Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 created the public sector equality duty. Section 
149 states: -  
 
(1) A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need 
to:  
a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act;  
b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it;  
c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it.  
 
Officers have taken this into account and given due regard to this statutory duty, and 
the matters specified in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 in the determination of 
this application.  
 
There are no known equality implications arising directly from this development. 
 
 
CONCLUSION 
The proposed development is considered to be acceptable in principle and will not 
result in any significant impact upon neighbour amenity, visual amenity or highway 
safety.  The reason for Coventry City Council granting planning permission is because 
the development is in accordance with: Policies DE1, DS3, H5, H11 and AC3 of the 
Coventry Local Plan 2017, together with the aims of the NPPF.  
 

CONDITIONS / REASON FOR REFUSAL 

1. The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years 
from the date of this decision. 

Reason 
To conform with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(as amended) 
  

2. 

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans:  

Block Plan 
Location Plan 
Proposed Floor Plan 
Existing Floor Plan 

Reason For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
  

Page 123



  

  

 

3. The development hereby permitted shall be occupied by no more than 4 
permanent residents at any time.  

Reason 

To ensure that the development is not used in an over-intensive manner, 
prejudicial to or likely to cause nuisance to occupiers of nearby 
properties in accordance with Policies DE1, H3 and H5 of the Coventry 
Local Plan 2016. 
  

4. 

Prior to occupation of the property as a HMO hereby permitted, details of 
cycle parking facilities shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The cycle parking facilities shall be 
provided in full accordance with the approved details prior to first 
occupation of the building and thereafter those facilities shall remain 
available for use at all times and shall not be removed or altered in any 
way. 

Reason 

In the interests of encouraging the use of alternative modes of transport 
with the aim of creating a more sustainable city in accordance with 
Policies DS3, AC3 and AC4 of the Coventry Local 2016. 
  

Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Meeting held on 28 March 2024
	6 Application PL/2024/0000060/FUL - 37 Daventry Road
	SUMMARY
	BACKGROUND
	KEY FACTS
	RECOMMENDATION
	APPLICATION PROPOSAL
	PLANNING HISTORY
	POLICY
	National Policy Guidance
	Local Policy Guidance
	Supplementary Planning Guidance/ Documents (SPG/ SPD):
	Householder Design Guide SPD
	CONSULTATION
	Statutory
	There are no statutory consultees
	Non-statutory
	Neighbour consultation

	ISSUES AND ASSESSMENT
	The main issues in determining this application are principle of development, impact on residential amenity and highway considerations.
	PL 2024 0000060 FUL - 37 Daventry Road plans
	A.02 VD24675   37 Daventry Road Coventry
	A-01-VD24675-37-Daventry-Road-Coventry-3 (3).pdf
	A.01  VD24675   37 Daventry Road Coventry



	7 Application PL/2023/0001155/OUTM - Hall Hill Cottage, Fivefield Road
	PL 2023 0001155 OUTM - Hall Hill Cottage, Fivefield Road plans
	Sheets and Views
	PL002

	AAC5671-RPS-xx-xx-DR-C-601-P03 Section 278 General Arrangement Plan.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	AAC5671-RPS-xx-xx-DR-C-601-P03 Section 278 General Arrangement Plan


	DRAWING - Location Plan - Drawing No.PL001.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	PL002


	Parameters Plan - Drawing No.PL005.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	PL005




	8 Application PL/2023/0002525/FUL - 60 Princess Street
	SUMMARY
	KEY FACTS
	RECOMMENDATION
	SITE DESCRIPTION
	The application site is a two-storey mid terrace property located in a residential area in Foleshill. The main amenity space is to the rear of the property with a boundary fence surrounding the site.
	APPLICATION PROPOSAL
	PLANNING HISTORY
	POLICY
	National Policy Guidance
	Local Policy Guidance
	Supplementary Planning Guidance/ Documents (SPG/ SPD):
	CONSULTATION
	APPRAISAL
	Principle of development
	Impact on visual amenity
	Impact on residential amenity
	Highway considerations
	Ecology
	Conclusion
	PL 2023 0002525 FUL - 60 Princess Street plans

	9 Application PL/2023/0002524/FUL - 88 Station Street West
	SUMMARY
	KEY FACTS
	RECOMMENDATION
	SITE DESCRIPTION
	APPLICATION PROPOSAL
	PLANNING HISTORY
	POLICY
	National Policy Guidance
	Local Policy Guidance
	Supplementary Planning Guidance/ Documents (SPG/ SPD):
	CONSULTATION
	PL 2023 0002524 FUL - 88 Station Street West plans

	10 Application PL/2023/0002522/FUL - 12 St Elizabeths Road
	SUMMARY
	KEY FACTS
	RECOMMENDATION
	SITE DESCRIPTION
	The application site is a two-storey mid terrace property located in a residential area in Foleshill. The main amenity space is to the rear of the property with a boundary fence surrounding the site.
	APPLICATION PROPOSAL
	PLANNING HISTORY
	POLICY
	National Policy Guidance
	Local Policy Guidance
	Supplementary Planning Guidance/ Documents (SPG/ SPD):
	CONSULTATION
	APPRAISAL
	Principle of development
	Impact on visual amenity
	Impact on residential amenity
	Highway considerations
	Ecology
	Conclusion
	PL 2023 0002522 FUL - 12 St Elizabeths Road plans

	11 Application PL/2023/0002521/FUL - 14 Eld Road
	SUMMARY
	KEY FACTS
	RECOMMENDATION
	National Policy Guidance
	PL 2023 0002521 FUL - 14 Eld Road plans

	12 Application PL/2024/0000191/FUL - 16 Middlecotes
	PL 2023 0000191 FUL - 16 Middlecotes plans


